

THE UNIVERSITY of EDINBURGH

This thesis has been submitted in fulfilment of the requirements for a postgraduate degree (e.g. PhD, MPhil, DClinPsychol) at the University of Edinburgh. Please note the following terms and conditions of use:

- This work is protected by copyright and other intellectual property rights, which are retained by the thesis author, unless otherwise stated.
- A copy can be downloaded for personal non-commercial research or study, without prior permission or charge.
- This thesis cannot be reproduced or quoted extensively from without first obtaining permission in writing from the author.
- The content must not be changed in any way or sold commercially in any format or medium without the formal permission of the author.
- When referring to this work, full bibliographic details including the author, title, awarding institution and date of the thesis must be given.

Impacts of land use change to short rotation forestry for bioenergy on soil greenhouse gas emissions and soil carbon

Kim Parmar



Thesis submitted to the University of Edinburgh for the degree of:

Doctor of Philosophy

School of Geosciences

2015

Declaration

I declare that this thesis has been composed by myself. It has not been accepted in any previous application for degree, the work of which has been done by myself and sources of information specifically are acknowledged.

Name:

Date: 02/09/2015

Acknowledgements

Firstly, I would like to thank my supervisors, Dr Niall McNamara, Dr Saran Sohi and Dr Aidan Keith for all the help and support they have given me over the course of my PhD. I would especially like to thank Aidan, from whom I have learnt a great deal and who has been so readily available and patient when I needed help and advice.

I would like to thank the staff at Lancaster CEH who have been so friendly and helpful throughout my PhD. I am particularly grateful to Prof. Richard Shore, and my work colleagues Aimee Walker and Gaynor Greenwood, who have been so encouraging, supportive and understanding during my final year, without you it would have all been so much more difficult. Thanks to my friends at CEH, some of whom have since moved on; Emily, Sean, Mike, Harriett, Jeanette, Elaine, Rebecca, Kelly, Daf, both Jess's, both Andy's, Danny, Simon, Arlete, Caio, Ben, Alona, and especially Rachel; for the laughter, the friendship and the fieldwork help, you all contributed to making it happen.

I would like to extend my gratitude to Dr Lynn Besenyei at the University of Wolverhampton for her endless support throughout my undergraduate degree, and for encouraging me to apply for a PhD in the first place.

Getting to this stage would not have been possible without the continued love, support and belief from my wonderful mother, Bridget Savage, to whom I will always be grateful, for this and for so much more. This thesis is in part for you Mam, as it is for me.

I would like to thank my fiancé, Andrew Fitton, for all his love, support and encouragement throughout the last three years. I would like to thank him for the help with fieldwork & lab work, for the amazing cycling holidays, and for his patience during the write-up stage.

Last, but by no means least, thank you to my gorgeous springer spaniel "Silla", for the comfort, companionship, distraction and mostly for accompanying me on this journey. You are my little star!

Abstract

Short Rotation Forestry (SRF) for bioenergy could be used to meet biomass requirements and contribute to achieving renewable energy targets. As an important source of biomass it is important to gain an understanding of the implications of large-scale application of SRF on the soil-atmosphere greenhouse gas (GHG) exchange. This study examined the effects of land use change (LUC) from grassland to SRF on soil fluxes of methane (CH₄), nitrous oxide (N₂O) and carbon dioxide (CO₂), and the important drivers in action.

Examining soils from a range of sites across the UK, CO₂ emission potentials were reduced under SRF with differences between coniferous and broadleaved transitions; these changes were found to be related to changes in soil pH and microbial biomass. However, there were limited effects of SRF tree species type on CH₄ and N₂O fluxes. A detailed study at an experimental SRF site over 16 months demonstrated a reduction in CH₄ and net CO₂ emissions from soils under SRF and revealed intriguing temporal dynamics of N₂O under Sitka spruce and common alder. A significant proportion of the variation in soil N2O fluxes was attributed to differences between tree species, water table depth, spatial effects, and their interactions. The effects of microtopography (ridges, troughs, flats), and its interactions with water table depth on soil GHG fluxes under different tree species was tested using mesocosm cores collected in the field. Microtopography did not significantly affect soil GHG fluxes but trends suggested that considering this spatial factor in sampling regimes could be important. N2O fluxes from Sitka spruce soils did not respond to water table depth manipulation in the laboratory suggesting that they may also be determined by treedriven nitrogen (N) availability, with other research showing N deposition to be higher in coniferous plantations. An N addition experiment lead to increased N2O emissions with greatest relative response in the Sitka spruce soils.

Overall, LUC from rough grassland to SRF resulted in a reduction in soil CH₄ emissions, increased N₂O emissions and a reduction or no change in net CO₂ emissions. These changes in emissions were influenced both directly and indirectly

by tree species type with Sitka spruce having the greatest effect on N₂O in particular, thus highlighting the importance of considering soil N₂O emissions in any life cycle analysis or GHG budgets of LUC to SRF for bioenergy. This research can help inform decisions around SRF tree species selection in future large-scale bioenergy planting.

Table of contents

| 1 Intro | oduction and research aims | 1 |
|---------------|-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------|----------------|
| 1.1 | Bioenergy and policy | 1 |
| 1.2 | Bioenergy and land use change | 3 |
| 1.3 | Soil-atmosphere greenhouse gas exchange | 8 |
| 1.4 | Short rotation forestry for bioenergy | 13 |
| 1.5 | Research aims and experimental approach | 17 |
| 2 Bioe und | energy driven land use change impacts on soil greenhouse gas reg ler Short Rotation Forestry | ;ulation 19 |
| 2.1 | Abstract | 20 |
| 2.2 | Introduction | 21 |
| 2.3 | Materials and methods | 23 |
| 2.4 | Results | 29 |
| 2.5 | Discussion | |
| 2.6 | Conclusions | 41 |
| 3 Diff | erential effects of tree species considered for SRF on soil GHG fluxe | s 42 |
| 3.1 | Abstract | 43 |
| 3.2 | Introduction | 45 |
| 3.3 | Materials and methods | 49 |
| 3.4 | Results | 57 |
| 3.5 | Discussion | 68 |
| 3.6 | Conclusions | 76 |
| 4 Effe | ects of tree species, water table and microtopography on soil GHG flu | 1xes 77 |
| 4.1 | Abstract | |
| 4.2 | Introduction | 79 |
| 4.3 | Materials and methods | 83 |
| 4.4 | Results | 87 |
| 4.5 | Discussion | 99 |
| 4.5 | Conclusions | 108 |

| 5 Discu | ssion and conclusions | 109 |
|---------|------------------------------------------|-----|
| 5.1 | Land use change and SRF | 110 |
| 5.2 | Sources of variation in field GHG fluxes | 115 |
| 5.3 | Limitations and future study | 120 |
| 6 Refer | ences | 123 |
| 7 Appe | ndix | 154 |
| 7.1 | PLFA extraction and analysis (Chapter 2) | 154 |
| 7.2 | Rainfall lags and N2O fluxes (Chapter 3) | 156 |
| 7.3 | CO2 efflux data (Chapter 4) | 157 |
| 7.4 | CH4 flux data (Chapter 4) | 158 |
| 7.5 | N2O efflux data (Chapter 4) | 159 |

Abbreviations

- BD bulk density
- C carbon
- CH₄ methane
- CO₂ carbon dioxide
- CO_{2eq.} carbon dioxide equivalent
- ECD electron capture detector
- FID flame ionisation detector
- GC gas chromatograph
- GHG greenhouse gas
- GMC gravimetric moisture content
- GWP global warming potential
- N nitrogen
- N₂O nitrous oxide
- NH_{4^+} ammonium
- NO3⁻ nitrate
- PPM parts per million
- PPB parts per billion
- SOC soil organic carbon
- SOL soil organic layer
- SOM soil organic matter
- SRC short rotation coppice
- SRF short rotation forestry
- WHC water holding capacity
- WFPS water-filled pore space

Chapter 1. Introduction and research aims

The global rise in temperature over the last century has been driven by increasing concentrations of atmospheric greenhouse gases (GHGs) such as carbon dioxide (CO₂), methane (CH₄) and nitrous oxide (N₂O), among others. Anthropogenic activities such as fossil fuel combustion and land use change (LUC) have been the main contributors to these rising GHG concentrations (IPCC, 2007). Global warming is set to continue through the 21st century, with predicted increases in temperature of more than 2 °C combined with a more frequent occurrence of extreme weather events, which will greatly affect ecosystem functioning if urgent action is not taken (IPCC, 2014). Climate stabilisation can be best achieved by reducing GHG emissions through the replacement of fossil fuels with renewable energy sources and by enhancing sequestration by maximising uptake of GHGs in the biosphere (Schulze et al., 2009; Ter-Mikaelian et al., 2015).

Bioenergy is part of a suite of renewable energy sources under consideration as an alternative to fossil fuels with potential for GHG mitigation (Field et al., 2007; Don et al., 2012; Timilsina & Shrestha, 2011). Short rotation forestry (SRF) is one of the bioenergy crops currently being considered due to its high biomass yield capability, and its potential for GHG uptake and carbon (C) storage (Mckay, 2011). However, knowledge is currently limited regarding its large-scale potential and sustainability (Harris et al., 2015). This study focuses on the effects of LUC from grassland to various SRF species on soil GHG emissions and soil C.

1.1 Bioenergy and policy

Bioenergy is the production and use of energy or fuels from biomass feedstocks on a renewable basis. It is one of the most versatile forms of low C and renewable energy, with the potential to contribute to the generation of energy for electricity, heat and transport (Don et al., 2011; DECC, 2012). Bioenergy includes first and second generation biofuels for transport (bioethanol and biodiesel), gaseous fuels (e.g. Methane (CH₄) captured from landfills) as an alternative to natural gas, and solid

biomass fuels such as firewood and biomass pellets for heating and electricity generation (Field et al., 2007; Whitaker et al., 2010; Don et al., 2011). First-generation bioenergy is produced from food crops, while second-generation bioenergy is derived from cellulosic, typically woody materials (Bartle & Abadi, 2010). Bioenergy provides approximately 10% of the global renewable energy supply and accounts for about 80 % of the total renewable energy contribution (IEA, 2011). Some estimates suggest that 15-25 % of the world's global energy demands by 2050 could be met through biomass production (Beringer et al., 2011), but this depends on land availability and sustainable yields (Smith et al., 2010). The European Union has committed to increase the proportion of renewable energy from 9% in 2010 to 20% of total energy consumption by 2020 (EU, 2009) and currently bioenergy contributes approximately two-thirds of total renewable energy in Europe (IEA, 2011). As set out in the 2011 UK Renewable Energy Roadmap, bioenergy is an important part of the Government's plans to meet the Renewable Energy Directive objectives in 2020 (target of 15% renewable energy by 2020). Bioenergy also has a role to play if the UK is to meet its low carbon objectives by 2050, which is a reduction in GHG emissions by at least 80% below 1990 levels (DECC, 2011). Only 3% of primary energy in the UK, however, is currently produced from bioenergy feedstocks (DECC, 2012). This is expected to increase in response to growing pressures for the decarbonisation of energy supply and as a result of technical advances in the use of lignocellulosic biomass for the production of liquid or gaseous fuels as well as for combustion for heat and power (Chum et al., 2012).

The cost effectiveness of bioenergy (biomass) compared with other renewable energy technologies (Timmons et al., 2015) makes it an attractive option for contributing towards the delivery of renewable energy targets. Despite this, there are a number of concerns associated with biomass production and its sustainability: its C and GHG reduction potential, regarding land availability of bioenergy production and the consequences for food production, and the potential environmental impacts on air quality, biodiversity and water resources (Cowie et al., 2006; Rowe et al., 2009;

Whitaker et al., 2010; Don et al., 2011; Osborne & Jones, 2012). The original rationale for supporting bioenergy relied largely on the assumption that it could deliver genuine GHG emissions savings based on the principal that there is a negative balance between the C emitted during combustion and that fixed during photosynthesis. This was an oversimplification and it is now recognised that the production of biomass energy is not C neutral due to GHG emissions released during establishment and ground preparation, crop growth, land management, harvesting, processing and transportation (Field et al., 2007; Searchinger et al., 2009; Don et al., 2011; Haberl et al., 2012). In addition, there may also be significant consequences of land use change (LUC) to bioenergy crops on soil C and GHG emissions (Fargione et al., 2008; Searchinger et al., 2008; Keith et al., 2015; Parmar et al., 2015). These previously neglected GHG emissions could potentially offset any C savings via reduced fossil fuel use and could increase the risk of bioenergy crops becoming C positive (Don et al., 2011; Zenone et al., 2015). Despite this, research and modelling work to date, albeit limited, suggests that bioenergy has the potential to mitigate GHG emissions and increase soil C storage (Hastings et al., 2009; Rowe et al., 2009; Dondini et al., 2014; Keith et al., 2015). However, in a meta-analysis carried out by Harris et al. (2015) it was identified that this potential for C saving and GHG mitigation is dependent on the original land use and the bioenergy crop being planted.

1.2 Bioenergy and land use change

Land use change (LUC) is second only to fossil fuel combustion as a source of global GHG emissions (IPCC, 2007). Djomo and Ceulemans (2012) define LUC as "changes in the areal extent of a particular land use over a given time period and within a given spatial entity". From 1850-1998 approximately 270 Gt of C was emitted to the atmosphere as CO₂ from fossil fuel combustion, and approximately 136 Gt as a result of LUC, with most of this coming from deforestation (Watson et al., 2000).

Land use patterns have changed through time as a result of human needs, affected by advances in technology, government objectives and targets, environmental issues, and economic change (Rounsevell & Reay, 2009). Now, in order to help meet

international and European renewable energy and GHG emissions reduction targets, a significant amount of land may be converted to bioenergy production (DECC, 2011, Zona et al., 2013; Harris et al., 2015). The demand for land for biomass energy production augments the existing demands of agriculture and forestry which are already under pressure due to rising demands for food, goods and recreation from a growing population (Timilsina & Shrestha, 2011). Competition for land between energy crops and food should be minimal with second generation bioenergy crops, since they are generally established on abandoned agricultural land or marginal land (Dondini et al., 2014). In most cases soil C in this land is already substantially depleted, compared to its starting state, (>30%) as a result of cultivation or erosion (Grigal & Berguson, 1998). Recent estimates indicated that 35,000 km² of land could potentially be made available for perennial energy crops in the UK without impacting on high quality agricultural land used for food production (Lovett et al., 2014). If this was achieved then up to 66% of the UK's heat and 62% of electricity demands could be met (Wang et al., 2014a). Therefore, if considerable LUC takes place as a consequence of wide-scale bioenergy production, it is important to quantify the direct effects that this will have on the GHG balance and soil C stocks.

Changes in land use greatly affect the cycling and storage of C and soil-atmosphere GHG exchange in ecosystems (Guo and Gifford, 2002; Rounsevell & Reay, 2009; Neumann-Cosel et al., 2011), and the magnitude of change in C storage depends on how physical, chemical and biological processes are altered over time under different land uses and management scenarios (Watson et al., 2000). Over recent years there has been an on-going debate about the C and GHG balance associated with bioenergy crop production and the direct and indirect effects of LUC (Harris et al., 2015). The direct effects are dependent on the transition type (i.e. the original land use and the type of bioenergy crop planned), due to differences in initial C stocks, crop related inputs and nutrient turnover, fertiliser requirement, ground preparation, management and harvesting regime, amongst others. For example, a recent meta-analysis of 138 studies by Harris et al. (2015) found that the transition from arable

land use to short rotation coppice (SRC) or perennial grasses resulted in an increase in soil organic carbon (SOC), transition from grassland to SRC left SOC unchanged, and transitions from grassland to perennial grasses and forest to SRC both resulted in a reduction in SOC. Harris et al. (2015) found insufficient data to carry out a full meta-analysis for GHGs and highlighted the significant knowledge gap existing for the effects of LUC to bioenergy on soil-atmosphere GHG exchange. A further multisite study by Keith et al. (2015), examining the effects of LUC from agriculture (mostly grasslands) to different SRF species types on soil C, found that planting coniferous SRF species resulted in increased C stock compared to broadleaved species, which had no effect, while Eucalyptus species reduced soil C. Keith et al. (2015) also flag the need for bioenergy LUC effects on soil GHGs to be quantified, so that changes in soil C can be considered together with changes in soil-atmosphere GHG exchange in order to better predict the impacts of different transitions overall. It is also important to consider initial soil C stocks and crop rotation length when attempting to quantify LUC impacts. Land uses with high initial SOC such as grasslands on organic soils could be more susceptible to the effects of LUC to bioenergy crops (Poeplau et al., 2011) as conversion could deplete soil C quite rapidly (Don et al., 2011) while it can take years to recover (Poeplau et al., 2011).

Based on existing research, in the UK there are a number of potential LUC transitions scenarios to first and second generation bioenergy crops from grassland, arable and forestry land uses, and these are summarised in Table 1. Some transitions are more likely than others; for example, LUC from forestry to non-forest bioenergy crops is unlikely, and transitions to first generation crops are being increasingly challenged on sustainability grounds (Hill, 2007; Gomez et al., 2008). It has been suggested that first generation crops are unlikely to have a role in UK bioenergy supply post 2020 due to developments in the production of second generation bioenergy crops for transport fuels (Heaton et al., 2008; Rowe et al., 2009). Hence, it is important to focus current and future research on transitions that are most likely such as from grassland or arable land to SRF, where greater uncertainties lie due to their novelty.

A number of non-bioenergy related meta-analyses on LUC and soil C have been published in the last decade on particular land use transitions, for example, from forest to agricultural land use (Murty et al., 2002), afforestation of agricultural land (Paul et al., 2002; Laganière et al., 2010), and across a range of transitions (Guo and Gifford, 2002). The meta-analysis by Guo and Gifford (2002) looked at the effects of LUC on soil C using 74 primary studies from across 16 countries. Increases in soil C were shown for LUC from forest to pasture (+8%), crop to pasture (+19%), crop to plantation forest (+18%) and crop to secondary forest (+53%), while decreases were shown for pasture to crop (-59%), forest to crop (-42%), forest to plantation (-13%), and pasture to plantation (-10%) (Guo & Gifford, 2002). These findings highlight the importance of previous land use on observed changes in soil C, with the greatest potential for soil C gains deriving from changing from crops to forestry (Laganière et al., 2010). Furthermore, tree species type appears to have an effect on soil C content; Guo and Gifford (2002) found that broadleaf plantations had little effect on soil C change while conifers such as pine reduced soil C by up to 12%. A later study by Laganière et al. (2010) found broadleaved plantations to have a positive effect on soil C following transition from agricultural land to forestry compared to pine and *Eucalyptus* species. Therefore, it is not only important to consider the original land use and the transitional land use in general terms, but also to consider the effects that LUC to and from individual species may have on soil C and GHG emissions.

Table 1.1 Summary table of possible bioenergy land use transition in the UK, the likelihood of certain transitions both currently and in the future and our knowledge of the possible effects on soil properties. Likelihood refers to the likelihood of a given transition to bioenergy happening now. Arrows under future likelihood simply indicate direction of change, not the magnitude of direction (Anderson-Texeira et al., 2006; Dawson and Smith 2007; Gomez et al., 2008; Guo and Gifford, 2002; Heaton et al. 2008; Hill 2007; Post and Kwon 2000; RFA, 2008; Rowe et al., 2009).

| Bioenergy crop | | Original land use | | | | | | | | |
|-------------------------|------------------|-------------------|----------------------|-----------|------------|----------------------|-----------|------------|----------------------|-----------|
| | | Grass | | | Arable | | | Forest | | |
| | | Likelihood | Future Likelihood | Knowledge | Likelihood | Future Likelihood | Knowledge | Likelihood | Future Likelihood | Knowledge |
| 1 st gen. | Sugar Beet | Med | Ļ | Good | V. High | Ļ | Good | Low | Ļ | Good |
| | Wheat | Med | Ļ | Good | V. High | Ļ | Good | Low | Ļ | Good |
| | Oil Seed Rape | Med | Ļ | Good | V. High | Ļ | Good | Low | Ļ | Good |
| 2 nd gen. | Miscanthus | Med | Ŷ | Poor | High | Ŷ | Poor | Low | Ŷ | Poor |
| | SRC | Med | Ŷ | Poor | High | Ŷ | Poor | Low | Ť | Poor |
| | SRF | Med | Ŷ | Poor | High | Ŷ | Poor | Low | Ť | Poor |

The effects of LUC to bioenergy on soil C and GHG exchange may be dependent on the environmental context (Hastings et al., 2009; Hillier et al., 2009). Laganière et al. (2010) showed that climatic zone had a significant effect on change in SOC following afforestation of agricultural land, with the greatest increase found under a temperate maritime climate, such as that in the UK. However, climatic differences at a smaller regional scale could impact bioenergy crop yields and the soil environment (Aylott et al., 2010). Soil type could also modify the impact of LUC to bioenergy on soil C and GHG emissions. Laganière et al. (2010) showed that there is a greater increase in SOC following afforestation of agricultural land in soils with a high clay content and with a high pH. Paul et al. (2002) also noted the clay content of soil can influence changes in soil C following afforestation. Identifying scenarios (e.g., particular combinations of climate, soil type and crop) where changes in soil C are positive and soil GHG emissions are reduced is of great importance.

1.3 Soil-atmosphere greenhouse gas exchange

1.3.1 Soil greenhouse gases

Greenhouse gases exist naturally in the atmosphere absorbing and emitting radiation within the thermal infrared range, and without them the earth would be too cold for human habitation (IPCC, 2007). However, since pre-industrial times atmospheric concentrations of the three primary GHGs (CO₂, CH₄ and N₂O) have risen dramatically from 280 ppm to 391 ppm, from 715 ppb to 1803 ppb and from 270 ppb to 324 ppb in 2011, respectively (IPCC, 2013). This increase has been attributed to anthropogenic activities such as fossil fuel burning, land use change and intensified agriculture, resulting in the net effect of global warming through increased radiative forcing (IPCC, 2014). These GHGs are long lived in the atmosphere and have assigned global warming potentials (GWP's) based on their radiative forcing, mean lifetime and emissions. Although, CH₄ and N₂O are termed trace gases, due to their relative low concentrations compared to CO₂, their GWP on a molar mass basis over 100 years are 298 and 34 times greater than a unit of CO₂, respectively (IPCC, 2013). Soils are

important sources and sinks for these three major radiative forcing GHGs (Smith et al., 2007).

1.3.1.1 Soil carbon and respiration

Globally soils contain approximately 2500 Gt C (Lal, 2004), almost as much C as that of the atmosphere and terrestrial vegetation combined (Schimel, 1995). The distribution of this C varies with depth in the soil profile, with higher concentrations in the top one metre (Batjes, 1996). The amount of C in any soil depends on the type of ecosystem, the land use (current and historical) and the management scenario (Jobbágy and Jackson 2000). Carbon accumulation in soil represents the long-term net balance of photosynthesis and total respiration in terrestrial ecosystems (Schlesinger, 1990).

CO2 is removed from the atmosphere by plants during photosynthesis and approximately half is assimilated into the plant biomass where it is then allocated to leaves, stems, roots, branches and seeds (Raich & Schlesinger, 1992; Morison et al., 2012). The remainder is released again to the atmosphere via a variety of processes termed collectively as ecosystem respiration (Trumbore, 2006). Ecosystem respiration is a product of both autotrophic respiration (i.e. that derived from living plant leaves stems and roots), and heterotrophic respiration which is as a result of the decomposition of non-living SOM and soil surface litter by soil organisms (Trumbore, 2006). The difference between photosynthesis and ecosystem respiration is termed net ecosystem exchange (NEE) (Luo & Zhou, 2006). Soil respiration is the second largest global C flux after photosynthesis, estimated annually at around 80 Gt C (Raich & Potter, 1995) which is almost 10 times the annual amount of C emitted by burning fossil fuels (Marland et al., 2008), making it a key component of the global C balance (Raich et al., 2002). Heterotrophic respiration is most responsive to variables that control microbial activity such as temperature, soil moisture, nutrient availability and the quantity and quality of substrate available for decomposition (Hartley & Ineson, 2008; Bradford et al., 2010; Strickland et al., 2010). Whereas, autotrophic respiration is predominantly driven by photosynthetic rates (Tang et al., 2005;

Gomez-Casanovas et al., 2012) with some influence of temperature, the quantity of biomass, nutrient content and the supply of sugars for photosynthesis (Ryan et al., 1997).

1.3.1.2 Soil methane (CH₄) fluxes

CH₄ is produced in soils mainly by methanogenic bacteria during the decomposition of organic material under anaerobic conditions and accounts for more than a third of all CH4 emissions (Smith & Conen, 2004; McNamara et al., 2008). In upland soils CH4 can also be produced inside soil aggregates where anaerobic microsites occur (Dutaur and Verchot, 2007). Net CH₄ emissions are commonly associated with poorly drained organic soils (McNamara et al., 2008), peatlands (Frolking et al., 2011) and rice paddy fields (Neue and Sass, 1994). Soils can also act as a sink for CH4, through the oxidation (uptake) of CH4 in the soil by methanotrophic bacteria under aerobic conditions (Hanson & Hanson, 1996). Uptake rates are generally low in agricultural soils due to the disturbance from agricultural practices and the addition of nitrogen (N) fertiliser which is known to inhibit CH4 oxidation (Steudler et al., 1989; Hütsch, 2001; Smith et al., 2000). Soil CH₄ emissions to the atmosphere are calculated from the net balance between production and oxidation (Chan and Parkin, 2001). However, in many soils methanogenic and methanotrophic bacteria co-exist making it difficult to determine if certain soils are net sources or net sinks for CH4 (McNamara et al., 2008). CH4 emissions are affected by a range of environmental and edaphic factors that regulate the activities of methanogenic and methanotrophic bacteria and the exchange of gases (McNamara et al., 2008). Important factors include water table depth (Moore & Dalva, 1993; Ball et al., 1997; Frenzel & Karofeld, 2000; Mojeremane et al., 2010), soil moisture (Castro et al., 1994a; Gundersen et al., 2012), temperature (Crill et al., 1994; Christiansen & Gundersen, 2011), and soil diffusion (Ball et al., 1997; Dong et al., 1998). The influence of these factors on the direction and magnitude of CH4 fluxes will vary depending on soil type, habitat, and plant species.

1.3.1.3 Soil nitrous oxide (N₂O) fluxes

Soils are a major source of atmospheric N₂O emissions which occur from both natural and agricultural sources (IPCC, 2007; Wang et al., 2014b). Although emissions are highest from agricultural soils (Mosier et al., 1998), mainly due to the application of nitrogen rich fertilisers (Dobbie et al., 1999; Skiba & Smith, 2000), it is now recognised that forest soils may also represent a significant source of N_2O (Zhang et al., 2008). N2O in soils is mainly produced from the two contrasting microbial processes of nitrification (De Boer & Kowalchuk, 2001) and denitrification (Gillam et al., 2008), and overall contributes approximately 70% to global N2O emissions (Syakila & Kroeze, 2011). Nitrification and denitrification can occur simultaneously in soils but the rate at which each is occurring will depend on soil abiotic conditions (Butterbach-bahl et al., 2013; Wang et al., 2014b). Nitrification is an aerobic process and involves oxidation of ammonium (NH4⁺) to nitrite (NO2⁻) and then to nitrate (NO3⁻). When the concentration of oxygen is limited nitrifying bacteria can use NO²⁻ and reduce it to NO and N₂O (Smith *et al.*, 2003). Denitrification is an anaerobic process and involves the reduction of NO₃⁻ to N₂O (and N₂). The largest emissions of N₂O are generally linked to denitrification but conditions for nitrification are more common so these fluxes are not trivial (Skiba & Smith, 2000). N2O can also be consumed by soil microbes if environmental conditions are suitable, however, this process is still under debate (Chapuis-Lardy et al., 2007; Schlesinger, 2013). A number of abiotic and biotic factors control N₂O fluxes in soils. Depth to water table (Martikainen et al., 1993; Hutttunen et al., 2003; Ball et al., 2007; Zenone et al., 2015) and soil water content (which determines water filled pore space (WFPS)) (Davidson, 1991; Dobbie et al., 1999; Davidson et al., 2000; Christiansen & Gundersen, 2011; Gundersen et al., 2012; Butterbach-bahl et al., 2013) are important. Research has shown that N₂O emissions are optimum at 70–80% (WFPS) depending on soil type (Davidson et al., 2000). Other important factors include, Soil N availability (Ryden & Lund, 1980; Liu & Greaver, 2009; Gundersen et al., 2012; Zenone et al., 2015), depth of the organic (O) horizon (Borken & Brumme, 1997; Borken & Beese, 2006), soil pH (Weislien et al., 2009; Gundersen et al., 2012), and temperature (Keeney et al., 1979; Skiba & Smith, 2000; Smith *et al.*, 2003; Borken & Beese, 2006; Butterbach-bahl et al., 2013). N₂O fluxes and the abiotic and biotic factors controlling them will be discussed in the context of SRF in more detail below.

1.3.2 Role of soil microbes in the GHG and C balance

Soil microbes are central to the functioning of terrestrial ecosystems, and as mentioned above they play important roles in carbon and nitrogen cycling, SOM decomposition, and soil-atmosphere GHG exchange (Zak et al., 2003; Waldrop & Firestone, 2006). The soil biological community is extremely diverse with up to 50 000 bacterial species and 200 m of fungal hyphae existing in just 1 g of soil (Bardgett et al., 1993). Soil bacteria and fungi both decompose organic matter via the production of extracellular enzymes and the abundance of each in any soil is greatly determined by the chemical composition of the litter inputs (Waldrop & Firestone, 2004; Bray et al., 2012). Generally, microbial communities in soils that have poor quality litter inputs tend to have higher fungal:bacterial biomass than those with high quality litter inputs (Paustian & Schnürer, 1987; Gallo et al., 2004; Waldrop & Firestone, 2004). Soil bacteria can be further divided in to Gram-negative and Gram-positive bacterial groups. Gram-negative tend to dominate in soils with higher available organic matter and nitrogen availability (Fierer et al., 2003; Potthoff et al., 2006; Hossain et al., 2010), whereas Gram-positive bacteria and fungi are more abundant in soils with lower quality litter inputs (Bray et al., 2012). Microbes respond to changes in C dynamics driven by changes in the plant community (Kampichler et al., 1998; Kowalchuk et al., 2002), therefore, LUC to bioenergy could result in shifts in microbial community composition which could affect soil-atmosphere GHG exchange.

1.4. Short Rotation Forestry for bioenergy

1.4.1 What is Short Rotation Forestry?

SRF is the practice of growing high density plantations (>2500 trees ha-1) of fast-growing native and non-native tree species on short rotational lengths (>10 years) and harvesting when the diameter at breast height (DBH) is 10-20 cm (Hardcastle, 2006; McKay, 2011; Leslie et al., 2012). This silvicultural system is particularly suitable for bioenergy crop applications as it provides relatively high yields over short time frames (Proe et al., 2002; Hardcastle et al., 2006; Hoffmann & Weih, 2005; McKay, 2011). SRF could provide added flexibility to the woody bioenergy supply in the UK as, unlike coppice crops, harvesting can take place year round, and the product has a lower bark and moisture content and a higher density making it an ideal fuel source (Hardcastle et al., 2006; Leslie et al., 2012). Biomass yields of SRF may also be higher than coppice systems per unit area (McKay, 2011). There are a number of coniferous and broadleaved species currently being considered as potential biomass sources (Hardcastle, 2006; McKay, 2011; Leslie et al., 2012; Keith et al., 2015). However, experience of SRF in Britain is currently limited, although the Forestry Commission have been carrying out DECC funded trails at seven sites across England using various species including Eucalyptus species. Eucalypts are also grown successfully in warmer countries for biomass production such as in north-western Spain, where conditions are favourable for the globulus variety of this non-native species (González-García et al., 2009).

1.4.2 Current understanding of SRF effects on soil C and GHG emissions

As a result of its novelty, current knowledge and datasets on SRF effects on soil C and soil GHG emissions are limited. A review carried out by McKay (2011) on the growth and environmental impacts of SRF suggested that LUC from arable crops to SRF could result in significant increases in soil C but that the effect of LUC from grassland was uncertain. McKay (2011) also suggested that any C gain would be tree species dependent due to differences in the quality and quantity of inputs between broadleaves and coniferous species and their differential effects on the soil environment in general. A recent meta-analysis of 138 studies by Harris et al. (2015) examined the effects of LUC to second generation bioenergy crops on soil C and GHG and reported no change in soil C following transition from grassland to short rotation coppice systems. However, they were unable to quantify transitions from grassland to SRF as a result of insufficient available data and highlighted this as an area of research importance.

Subsequently, the first detailed UK study and dataset on LUC effects of planting SRF for bioenergy on soil C stocks was carried out by Keith et al. (2015). This study examined soils following LUC from agricultural systems (mainly grasslands) to SRF collected from 11 different sites across the UK. It was observed that planting coniferous species led to an increase in soil C compared to the original land use as a result of high litter accumulation. While planting broadleaved species, although results were highly variable, resulted in no change in soil C stocks compared to the original land use. This work contributed to filling the knowledge gap surrounding the sustainability of SRF as a bioenergy feedstock, but no measurements of soil-atmosphere GHG exchange were made. In order to determine the true GHG mitigation potential of an energy crop changes in GHG fluxes need to be quantified (Smith et al., 2013).

Although there is a lack of data on SRF and soil GHG emissions, knowledge can be drawn on from what is known about forestry in general. A review carried out by Dalal and Allen (2008) quantified GHG fluxes from natural ecosystems at a global scale and found that temperate forests have the highest CH₄ uptake rates of all natural systems. Dalal and Allen (2008) also recognised that contrary to prior belief, temperate forest soils could also be significant sources of N₂O emissions. The strength of a forest soil's sink or source potential will be affected by soil environment, climatic characteristics, tree species and forest growth stage (Barrena et al., 2013). In general terms CH₄ uptake rates are larger in forest systems as a result of physical and biogeochemical changes in the soil environment that favour methanotrophic bacteria.

For example, porosity in forest soils is usually larger than in agricultural soils as a result of increased SOM and reduced compaction and disturbance, which increases the soil diffusion potential of the soil which aids CH₄ oxidation (Ball et al., 1997; Prieme et al., 1997; Christiansen & Gundersen, 2011). Water table drawdown as a result of high demand for water by trees can create aerobic conditions in the soil that are optimal for methanotrophic activity (Hanson & Hanson, 1996). Certain tree species may enhance soil CH4 uptake more than others as a result of their differential effects on the soil (Borken & Beese, 2006; Yavitt & Williams, 2015). For example, coniferous trees are known to reduce soil pH which can in-turn regulate the activity of soil methanotrophs which are sensitive to soil acidity (Amaral et al., 1998). Borken et al. (2003) reported higher CH₄ uptake in beech forest soils compared to Scots pine whilst other studies have found no difference in soil CH4 fluxes between tree species on similar soils (McNamara et al., 2008; Christiansen & Gundersen 2011). CH4 uptake suppression in response to high levels of available N can also occur in forest systems, where N-fixing species are planted or in areas of high atmospheric N deposition (Butterbach-bahl et al., 1998; Reay et al., 2001; Reay & Nedwell, 2004).

Dalal & Allen (2008) have estimated that temperate forests have the potential to emit up to 8.07 kg N₂O-N ha⁻¹ y⁻¹ which is by no means insignificant considering the high GWP of this species. Soil N₂O production via the microbial processes of nitrification and denitrification is largely regulated by the availability of inorganic N (NH₄⁺ and NO₃⁻) (Liu & Greaver, 2009). This inorganic N can be delivered to the soil system via atmospheric deposition, via litter inputs or by fixation. This is of particular importance in forests where N deposition is known to be very high and in tree species selection, for example common alder fixes atmospheric N via actinomycorrhizal nodules and can therefore have high levels of NO₃⁻ in the soil and its litter (Reay et al., 2005). It is also well documented that deposition of atmospheric inorganic N is larger in coniferous forests than in deciduous (Rothe et al., 2002; Gundersen et al., 2009). Therefore, coniferous stands receiving more N than adjacent broadleaved stands could potentially release more N₂O as a result of increased N availability in the soil. It has recently been discovered that soil fungi can directly contribute to soil N₂O production, however, its significance is still under debate (Prendergast-Miller et al., 2011; Chen et al., 2014; Maeda et al., 2015). Prendergast-Miller et al. (2011) demonstrated under laboratory conditions that ectomycorrhizal fungi extracted from Sitka spruce root tips could produce N₂O from nitrate production. As soil fungi are particularly dominant in acidic forest soils and are tolerant of high inorganic N concentrations (Chen et al., 2014) their contribution to N₂O emissions may not be insignificant.

1.5 Research aims and experimental approach

The urgent need to reduce global GHG emissions through the use of alternative energy sources to fossil fuels has been highlighted in this review. SRF is a promising biomass source that could contribute to such mitigation, and as a crop it is well suited to temperate climates such as that in the UK. Although forests soils are generally significant C sinks and have the potential to offset anthropogenic atmospheric GHG increases, the magnitude and dynamics of LUC effects could be impacted by the original land use, tree species, soil type and climatic conditions.

The recent multi-site study by Keith et al. (2015) found that LUC from grassland to coniferous species resulted in an increase in soil C stock but did not take soil GHG emissions into consideration. The consideration of GHGs (CO₂, CH₄ and N₂O) could have an impact on the overall sustainability of LUC and in some cases there is a risk of soil GHG emissions offsetting the CO₂ uptake by the plantation (Zenone et al., 2015).

The overall aim of this research was to investigate the effects of LUC from grassland to various SRF species on soil emissions of the primary greenhouses gases (CO₂, CH₄ and N₂O), and to examine the importance of key factors and potential mechanisms underlying these effects. To address this aim, a combination of laboratory (Chapter 2), field (Chapter 3) and mesocosm (Chapter 4) studies were undertaken.

Chapter 2 first investigated GHG flux potentials in short term laboratory incubations from soils under grassland and a variety of tree species across six different sites in the UK. Differences between tree species type were examined and the effects of LUC on CO₂ efflux were then related to changes in soil C stock and soil microbial community composition. This work was integrated as part of a UK wide campaign being undertaken for the Ecosystem Land Use Modelling consortium project led by the Centre for Ecology & Hydrology in Lancaster. This broad approach was followed by more focused in-depth approaches utilising a single experimental site. Having identified broad LUC effects across a range of sites, Chapter 3 went on to investigate soil GHG emissions under grassland and monocultures of three different tree species over a 16 month period at the Gisburn Forest Experimental site (this site was examined in Chapter 2). The relative importance of a range of soil physical and chemical variables for GHG fluxes were assessed.

Chapter 4 describes a medium-term manipulation study and an additional N addition experiment using intact mesocosms collected from the field site used in Chapter 3. This work extended the investigation of tree species effects on soil GHG emissions to focus on how water table depth and microtopography (as created during planting) may modify tree species effects on GHG emissions.

Chapter 2: Bioenergy driven land use change impacts on soil greenhouse gas regulation under Short Rotation Forestry

Kim Parmar^{1, 2}, Aidan M. Keith¹, Rebecca L. Rowe¹, Saran P. Sohi², Claudia Moeckel¹, M. Gloria Pereira¹, Niall P. McNamara¹

¹Centre for Ecology and Hydrology, Lancaster Environment Centre, Library Avenue, Bailrigg, LA1 4AP, UK

²School of Geosciences, The University of Edinburgh, Crew Building, The Kings Buildings Edinburgh, EH9 3JN, UK

Adapted from the published version:

Parmar, K., Keith, A.M., Rowe, R.L., Sohi, S.P., Moeckel, C., Pereira, M.G., McNamara, 2015. Bioenergy driven land use change impacts on soil greenhouse gas regulation under Short Rotation Forestry. Biomass and Bioenergy **Early view online** doi:10.1016/j.biombioe.2015.05.028

Declaration of contribution

Sample collection for this chapter was carried out as part of the larger ELUM project (detailed in research aims section of the general introduction) by Kim Parmar, Dr Aidan Keith, Dr Rebecca Rowe and Danny Tregidgo. The laboratory incubation experiment was conducted solely by Kim Parmar whilst PLFA analysis were carried out by Dr Claudia Moeckel and Dr Gloria Pereira. Data were analysed with help from Dr Aidan Keith and the publication was written by Kim Parmar and reviewed by Dr Aidan Keith, Dr Niall McNamara and Dr Saran Sohi.

2.1 Abstract

Second-generation bioenergy crops, including Short Rotation Forestry (SRF), have the potential to contribute to greenhouse gas (GHG) emissions savings through reduced soil GHG fluxes and greater soil C sequestration. If we are to predict the magnitude of any such GHG benefits a better understanding is needed of the effect of land use change (LUC) on the underlying factors which regulate GHG fluxes. Under controlled conditions we measured soil GHG flux potentials, and associated soil physico-chemical and microbial community characteristics for a range of LUC transitions from grassland land uses to SRF. These involved ten broadleaved and seven coniferous transitions. Differences in GHGs and microbial community composition assessed by phospholipid fatty acids (PLFA) profiles were detected between land uses, with distinctions between broadleaved and coniferous tree species. Compared to grassland controls, CO₂ flux, total PLFAs and fungal PLFAs (expressed per g C), were lower under coniferous species but unaffected under broadleaved tree species. There were no significant differences in N₂O and CH₄ flux rates between grassland, broadleaved and coniferous land uses, though both CH4 and N₂O tended to have greater uptake under broadleaved species in the upper soil layer. Effect sizes of changes across LUC transitions of CO2 flux and, soil pH, total PLFA and fungal PLFA were positively related. These relationships between fluxes and microbial community suggest that LUC to SRF may drive change in soil respiration by altering the composition of the soil microbial community. These findings support that LUC to SRF for bioenergy can contribute towards C savings and GHG mitigation.

2.2 Introduction

Bioenergy currently accounts for almost two-thirds of the total renewable energy in Europe and much of this comes from energy crops (Osborne & Jones, 2012). Furthermore, the European Union has committed to increase the proportion of renewable energy from 9% in 2010 to 20% of total energy consumption by 2020 (EU, 2009). Although there are competing land demands from activities such as food production, infrastructure, recreation and biodiversity (Smith et al., 2013), the rationale remains for converting certain land to bioenergy crop production (POST, 2012). For a bioenergy crop to be considered as a viable and sustainable option in the future it must provide GHG savings in comparison to the use of fossil fuels (Rowe et al., 2009; Don et al., 2012). Impacts of LUC on GHG emission reduction are dependent on the land uses involved, but LUC to bioenergy has the potential to deliver GHG emissions savings through soil C sequestration, with the greatest potential following LUC from arable crops to forestry (Guo & Gifford, 2002; Laganière et al., 2010). In addition, and linked to changes in soil C, LUC can also influence GHG fluxes between the soil and the atmosphere (Houghton, 2003).

Short Rotation Forestry (SRF) could contribute to biomass requirements for renewable energy targets (Mckay, 2011; Leslie et al., 2012). Although not currently widely practised in the UK commercially, a suite of species is under consideration for SRF, including coniferous and broadleaved species types (Hardcastle et al., 2006; Mckay, 2011; Leslie et al., 2012). Tree species can influence soil organic carbon (SOC) sequestration and GHG fluxes due to varying rates of rhizodeposition (Paterson et al., 2007), differences in above and below-ground C partitioning (Mokany et al., 2006) and differences in litter inputs and decomposition rates (Vesterdal et al., 2008).

Litter decomposition rates are generally distinct between coniferous and broadleaved species, with litter decomposition most rapid for broadleaved species (Wedderburn & Carter, 1999; Peterken, 2001; Morison et al., 2012). Litter decomposition rates are strongly related to litter qualities including, litter N and lignin content, C/N ratio, and leaf area (Peterken, 2001; Reich et al., 2005; Hobbie et al., 2006; Vesterdal et al., 2008)

and these can vary greatly between tree species. Litter quality can also affect soil pH, which in turn can alter soil microbial activity affecting decomposition of soil organic matter (Morison et al., 2012). Roots also directly add organic material to the soil through exudation (rhizodeposition), fine root turnover and through coarse root shedding (Morison et al., 2012). Root-derived inputs (rhizodeposits) are chemically diverse and range in complexity from labile exudates to senescent material released as a consequence of tissue turnover (Paterson et al., 2009). These compounds provide a diverse source of substrate to soil microbial communities and are responsible for the stimulation of microbial biomass and activity in the rhizosphere (Paterson et al., 2009). Soil microbial community composition can be measured by analysis of phospholipid fatty acids (PLFAs). PLFA analysis has become widely used to study soil microbial communities (Zelles, 1997; Zelles, 1999) and quantifies total soil microbial biomass and the proportions of bacteria and fungi. Total PLFA is wellcorrelated with other methods for microbial biomass estimation and readily discriminate land use, soil type and land management practises (e.g. Bardgett et al., 1996).

Around half of soil respiration is derived from plant root respiration; the remaining respiration is associated with the decomposition of organic matter by the microbial community (Paterson et al., 2009; Morison et al., 2012). In the absence of root respiration, the rate of heterotrophic respiration (the CO₂ mainly derived from soil microbial activity) is largely a function of microbial community composition and organic matter quality, and ultimately organic matter quality is regulated by plant inputs (Wardle et al., 2004; Bardgett et al., 2008). Examining this component of respiration following LUC to SRF may give an indication of how changes in organic matter quality, or differences between species types, influence CO₂ fluxes. As emissions of methane (CH₄) and nitrous oxide (N₂O) contribute to climate change they must also be considered in LUC to forestry (Morison et al., 2002). It is generally accepted that forests are strong sinks for CH₄ (Smith et al., 2000). N₂O is a powerful GHG and has a global warming potential (GWP) 298 times that of CO₂ (IPCC, 2007).

Unlike CH₄ and CO₂, N₂O can be produced under both aerobic and anaerobic conditions and can be consumed in wet, nitrogen-poor soils (Chapuis-Lardy et al., 2007). Recent studies indicate a tendency towards higher N₂O emissions from deciduous than coniferous forest soils (Ambus et al., 2006; Pilegaard et al., 2006) due to differences in tree litter quality and soil moisture (Morison et al., 2012).

Previous work examining changes in soil C stock following the establishment of different SRF species has shown greater litter accumulation, and an overall increase in soil C stock in coniferous soils (relative to agricultural controls) compared to broadleaved soils (Keith et al., 2015). Despite broadleaved species having no overall effect on soil C stock, the response was more variable suggesting that individual species influence soil C accumulation differently. When combined with estimates of C stocks in aboveground biomass the likelihood of C accumulation under conifers was further strengthened (Keith et al., 2015). In addition to these findings on soil C, knowledge on GHG fluxes under SRF is needed to contribute to a better understanding of sustainability of this bioenergy land use. Therefore, this study examined potential soil GHG fluxes, under standardised conditions, from LUC transitions, and the associated changes in soil physico-chemical and soil microbial community characteristics. The gas flux measurements also yield additional information on the potential for the biological consumption and production of GHGs such as N2O and CH4. Specifically, this study tested for i) differences in GHG potential fluxes, soil physico-chemical (pH, % C) and microbial community characteristics between land uses (controls and different SRF species types), and ii) whether changes in soil physico-chemical (pH, % C) and microbial community characteristics could explain changes in CO₂ flux.

2.3 Materials and methods

2.3.1 Site selection and sampling strategy

Sampling was undertaken at six sites across the UK from replicated experimental and commercial SRF sites. A paired plots approach was used where SRF species and

adjacent land continuing in former land use could be identified at each location. To confirm that the soil for the control land use was comparable to the transitional SRF land use, data on management history and soil type had been collected and examined (Table. 1). Following soil sampling, texture analysis was carried out and was used to confirm similarity in soil type between control land use and transitional land use at each site (Table. 1). Expert advice and current literature on potential SRF tree species was also used to make an informed decision regarding suitable site selection (Proe et al., 2002; Hardcastle et al., 2006; McKay, 2011). The tree species chosen for this study, which have been broadly classified as coniferous (7 transitions) and broadleaved (10 transitions), included common alder (*Alnus glutinosa*), Ash (*Fraxinus excelsior*), Downy birch (*Betula pubescens*), Hybrid larch (*Larix x eurolepis*), Poplar (*Populus spp.*), Scots pine (*Pinus sylvestris*), Silver birch (*Betula pendula*), Sitka spruce (*Picea sitchensis*), and Sycamore (*Acer pseudoplatanus*). All sites with the exception of the site in North-West England (20 years into its second rotation; Table. 1) are in their first rotation ranging in age from 12 to 24 years.

A hierarchical sampling design was used to capture spatial variability (Keith et al., 2015). Five sampling locations were randomly selected within each paired plot (transition) (i.e. control or tree species) using an overlain grid. At each randomly selected sampling location, soil cores were taken from three positions, resulting in 15 spatially nested samples per transition.

Three soil cores (30 cm x 4.8 cm) were taken at each sampling location using a splittube soil corer (Eijkelkamp Agrisearch Equipment BV, Giesbeek, The Netherlands), at the grid intersect and then at distances of 1 m and 1.5 m in random compass directions. Prior to soil sampling, the litter (L) and fermentation layers (L_f) were removed. Soil cores were divided into 0–15 cm and 15–30 cm sections in the field, bagged, and returned immediately to the laboratory where they were stored at 4 ° C. **Table 2.1** Details and soil characteristics of sampling locations used to examine the effects of Short Rotation Forestry on soil greenhouse gas regulation in GB. Land uses in bold represent control land use. Management terms; Pasture = grazed grassland, Rough Pasture = seasonally or un-grazed grassland, F =fertilised, NF = No Fertiliser applied. Soil type based on the Avery soil classification; texture class derived based on the Soil Survey of England & Wales texture classes. C stock values represent means ± SD; n = 15. Table adapted from Keith et al. (2015).

| Region | Lat | Long | Land use transition | Established | Management | Soil type | Texture class | C stock (0–30 cm) t C ha ⁻¹ | Sampling Date |
|--------------------------|------|------|---------------------|-------------|------------------------------------------------|--------------------|-----------------|----------------------------------------------|------------------|
| Powys, | | | Grassland | Pre 1988 | Pasture. F: '98 - '09 160kg N ha ⁻¹ | Brown earth | Silt loam | 76.2 ± 9.0 | 10 /02/2012 |
| Wales | 52.0 | -3.6 | H. Larch | 1988 | NF | Brown earth | Silt loam | 76.3 ± 8.4 | 10 /02/2012 |
| | | | Sycamore | 1988 | N F | Brown earth | Silt loam | 65.1 ± 7.3 | 10 /02/2012 |
| N | 57.6 | -3.2 | Grassland | Pre 1988 | Rough Pasture. N F | Podzol | Sandy loam | 94.8 ± 22.4 | 14/03/2011 |
| Moray, | | | D. Birch | 1998 | N F | Podzol | Sandy loam | 111.5 ± 31.4 | 15/03/2011 |
| Scotland | | | S. Birch | 1998 | N F | Podzol | Sandy loam | 81.5 ± 21.3 | 14/03/2011 |
| | | | Sitka | 1999 | N F | Podzol | Sandy loam | 136.9 ± 44.5 | 15/03/2011 |
| N | | | Grassland | 1994 | Pasture. N F | Ground-water gley | Loamy sand | 39.3 ± 8.5 | 17/03/2011 |
| Moray, Scotland | 57.7 | -33 | Poplar | 1994 | N F | Ground-water gley | Loamy sand | 35.2 ± 6.2 | 17/03/2011 |
| | | 010 | Alder | 1996 | N F | Ground-water gley | Loamy sand | 38.8 ± 8.5 | 18/03/2011 |
| | | | Ash | 1996 | N F | Ground-water gley | Loamy sand | 35.6 ± 6.6 | 18/03/2011 |
| North-West, | 54.0 | -2.4 | Grassland | Pre 1956 | Rough Pasture. N F | Surface-water gley | Sandy silt loam | 117.2 ± 46.3 | 18/10/2011 |
| | | | Alder | 1956 (1991) | N F | Surface-water gley | Sandy silt loam | 122.3 ± 25.7 | 18/10/2011 |
| England | | | Scots pine | 1956 (1991) | N F | Surface-water gley | Sandy silt loam | 146.8 ± 45.7 | 18/10/2011 |
| | | | Sitka | 1991 | N F | Surface-water gley | Sandy silt loam | 143.4 ± 43.7 | 18/10/2011 |
| | | | Grassland | 1988 | Pasture. F: '02 -'09 0.97 t N ha ⁻¹ | Podzol | Sandy silt loam | 80.6 ± 9.9 | 26/10/2011 |
| Aberdeenshire | 56.9 | -2.6 | Sycamore | 1988 | N F | Podzol | Sandy silt loam | 83.1 ± 14.5 | 26 /10/2011 |
| , Scotland | | | Scots pine | 1988 | N F | Podzol | Sandy silt loam | 76.2 ± 20.9 | 25/10/2011 |
| | | | H. Larch | 1988 | N F | Podzol | Sandy silt loam | 74.5 ± 13.1 | 19/03/2012 |
| North | | | Grassland | Pre 1990 | Pasture. F: Unknown | Surface-water gley | Sandy silt loam | 122.9 ± 24.1 | 24/11/2011 |
| Lanarkshire, Scotland | 55.8 | -3.8 | Alder | 1990 | F: Unknown | Surface-water gley | Sandy silt loam | 100.8 ± 25.0 | 23/11/2011 |
| | | | Poplar | 1990 | F: Unknown | Surface-water gley | Sandy silt loam | 92.0 ± 10.7 | 24/11/2011 |
| | | | Sitka | 1990 | F: Unknown | Surface-water gley | Sandy silt loam | 140.9 ± 27.8 | 23/11/2011 |

2.3.2 Laboratory Processing

Soil core sections were quartered lengthways, with quarters being allocated for different subsequent analyses; one quarter was used to derive soil C concentration and pH, and others allocated for microbial analysis and to the controlled GHG potentials laboratory incubation experiment. For further details on the soil processing methods see Keith et al. (2015).

2.3.2.1 Soil C concentration and pH analysis

Sieved (< 2 mm) oven-dried subsamples of soil were ball-milled using a Fritsch Planetary Mill (Fritsch, Idar-Oberstein, Germany) to a fine powder, and then a 100 mg sub-sample was used for the assessment of C concentration using a LECO Truspec total CN analyser (Leco, St. Joseph, MI, USA). Fresh, bulked samples were sieved to 2 mm to remove stones and roots. 10 g of bulk soil was then mixed well with 25 ml of deionised water and allowed to stand for 30 minutes, before the pH of the liquid layer was recorded using a Hanna pH 210 Benchtop Meter (Hanna Instruments, RI, USA).

2.3.2.2 Phospholipid fatty acid (PLFA) analysis

Subsamples of frozen soil were bulked at plot level (i.e. cores within plots bulked with 0-15 cm and 15-30 cm depths kept separate) and then freeze-dried prior to PLFA analysis. PLFAs were extracted using a modified Bligh-Dyer extraction (White et al., 1979). Total microbial biomass was estimated as the sum of all extracted PLFAs (Zelles et al., 1995). Bacterial biomass was estimated from the total concentration of the markers i-15:0, a-15:0, 15:0, i-16:0, $16:1\omega7c$, $16:1\omega7t$, i-17:0, a-17:0, cy-17:0, $18:1\omega7c$ and 7,8, cy-19:0 (Frostegård & Bååth 1996). Fungal biomass was estimated from the concentration of the marker $18:2\omega6$ (Frostegård & Bååth 1996) and $18:9\omega1$ (Bååth, 2003). For more detailed methods of PLFA extraction and analysis see Appendix A.1.

2.3.2.3 Soil incubations (soil GHG potentials)

Fresh soil samples were used for laboratory incubations. Samples were bulked at plot level and homogenized, resulting in five samples per transition for each of the two depths (0–15 cm and 15–30 cm).

Bulk soil samples were sieved (<2 mm) and 5 g dry soil wt. equivalent weighed into 160 ml glass Wheaton bottles (Wheaton Science Products, USA). These were preincubated in the dark for 72 hours at 10 °C and 20 °C (target incubation temperatures for experiment) to allow equilibration (Fang & Moncrieff, 2001; Case et al., 2012). To maintain controlled moisture across all soils, water holding capacity (WHC) was adjusted to 60 % using a WHC method adapted from Ohlinger (1995) where 100 % saturation is calculated as the amount of water remaining in the soil after being saturated and left to drain for 12 h in a fully humid airspace. A water holding capacity of 60% was chosen as being approximate to field capacity (Schaufler et al., 2010) and optimum for microbial respiration (Reay et al., 2005; Vanhala et al., 2011). Following equilibration all bottles were flushed with standard compressed air for 1 minute and crimp-sealed with gas-tight septa. To compensate for gas sampling over the enclosure period, 15 ml of air was added to each bottle following closure. Bottles were then incubated at two temperatures (10 °C and 20 °C) for 7 days with headspace gas samples (5 ml) taken at 0, 24, 48 and 168 hours. Gas samples were stored in 3 ml evacuated exetainers (Labco, Lampeter, UK) for up to 2 weeks prior to analysis.

Gas samples were analysed for CO₂, CH₄ and N₂O concentrations on a PerkinElmer Autosystem XL Gas Chromatograph (GC) (PerkinElmer, Waltham, MA, USA) with flame ionization detector and electron capture detector equipped with a poropack Q column operated at 60 °C with an argon carrier gas. Certified gas standards (Air Products, Crewe, UK) within the range of the samples being analysed were used to calibrate the GC. Gas fluxes (CO₂, CH₄ and N₂O) were calculated using the approach of Holland et al. (1999) by plotting the linear accumulation of each gas over the seven day enclosure period. For CO₂, CH₄ and N₂O data to be included as results a linear
response ($\mathbb{R}^2 > 0.95$) in CO₂ concentrations with time was required. Where N₂O and CH₄ were non-linear they were still considered in the analysis as concentration changes were often negligible e.g. no flux, resulting in a low \mathbb{R}^2 value. The CO₂ fluxes were also expressed per g C, in addition to being expressing by dry soil mass, in order to standardise fluxes for potential differences in soil C across land use types and transitions.

2.3.3 Statistical Methods

The influence of SRF transitions on soil C, soil pH, microbial community variables, GHG fluxes and GHG temperature response ratios was tested using linear mixed effect models with the *nlme* package in the R statistical program (R Development Core Team, 2011; Pinheiro et al., 2013). The significance of these models was examined using the *anova.lme* function. The effect of the different land uses (control and SRF types) was tested, with a fixed effect containing levels for Control, Coniferous, and Broadleaved transitions. The effect of depth and its interaction with SRF types was included in each model. To meet model assumptions, CH4 and N₂O data were transformed prior to analysis, with data made positive by addition of the lowest value + 1 before log-transformation. For CH4, variance was not heterogeneous across treatments and therefore data were weighted by treatment using the *varIdent* function. Data on all CO₂ fluxes and temperature response ratios were also log-transformed prior to testing.

Standardised effect sizes (Cohens' D) of change across LUC transitions were also calculated for CO₂ fluxes per g C, soil pH, total PLFA and fungal PLFA. Linear regressions between the LUC effect sizes for CO₂ flux and, soil pH, total PLFA and fungal PLFA were then undertaken to assess whether changes in soil characteristics were related to changes in CO₂ flux across transitions.

2.4 Results

2.4.1 Land use change to broadleaved and coniferous SRF

2.4.1.1 Soil C concentration and pH

Soil C concentration responded significantly to land use type ($F_{2,207} = 15.96$, p < 0.001) with higher soil C concentration in the coniferous soils compared to the grassland controls or the broadleaved soils (Fig. 2.1A). Although the magnitude of differences in soil C concentration varied with depth the pattern remained the same, leading to no interaction between land use and depth ($F_{2,207} = 2.78$, p = 0.064, Fig. 2.1A).

Land use type had a significant effect on soil pH ($F_{2,207} = 13.53$, p < 0.001) with, as expected, the most notable differences between the coniferous soils and both the grassland and broadleaved soils (Fig. 2.1B), and more acidic conditions measured under the coniferous land use. Little difference was observed between pH in the grassland control and broadleaved soils (Fig. 2.1B). There was also a significant effect of depth on soil pH ($F_{1,207} = 24.85$, p < 0.001) where, across all land use types, pH was slightly higher at 15–30 cm compared to 0–15cm depth but with no interaction between land use type and depth ($F_{2,207} = 1.22$, p = 0.297, Fig. 2.1B).

2.4.1.2 Microbial community (PLFAs)

Considering total PLFA data on a soil mass basis there was an effect of land use type $(F_{2,205} = 18.64, p < 0.001)$ and depth $(F_{1,205} = 413.05, p < 0.001)$, and an interaction between land use type and depth $(F_{2,205} = 10.54, p < 0.001)$ (Fig. 2.1C). At 0–15 cm total PLFA in the control $(105.70 \pm 9.27 \ \mu g \ g^{-1} \ dry$ mass) was similar to the coniferous soils $(101.26 \pm 11.18 \ \mu g \ g^{-1} \ dry$ mass), but noticeably lower in the broadleaved soils $(66.35 \pm 3.22 \ \mu g \ g^{-1} \ dry$ mass). However, when considering total PLFA on a grams C basis the pattern changes to reflect that of CO₂ on a g C basis with lower total PLFA present in the coniferous soils compared to the grassland controls or broadleaved soils (Fig. 2.1D). The effect of land use type $(F_{2,205} = 18.64, p < 0.001)$ and depth $(F_{1,205} = 413.05, p < 0.001)$ were still significant but not their interaction $(F_{2,205} = 10.54, p = 0.193)$ (Fig. 2.1D).

On a soil mass basis there was also an interaction between land use type and depth in the fungal PLFA data ($F_{2,205} = 4.36$, p = 0.014), with higher fungal PLFA in the coniferous soil at 0–15 cm compared to the other land use types, but no differences apparent between the land use types in the 15–30 cm soils (Fig. 2.1E). Fungal PLFA concentration was lower in the 15–30 cm soils than in the 0–15 cm soils in all land uses ($F_{1,205} = 198.14$, p < 0.001) but most noticeably in the coniferous soils. As with the total PLFA, considering fungal PLFA on a g C basis resulted in a switch, with lower concentrations of fungal PLFA measured in the coniferous soils compared to other land uses, although this was not significant (Fig. 2.1F). Depth was also significant ($F_{1,205} = 198.14$, p < 0.001) but not the interaction between land use and depth ($F_{2,205} =$ 4.36, p = 0.364) (Fig. 2.1F). Bacterial PLFAs followed the same pattern as total PLFA with differences between the land uses ($F_{2,205} = 10.79$, p < 0.001) decreasing from control > coniferous > broadleaved at 0–15 cm depth, and from control > broadleaved > coniferous at 15–30 cm depth (data not shown).



Figure 2.1 Measured (A) Soil carbon concentration (g kg⁻¹), (B) Soil pH, (C) Total PLFA (μ g g⁻¹ soil), (D) Total PLFA (μ g g⁻¹ C), (E) Fungal PLFA (μ g g⁻¹ soil) and (F) Fungal PLFA (μ g g⁻¹ C) from soils under different land uses (control, broadleaved and coniferous) and different depths. Data in (C) and (E) are based on soil dry weight. Note scales are not consistent; error bars represent standard error.

2.4.1.3 GHG Fluxes

An effect of land use type ($F_{2,207} = 15.41$, p < 0.001) on CO₂ flux on a soil mass basis was found, and fluxes were lower in broadleaved soil than in either coniferous land uses or grassland control. There was little difference in soil CO₂ flux between control and coniferous land use and no interaction between land use and depth, although fluxes were lower in the 15–30 cm layer than in the 0–15 cm layer (p < 0.001, Fig. 2.2A). However, when considering soil CO₂ flux on a soil C basis the output is considerably different. Although the effects of land use type (p = 0.028), depth (p < 0.001) and the interaction between land use and depth (p = 0.136) were consistent, CO₂ fluxes are now considerably lower in coniferous soils compared to the grassland control and broadleaved land use. The CO₂ flux was similar between grassland control and broadleaved land uses at 0–15 cm when accounting for soil C concentration (Fig. 2.2B).

The temperature response ratio of soil CO_2 flux was greater under coniferous than under broadleaved or grassland land uses at both depths, though not significantly so. The coniferous and grassland land uses demonstrated a trend towards higher temperature responses ratios at 15–30 cm depth compared to 0–15 cm, this was not the case for the broadleaved land use where the temperature response ratio was slightly lower at 15–30 cm compared to 0–15 cm. The temperature responses followed the same pattern across land use types on a soil mass and g C basis (Table. 2.2).

CH₄ flux was mostly negative and very small (range: -0.58 – 0.20 ng CH₄ g⁻¹ soil dwt hr⁻¹) across all land uses and depths, indicating that CH₄ was being consumed under all species (Fig. 2.2C). Although greatest consumption was measured from broadleaved soils and the lowest in coniferous soil, there was no significant effect of land use on CH₄ flux (F_{1,207} = 0.148, p = 0.862). There was an effect of depth on CH₄ flux (F_{1,207} = 18.46, p < 0.001) with lower uptake measured at 15–30 cm depth across all land uses but no interaction between land use and depth (F_{2,207} = 1.78, p = 0.171).

Soil N₂O flux rates were also very low, ranging from -0.16 – 0.05 ng N₂O-N g⁻¹ soil dwt hr⁻¹, and there was no difference between the land uses (Fig. 2.2D). There was a depth effect ($F_{1,207}$ = 22.72, p < 0.001) and higher flux rates were measured in the 0–15 cm soils but there was no interaction between land use and depth ($F_{2,207}$ = 2.62, p = 0.075).



Figure 2.2 Potential fluxes of (A) CO_2 (µg g⁻¹ soil hr⁻¹), (B) CO_2 (µg g⁻¹ C hr⁻¹), (C) CH₄ (ng g⁻¹ soil hr⁻¹), and (D) N₂O (ng g⁻¹ soil hr⁻¹) from soils under different land uses (control, coniferous and broadleaved) and different depths. Fluxes in (A), (C) and (D) are based on soil dry weight. Note scales are not consistent; error bars represent standard error.

Table 2.2 Soil CO₂ flux temperature response ratio's (ratio between CO₂ flux at 10° C and 20° C) and summary statistics from linear mixed effect models on the effect of land use type (grassland control, coniferous and broadleaved), depth and their interaction on CO₂ fluxes in soils. CO₂ (μ g g⁻¹ soil h⁻¹) data are based on soil dry weight. Values represent means ± standard error.

| Land Use/Depth | CO ₂ | CO ₂ |
|--------------------------|---------------------------------------|---------------------------|
| | $(\mu g g^{-1} \text{ soil } h^{-1})$ | $(\mu g g^{-1} C h^{-1})$ |
| Grassland 0-15 cm | 2.88 (± 0.35) | 2.83 (± 0.32) |
| Grassland 15-30 cm | 3.28 (± 0.36) | 3.40 (± 0.45) |
| Coniferous 0-15 cm | 3.27 (± 0.46) | 3.21 (± 0.43) |
| Coniferous 15-30 cm | 3.57 (± 0.51) | 3.70 (± 0.63) |
| Broadleaved 0-15 cm | 2.72 (± 0.86) | 2.75 (± 0.09) |
| Broadleaved 15-30 cm | 2.61 (± 0.96) | 2.57 (± 0.08) |
| Mixed model fixed effect | | |
| Land Use | P = 0.874 | P = 0.862 |
| Depth | P = 0.719 | P = 0.790 |
| LU: Depth Interaction | P = 0.131 | P = 0.066 |

2.4.1.4 Effect sizes across land use change transitions

Linear regressions were performed on effect sizes of soil characteristics and CO₂ fluxes per g C across grassland to SRF transitions to determine the variables in which changes were most strongly related. There were positive relationships between LUC effect sizes of soil pH and CO₂ flux (0–15 cm: F = 4.0, p = 0.067, R² = 0.176; Both depths: F = 4.8, p = 0.038, R² = 0.115; Fig. 2.3A). Stronger positive relationships, however, were shown between LUC effect sizes of both total and fungal PLFA, and CO₂ flux. Total PLFA effect sizes had a significant relationship with CO₂ flux effect sizes considering only 0–15 cm samples (F = 117.2, p < 0.001, R² = 0.893) and both depths (F = 220.2, p <

0.001, R² = 0.887), with the slope of the relationship virtually identical (Fig. 2.3B). Likewise, fungal PLFA effect sizes also had a significant relationship with CO₂ flux effect sizes considering only 0–15 cm samples (F = 8.9, P < 0.001, R² = 0.378) and both the 0–15 cm and 15–30 cm depths (F = 12.8, p < 0.001, R² = 0.312), with similar slopes (Fig. 2.3C).



Figure 2.3 The relationship between Land Use Change (LUC) transition effects on soil CO₂ (on a mass of C basis) potential flux, pH and soil microbial community measures. Effect sizes of (A) pH and CO₂ potential flux, (B) Total PLFA and CO₂ potential flux and (C) Fungal PLFA and CO₂ potential flux. The effect size of LUC transitions measured as standardised effect sizes, Cohen's D. Black and grey symbols represent samples from 0–15 cm and 15–30 cm, respectively; dashed and dotted lines represent significant relationship between effect sizes for 0–15 cm samples only and both depths, respectively.

2.5 Discussion

Utilising laboratory soil incubations under standardised temperature and moisture conditions, we examined potential GHG fluxes in soils from LUC transitions to SRF. This study demonstrated clear differences in CO₂ flux but not N₂O or CH₄ fluxes between grassland and SRF land uses and, in line with a previous study at these sites looking at soil C stocks (Keith et al., 2015), distinctions between transitions to broadleaved and coniferous tree species were also observed. Such laboratory approaches are important to disentangle different factors influencing soil respiration and C turnover and they allow exploration of the direction and magnitude of relationships (Schaufler et al., 2010). However, they are not without their limitations due to the unnatural and standardised conditions. Short-term incubations, such as those carried out in this study, only measure the initial response of soil GHG processes to changes in temperature and therefore may not reflect the effect of longterm changes in temperature (Li et al., 2012). Soil is also disturbed during sample preparation as a result of sieving, homogenising and removing roots, and this may alter the soil structure and environment resulting in artificial aeration of soils which can affect soil atmosphere GHG exchange (Reichstein et al., 2005; Schaufler et al., 2010). Nonetheless, where reductionist laboratory experiments are required, using fresh sieved soils has been recommended as having the least impact on microbial communities and C cycling processes (Thomson et al., 2010).

2.5.1 Differences between transitions to broadleaved and coniferous species

Soil GHG fluxes are influenced by many natural and anthropogenic factors such as soil type, pH, nutrient status, forest type, stand age and land management (Morison et al., 2012), and therefore measurements are generally very variable reflecting the diversity of these factors. In this study, there were differences in CO₂ flux expressed by soil mass between coniferous and broadleaved soils, with no apparent change under coniferous tree species. However, once CO₂ flux had been expressed per g C to account for differences in soil C between land use type and across transitions, LUC from grassland to coniferous SRF resulted in greatly reduced CO₂ fluxes while in the broadleaf SRF CO₂ fluxes were generally unchanged. A reduction in CO₂ flux may be expected to be associated with lower decomposition rates and hence increased soil C concentration. Indeed, the reduced CO₂ fluxes in transitions from grassland to conifers (this study) and increased soil C concentration and C stocks (Keith et al., 2015) suggest that there is good potential for enhanced C storage under coniferous SRF as a bioenergy crop. The similar CO₂ fluxes and soil C concentration under grassland controls and broadleaved SRF suggests that, while there is less potential for soil C storage under this type of SRF, its overall effect will not be negative. This is supported by previous analysis of soil C in the same SRF transitions which showed that broadleaved species contained similar stocks of soil C to controls (Keith et al., 2015).

Other studies have also found mixed outcomes with respect to differences between conifer and broadleaved species. Brüggemann et al. (2005) found a similar pattern in a laboratory experiment measuring soil respiration from under different tree species with highest rates being measured from spruce soils in both the organic layers and Ah horizons compared to four deciduous species. In contrast to the results of this study and those of Brüggemann et al. (2005) soil respiration rates were found to be ~10 % lower in coniferous stands compared to adjacent deciduous stands in a review by Raich and Tufekciogul (2000). Results of some studies have been variable, for example Schaufler et al. (2010) looked at the effect of land use on soil GHG emissions under controlled laboratory conditions and discovered that tree species had variable effects on GHG flux rates, with CO_2 flux declining in the order of beech > pine > oak > spruce. Others have found no differences in CO₂ fluxes/respiration rates between coniferous and deciduous species types (Ladegaard-Pedersen et al., 2005; Subke et al., 2006; Wunderlich et al., 2012; Vesterdal et al., 2012). These variable findings suggest that how CO_2 flux is expressed may be important to the outcome determining whether there are broad differences between coniferous and broadleaved tree species. In this study the temperature sensitivity of CO₂ flux (for both soil mass and g C basis) was higher, though non-significant, in the coniferous soils at both depths, and lowest in broadleaved soils (Table. 2). In the grassland and coniferous soils the temperature response of respiration also increased at depth. C-rich coniferous soils are formed from high volumes of lignin-rich recalcitrant needle litter which decomposes slowly, leading to the formation of a thick C-rich humic layer (Morison et al., 2012). Mixed findings exist regarding the response of recalcitrant C to increased temperature (Chen et al., 2010) but generally it is thought that temperature sensitivity increases with recalcitrance of a substrate (Craine et al., 2010) as more energy is required for the enzymatic decomposition of recalcitrant substances than more labile substances (Davidson & Janssens, 2006).

Differences in N₂O fluxes were not significant but values suggested a potential for N2O consumption in the broadleaved compared to N2O production in the other land uses. The trend of higher emissions under coniferous compared to broadleaved species may in part be attributed to soil N availability, though this was not measured. Soil N availability is a key driver of soil N₂O emissions and it is known that coniferous stands receive more N via deposition than adjacent deciduous stands (Christiansen & Gundersen, 2011; Hansson et al., 2011). However, other studies indicate there may be higher N₂O production from broadleaved than coniferous forest soils (Ambus et al., 2006; Pilegarrd et al., 2006; Ullah et al., 2008) which highlights the complexity surrounding the multiple interacting drivers of soil N2O production and consumption (Butterbach-Bahl et al., 2013). CH4 was consumed under all land uses in this study but there were no significant differences in consumption rates. This is consistent with the knowledge that aerobic forest soils and grasslands are important terrestrial sinks for CH4 (Borken et al., 2003; Menyailo & Hungate, 1998). There was a trend towards greater methane consumption in broadleaved soils which follows the work of others. Our results showed that CH₄ oxidation rates were higher in the surface 0–15 cm soils which supports the notion that methanotrophy in forests has a sub-surface maximum in the upper soil layers (Hütsh, 1998; Adamsen & King, 1993).

Soil physico-chemical properties and soil microbial community characteristics were also found to differ between coniferous and broadleaved land uses following conversion to SRF. As expected soil acidity increased in the coniferous soils, but there was no change in pH between the control grassland and broadleaved soils. It is well known that growing conifers affects soil pH, by creating more acidic soil conditions due to the poorer quality of their litter inputs (Wedderburn & Carter, 1999; Peterken, 2001; Morsion et al., 2012). These acidic conditions created under coniferous tree species can inhibit microbial activity and reduce decomposition rates leading to potential increases in soil C (Morison et al., 2012). In this study, greater C concentrations were measured in the coniferous soils compared to the grassland control and broadleaved soils and, once PLFAs had been expressed per g C to account for differences in soil C, a reduction in total PLFA. However, biomass is not necessarily a direct measure of activity but related to a range of other factors including microbial community composition (Bardgett et al., 2008). Differences in microbial composition were also observed with higher fungal PLFA concentrations per g C in broadleaved soils compared to both grassland control and coniferous soils. Other authors have observed greater fungal PLFA under coniferous species compared to broadleaved species (Hackl et al., 2005). In contrast Priha et al. (2001) measured higher total PLFA and fungal PLFA in birch soil compared to pine or spruce soils. Nevertheless, these differences in soil physico-chemical and microbial characteristics may be important drivers of the GHG fluxes observed in this study.

2.5.2 Links between respiration and microbes across LUC transitions

In order to assess which variables were most strongly related to changes in CO₂ flux across LUC transitions in this study, effect sizes were assessed to determine whether changes in CO₂ flux were related to changes in soil pH and microbial community characteristics. While the effect sizes of soil pH significantly related to effect sizes of CO₂ flux, R-squared values were relatively low. In contrast, the positive relationships found between PLFA effect sizes and CO₂ effect sizes were stronger. In particular, reductions in CO₂ flux were strongly associated with reductions in total PLFA across

transitions. These data suggest that shifts in microbial communities across these LUC transitions have a greater impact than the direct effect of changes in soil pH.

Changes in the microbial communities observed due to LUC to SRF may be linked to impacts on microclimate and/or litter and root inputs (Prescott & Grayston, 2013). A study by Vesterdal et al. (2012) found different soil C turnover rates among six tree species (beech, lime, spruce, maple, ash, oak) despite having similar quantities of aboveground litterfall; the authors suggest that tree species have the greatest impact on soil C stocks via the indirect effects of litter quality on microbial activity and decomposition rates. Although not measured, the tree species in this study are likely to have had similar differences in litter quality. The quality of tree inputs from litter and rhizodeposition also vary due to differences in plant chemistry between coniferous and broadleaf species which in turn influences soil microbial composition and more specifically the relative abundance of fungi and bacteria. Clear differences in the abundance of soil fungal and bacterial PLFAs were observed in this study between land uses, with higher concentration per g C of both measured in the broadleaved compared to the coniferous soils. Fungi are considered to promote slower decomposition cycles with increased nutrient retention (Wardle et al., 2004) and are important for degrading more complex substrates compared to bacteria (Rousk & Bååth, 2011). As in this case, differences in the composition of the microbial communities (e.g. the relative abundance of fungi and bacteria) have been shown to influence CO₂ fluxes from soil in other studies (Kant et al., 2011; Whitaker et al., 2014).

2.6 Conclusion

SRF is a growing bioenergy land use in temperate climates which has the potential for reduced GHG emissions and increased C storage but understanding of its effects on these factors is limited. Comprehensive data on C changes associated with LUC to bioenergy crops are essential to be able to assess their sustainability. This study provides evidence that LUC to SRF for bioenergy could lead to GHG savings through reduced C loss via soil respiration. These findings strongly suggest that careful consideration should be given to the selection of SRF species in order to optimise soil C storage and GHG reduction.

Changes in land use and management has significant impacts on the microbial community, and there is a challenge to better understand the effect of LUC to bioenergy on GHG fluxes and their relationship with the soil microbial community. Here, lower soil CO₂ fluxes under SRF appeared to be associated with reductions in microbial biomass and changes in broad community composition (i.e. bacteria and fungi). Consequently, both direct and indirect effects of planting SRF on the soil microbial community may be important mechanisms by which GHG emissions are reduced.

Chapter 3: Differential effects of tree species considered for SRF on soil GHG fluxes

Kim Parmar^{1, 2}, Aidan M. Keith¹, Saran P. Sohi², Niall P. McNamara¹

¹Centre for Ecology and Hydrology, Lancaster Environment Centre, Library Avenue, Bailrigg, LA1 4AP, UK

²School of Geosciences, The University of Edinburgh, Crew Building, The Kings Buildings Edinburgh, EH9 3JN, UK

Declaration of contribution

This field based study was planned and carried out by Kim Parmar with fieldwork assistance from Dr Aidan Keith, Dr Rachel Marshall and Andrew Fitton. The construction of litter bags and all laboratory analyses were carried out by Kim Parmar, with the exception of the NH4⁺/NO3⁻ measurements which were made by Benjamin Jackson. Data were analysed with help from Dr Aidan Keith and the chapter was written by Kim Parmar and reviewed and commented on by Dr Aidan Keith, Dr Niall McNamara and Dr Saran Sohi.

3.1 Abstract

Short Rotation Forestry (SRF) could be used to meet biomass requirements in the future. Although not currently widespread in the UK, a suite of species is under consideration for SRF including a range of coniferous and broadleaved species. It is important to identify and understand tree species effects on soil greenhouse gas (GHG) fluxes so that informed decisions can be made regarding suitable SRF to ensure genuine GHG emissions savings in the future.

Plots at the Gisburn Experimental Forest site, north-west England, were studied over 16 months to investigate the influence of LUC from grassland to tree species that could be grown as SRF, on soil GHG fluxes (CH₄ & N₂O) and net CO₂ flux from soil and understorey. GHG's were sampled from stands of common alder (*Alnus glutinosa*), Scots pine (*Pinus sylvestris*), Sitka spruce (*Picea sitchensis*) and rough grassland on a monthly basis from May 2013 to August 2014.

Lower CH₄ and lower net CO₂, and higher N₂O emissions were recorded under SRF compared to the grassland. There were also significant differences between tree species in net CO₂ and N₂O fluxes which switched through time. There was an interactive effect of tree species and sampling time for N₂O fluxes; common alder treatments exhibited greatest N₂O emission from May-July but Sitka spruce had greatest N₂O emission from August onwards. Net CO₂ fluxes were driven largely by soil temperature. Random spatial effects explained a large proportion of the variation in soil CH₄ flux. Whereas N₂O flux was driven by habitat and the interaction between habitat and water table depth.

Using this method it has been demonstrated that LUC from grassland to SRF can lead to lower soil emissions of CH₄, indicating a potential benefit to C sustainability, however, it has also been demonstrated that increases in N₂O must be considered with respect to climate abatement. The interactive effects between tree species and season on N₂O emissions also suggest that SRF species must be considered carefully for future GHG mitigation. Future work should focus on whether these patterns are consistent across other soil types and geographical zones.

3.2 Introduction

Land use change (LUC) to bioenergy crops is likely to be an important component of the strategy to meet growing energy demands whilst meeting UK greenhouse gas (GHG) emission reduction targets and European renewable energy targets (DECC, 2012). Compared to other renewable energy sources, bioenergy is more cost-effective making it an attractive option to meet targets (POST, 2012). To date, there has been strong environmental rationale for supporting bioenergy as a fossil fuel alternative as it has the potential to deliver genuine GHG savings (Hastings et al., 2009; Rowe et al., 2009; Thornley et al., 2015) but the belief that it is "carbon neutral" due to the C accumulated during biomass growth being released during burning is now recognised as an oversimplification (Field et al., 2008; Ter-Mikaelian et al., 2015). In fact, pre-harvest emissions could potentially offset any C savings via reduced fossil fuel use and therefore any loss of C could increase the risk of bioenergy crops becoming carbon positive (Don et al., 2011). There is a clear need to quantify the effects of planting perennial bioenergy crops on soil C and the GHG balance (Don et al., 2011; Keith et al., 2015) and to date there are few, if any, long-term data sets available.

Short-Rotation Forestry (SRF) is a perennial woody crop which has potential as a bioenergy crop. SRF differs from conventional commercial forestry in that high density plantations of fast-growing single stemmed broadleaved or coniferous species are grown on shorter rotational lengths and harvested for biomass when a breast height of 10–20 cm has been reached (Hardcastle et al., 2006; McKay, 2011). Previous land use and tree type could impact the direction and magnitude of the effect of LUC to woody bioenergy on soil C accumulation and GHG exchange (Guo & Gifford 2002; Laganiere et al. 2010; Keith et al., 2015). A meta-analysis carried out by Harris et al. (2015) to quantify the effects of LUC to second generation bioenergy crops, found that changes in soil C were dependent on the original land use (arable, forest or grassland). Harris et al. (2015) found that LUC from arable crops to bioenergy crops resulted in increased soil C, LUC from forestry to bioenergy resulted

in decreased soil C, and LUC from grassland to bioenergy showed variable results which were transition dependent. The authors found insufficient data to carry out the meta-analysis for soil GHG emissions, but reported trends showed a reduction in soil GHG emissions following LUC from arable to bioenergy, a general increase in GHG emissions following LUC from grassland to bioenergy and a clear increase in GHG emissions following LUC from forestry to bioenergy. However, there was very limited data available on grassland transitions, and no data available on LUC to SRF (Harris et al., 2015).

SRF species type could have an impact on the direction and magnitude of soil GHG emissions and soil C storage potential, mainly due to differences in tree species inputs and effects on soil properties, and particularly in regard to coniferous and broadleaved species. A recent study by Keith et al. (2015) measuring changes in soil C following LUC from grasslands to SRF across 11 sites in the UK, found greater soil C accumulation under coniferous species compared to broadleaved species. Transitions to eucalypts showed a trend, albeit insignificant, towards soil C loss whereas transitions to broadleaved species resulted in no change from the agricultural land use but displayed the most variable response suggesting species related effects may be at play. A meta-analysis carried out by Guo and Gifford (2002) examining LUC effects on soil C, using 74 individual studies across 16 countries, also found that broadleaf plantations had little effect on soil C change while conifers reduced soil C by up to 12%. However, a study by Laganière et al. (2010) found broadleaved plantations to have a positive effect on soil C following transition from agricultural land to forestry compared to pine and Eucalyptus species. Vesterdal et al. (2013) conducted a review on tree species effects on soil C stocks in temperate forests and found many contrasting results and suggest that this is due to the existence of species-specific and site-specific influences. Due to these contrasting and variable results, a study carried out at a single site with a range of tree species, similar to common garden experiments by Reich et al. (2005), Trum et al. (2011) and Vesterdal et al. (2008, 2012), could help to clarify species-specific effects on soil C and soil GHG emissions following LUC to SRF.

Tree species directly affect soil physical, chemical and biological properties due to differences in the quantity, quality (C/N ratio, N content, lignin) and decomposition rates (faster in broadleaved species compared to coniferous) of litter inputs, and as a result of differences in root litter inputs and root architecture, all of which in turn influence nutrient turnover rates, soil structure, soil moisture content and GHG exchange (Hansson et al. 2011; Vesterdal et al., 2008). Ambus and Zechmeister-Boltenstern (2007) reported increased nutrient turnover rates and microbial activity from broadleaf soils compared to coniferous soils. Changes in water table levels and subsequent soil aeration can have a significant effect on soil GHG emissions (Ball et al., 2007). Afforestation of organic soils in particular can cause an increase in water table depth, leading to a decrease in soil CH4 flux (Hughes et al., 1999). Jungkunst et al. (2004) found highest N₂O emissions from soils with intermediate aeration, as a consequence of having water tables in the depth range of 15-35 cm.

European forest ecosystems are predicted to act as significant GHG sinks (Schulze et al., 2010) as afforestation is seen as a means of mitigating rising CO₂ levels in the atmosphere by means of increased C storage in soil and biomass (Christiansen & Gundersen, 2011). Trees absorb CO₂ from the atmosphere via photosynthesis, much of this is released again via heterotrophic and autotropic respiration and the remainder is allocated to leaves, roots, stems and branches which can lead to above and belowground C storage (Morison et al., 2012). Soil C stocks are controlled by the balance between inputs (via litterfall, root exudates) and the outputs via microbial decomposition and subsequent soil respiration (Vesterdal et al., 2012). Although CO₂ emissions contribute the largest percentage to global GHG emissions afforestation can also affect the dynamics of soil/atmosphere CH₄ and N₂O exchange. These two gases are of particular importance due to their higher global warming potentials (GWPs) (34 and 298 for CH₄ and N₂O respectively) compared to CO₂.

Soil CH₄ fluxes result from the microbial processes of methanogensis (production), which generally occurs under anaerobic conditions, and methanotrophy (consumption) which generally occurs in aerobic conditions. Afforestation is known to generally promote methanotrophy (Smith et al., 2000) as forest soils are usually quite porous and therefore more aerated which provides a soil environment more favourable for CH₄ consumption (Christiansen & Gundersen, 2011), although CH₄ uptake can be suppressed in soils where there is high available N (Reay & Neadwell, 2004; Reay et al., 2005). In forest systems where the soils have a high organic content and high water table levels, significant CH₄ emissions may be produced via methanogensis despite increased soil porosity (Don et al, 2011). Some studies have shown greater CH₄ uptake from broadleaved soils compared to coniferous soils and attributed this to reduced diffusion potential in coniferous soils due to the presence of a deep soil organic layer (Hudgens & Yavitt, 1997; Butterbach-Bahl & Papen, 2002; Borken et al., 2006; Degelmann et al., 2009).

Nitrous oxide (N₂O) from soil is produced via two primary pathways, nitrification and denitrification (Khalil *et al.*, 2004; Wrage *et al.*, 2005; Gillam *et al.*, 2008). Nitrification is dominant under aerobic conditions, whereas under increasingly anaerobic conditions denitrification is the dominant pathway (Bateman & Baggs, 2005). Nitrous oxide production is also constrained by temperature, inorganic-N content, pH and the form and concentration of labile C (Hofstra & Bouwman, 2005). Temperate forest soils may be a significant source of N₂O, estimated to emit up to 8.07 kg N₂O-N ha⁻¹ yr⁻¹ (Dalal and Allen, 2008). The effect of forest type (coniferous or broadleaved) on N₂O emissions is uncertain (Christiansen and Gundersen, 2011) and soil N status rather than forest type may be a greater driver of this flux (Liu and Greaver, 2009).

It is important to quantify soil GHG fluxes in order to evaluate sustainability and viability of LUC to SRF and to determine which tree species offer the best GHG savings. However, there are limited data regarding soil-atmosphere GHG exchange following LUC to SRF. For example, Keith et al. (2015) estimated changes in soil and

aboveground C across a range of SRF transitions but didn't examine changes in soil GHGs. Earlier work (Chapter 2) using the same transitions as Keith et al. (2015) showed differences in laboratory GHG potentials between SRF and grassland, and differences between tree types. Here, we describe in situ GHG fluxes over a 16 month period under different SRF species (common alder, Scots pine, and Sitka spruce) and make comparisons to the original ungrazed rough grassland land use. Whilst net CO2 flux from soil and understorey is reported here, we are unable to separate contributions from different components of respiration [Soil respiration was measured in mesocosms from Gisburn habitats in the absence of plants in Chapter 4]. We hypothesised that 1) LUC from rough ungrazed grassland to SRF would reduce soil CH4 emissions through lower water table depth and conditions more favourable for soil CH4 consumption, and increase N2O emissions because of increased N availability and lower water table, 2) there would be differences in soil GHG fluxes between tree species, and 3) different soil and environmental variables will be the key drivers of soil GHG fluxes under different tree species. Overall, we would like the information derived from this work to be used in tree species selection for SRF that provides the greatest soil GHG savings.

3.3 Materials and methods

3.3.1 Site description

This field study was carried out at Gisburn Forest experimental site in the NW England (54° 1′ N; 2°22 W) which was established in 1955 and is managed by the Forestry Commission. This long-term, fully replicated and randomised plot experiment (Fig. 3.1) is located on a gentle southwest facing slope and ranges in altitude from 260-290 m above sea level. The underlying geology consists of Carboniferous grits, shales and sandstones overlain by acid clayey till. Soils are predominantly cambic stagnogleys and stagnohumic gleys (Avery, 1980), with variation in depth to clay horizon between experimental blocks (Moffat and Boswell, 1990). The mean annual rainfall (1981-2010) is 1294 mm with an average 168 days of rain per year (Met Office Climate Data for Stonyhurst Weather Station, Lancashire).

Due to the combined effect of high rainfall and the presence of clayey soils the site is poorly drained with a projected soil moisture deficit of approximately 100 mm (Mason & Connolly, 2014). The original Gisburn experimental design consisted of three blocks containing pure and mixed 0.2 ha plots of Sessile Oak (Quercus petraea), Scots pine (Pinus sylvestris), Norway spruce (Picea abies), common alder (Alnus glutinosa) with a rough ungrazed grassland control (Festuca-Agrostis with Nardus stricta, Fig. 3.2C), and was fully fenced to keep deer and rabbits out (Fig 3.1). For the purposes of this study only the pure plots of Scots pine, Sitka spruce, common alder and the grassland controls were used from each block (the use of the term 'habitat' throughout this chapter refers to the different land covers including Scots pine, Sitka spruce, common alder and grassland). The site was clear felled in 1989 due to wind throw and replanted in the original design in 1991, but with the addition of Sitka spruce (*Picea sitchensis*). Prior to replanting in 1991 the plots were ploughed, resulting in a local microtopography consisting of a planting ridge with a hollow (trough) on one side and an undisturbed flat area on the other. No fertilisers have been applied to the soils at or since establishment. Weed control using propyzamide and glyphosate was carried out between 1992 and 1996 (Mason & Connolly, 2014). Understory cover varied in the SRF plots, with almost full grass/moss cover in the common alder, ~ 70% grassy cover in the Scots pine, but no ground cover in the Sitka spruce plots (Fig. 3.2A, B, D, E & F). Soil properties for different habitats are summarised in Table 3.1.



Figure 3.1. Map of Gisburn Forest experimental site in Lancashire. Dashed squares are individual plots; black dots indicate GHG static chamber locations within each sampled plot. Sitka spruce plots have been added by hand as there were not part of the original design.

Table 3.1. Summary of soil properties under rough grassland, Scots pine, Sitka spruce and common alder at the Gisburn Forest experimental site. Bulk density, C, N, C:N ratio and C stock data were calculated from 15 cm deep cores taken as part of the Ecosystem Land Use Modelling dataset which was gathered in 2012, n = 15 (Keith et al., 2015). Values for pH and organic layer depth were calculated from cores collected monthly over the duration of this field study, n =108. Concentrations of ammonium (NH₄⁺) and nitrate (NO₃⁻) were calculated from soil cores collected during this field study in May '13, August '13, November '13, February '14, May '14, n = 108. Values in parentheses represent standard errors.

| | grassland | Scots pine | Sitka spruce | common alder |
|----------------------------------------------|------------------|------------------|------------------|------------------|
| Bulk Density | 0.45 (± 0.06) | 0.47 (± 0.07) | 0.43 (± 0.10) | 0.45 (± 0.06) |
| рН | 4.68 (± 0.15) | 4.12 (± 0.28) | 4.28 (± 0.16) | 4.00 (± 0.15) |
| Carbon (%) | 7.61 (± 1.36) | 13.72 (± 2.25) | 17.80 (± 4.62) | 11.38 (± 0.96) |
| Nitrogen (%) | 0.57 (± 0.08) | 0.74 (± 0.08) | 0.80 (± 0.15) | 0.75 (± 0.05) |
| C:N Ratio | 12.93 (± 0.85) | 18.10 (± 1.26) | 20.69 (± 1.96) | 15.15 (± 0.37) |
| C Stock (t C ha ⁻¹) (0-30 cm) | 117.20 (± 46.30) | 146.80 (± 45.70) | 143.40 (± 43.70) | 122.30 (± 25.70) |
| GMC (%) | 49.55 (± 4.70) | 51.22 (± 0.02) | 33.31 (± 1.89) | 41.68 (± 4.70) |
| Organic layer depth (cm) | 2.32 (± 0.13) | 2.76 (± 0.13) | 4.35 (± 0.18) | 2.22 (± 0.15) |
| NO₃⁻-N (mg kg⁻¹) | 0.83 (± 0.16) | 0.73 (± 0.16) | 0.81 (± 0.29) | 1.94 (± 0.26) |
| NH₄⁺-N (mg kg⁻¹) | 22.25 (± 2.82) | 20.29 (± 2.43) | 23.24 (± 3.46) | 17.75 (± 1.71) |

3.3.2 Methods

3.3.2.1 GHG fluxes

Soil GHG measurements (CH₄ and N₂O) and net CO₂ flux from soil and understorey were made using the static opaque chamber method adapted from Livingston and

Hutchinson (1995). The net CO₂ flux includes aerobic and anaerobic decomposition processes, respiration of other soil organisms, total dark respiration of ground vegetation and root respiration of trees where present (Yamulki et al. 2013). Three PVC chambers (40 cm w x 20 cm h) were installed to a depth of ~ 5 cm in each of the Sitka spruce, Scots pine (Fig. 3.2A), common alder and rough grassland plots within each of the three blocks (total 36 chambers) in May 2013. Within each of the 45 x 45 m plots the central quadrant, representing 20% of the total plot area, was excluded from sampling at the request of Forest Research. One corner of each plot (representing 25% of total plot area) was randomly selected to position GHG chambers (Fig. 3.1). As the corners of each plot were directed approximately to the cardinal compass points one of these were randomly selected for each plot using the *sample* function in the *base* package in R (R Development Core Team, 2011). At each plot corner, the first chamber was positioned 8 m from the selected corner to avoid edge effects, and a second and third chamber were positioned 10 m away from, and perpendicular to, the corner chamber (Fig. 3.1). All of the chambers remained in the soil for the 18 month duration of field sampling. Following chamber installation a settling period of one week was allowed before first sampling took place. Sampling took place approximately every four weeks from May 15th 2013 to August 13th 2014 by enclosing each chamber with a reflective aluminium lid fitted with a rubber seal to prevent leakage and a self-sealing rubber septa. Between the hours of 11:00 and 14:00 on the day of sampling, 10-ml headspace gas samples were collected using a needle and syringe every 15 minutes over a 45 minute enclosure period into pre-evacuated 3-ml exetainers (Labco, Lampeter, UK). We acknowledge that GHG fluxes can vary diurnally and, in particular, that net CO₂ fluxes may be overestimated (Tang et al. 2005; Yamulki et al. 2013).Gas samples were analysed for CO2, CH4 and N2O concentrations on a PerkinElmer Autosystem XL Gas Chromatograph (GC) (PerkinElmer, Waltham, MA, USA) with flame ionization detector and electron capture detector fitted with a Poropack Q column operated at 60 °C with an argon carrier gas. Certified gas standards (Air Products, Crewe, UK) within the range of the samples being analysed (497, 1063, 4110 ppm CO₂, 1.07, 3.03, 10.26 ppm CH₄ and 0.41, 0.99 and 2.04 ppm N₂O) were used to calibrate the GC. Gas fluxes (CO₂, CH₄ and N₂O) which were calculated using the approach of Holland et al. (1999) by plotting the linear accumulation of each gas over the 45 minute enclosure period.

3.3.2.2 Climatic measures

At each sampling time micro-environmental conditions were measured along with the GHG samples at each chamber location. Soil temperatures were recorded using a Tiny Tag temperature logger with internal stab probe (Gemini Data Loggers, Chichester, UK), soil temperature was measured at a depth of 7 cm. Volumetric soil moisture was measured to a depth of 6 cm using a ML2x Theta Probe and HH2 Meter (Delta T Devices, Cambridge, UK) at three locations around each chamber from which a mean was calculated. Continuous measurements of precipitation were made from an automated WXT 520 weather station (Vaisala, Vantaa, Finland) which was installed in the grassland in block 2.

3.3.2.3 Soil sampling and processing

Soil cores (5 cm × 15 cm) were collected adjacent to (within 2 m) each chamber location on each sampling date (May 2013 – May 2014) and returned to the laboratory where they were stored at 4° C. Soil samples were used to determine the depth of the soil organic layer, soil pH, gravimetric soil moisture and available N (NH₄+-N and NO₃-N) (5 months only; May 2013, August 2013, November 2013, February 2014, May 2014).

To determine pH, fresh sub-samples were sieved to 2 mm to remove stones and roots and then 10 g of soil was mixed well with 25-ml of deionised water and allowed to stand for 30 minutes, before the pH of the liquid layer was recorded using a Hanna pH 210 Benchtop Meter (Hanna Instruments, Woonsocket, RI, USA). Gravimetric moisture was determined from a 10 g subsample placed in an oven at 105° C for 24 hours. Inorganic N concentration was determined by extraction with 6% KCl extraction. The extracts were analysed for NH₄⁺-N and NO₃-N colourimetrically using an AQ2 discrete analyser (Seal Analytical, Southampton, UK).

3.3.2.4 Litter input and decomposition

Litter input was measured using litter interception trays (50 cm \times 50 cm) (Stewart Garden, Banbury, UK) installed adjacent to each chamber from June 2013. Litter was collected from the trays monthly, bagged and returned to the laboratory where it was dried in a controlled temperature room at 30° C until a constant mass was achieved.

Litter decomposition was measured over 11 months from October 2013 to September 2014 using litterbags (Fig. 3.2E and 3.2F). The 10 cm \times 10 cm litterbags were constructed from 1 mm nylon mesh (PlastOK, Birkenhead, UK) and filled with 3 g of air-dried litter which had been collected from the SRF plots in September 2013. The litterbags were sealed using a heat sealer, tagged with individual numbers and then pinned to the soil surface using metal pins in the litter layer at each chamber location. Litterbags were removed after 1, 3, 6, 9 and 11 months, returned to the laboratory where litter was carefully removed from the bags and then dried at 80° C for 24 hours to determine mass loss. A decomposition constant was derived for each plot by regression of the log of litter mass remaining against years.

3.3.2.5 Water table depth

Water table depth was measured on each sampling date using dip wells (Fig. 3.2D). Dip wells made from 1.5 m lengths of PVC pipe with 6 mm holes drilled at 5 cm intervals (from 0-1 m) to allow water in were installed using a pneumatic corer to 1 m depth in each plot at a location roughly equidistant from each of the three static chambers.

3.3.2.6 Data processing and statistical analyses

To estimate a GWP for each habitat, soil fluxes of CH₄ and N₂O were converted to CO₂ equivalents based on their GWPs of 34 and 298 respectively according to the 100year time-frame (IPCC, 2013), and then added to the CO₂ flux. A cumulative measure for monthly GHG fluxes and the derived GWP as CO₂ equivalents were calculated for each habitat by summing data from each plot across all sampling dates. A mean value for N₂O flux as a percentage of GWP was also calculated for each plot.

Linear mixed effects models were used to examine the differences between habitats using the nlme package. The effect of habitat on summed GHG, soil and litter decomposition variables was tested with a random effect for block. Differences between habitats were tested using post-hoc multiple comparison tests with the 'ghlt' function in the 'multcomp' package (Hothorn et al., 2008). The effect of tree species, time and their interaction on GHG fluxes was tested with a random effect for block and plot nested within block; these analyses included only tree species data (i.e. no grassland).

Drivers of GHG fluxes were explored by plotting GHG data from all sampling months against measured variables (soil temperature, soil pH, volumetric moisture, water table depth and litterfall). The relative importance of habitat and soil variables as explanatory variables for GHG fluxes was examined following Chen et al. (2015). Initial models contained fixed effects for habitat, soil temperature, soil pH, volumetric moisture, water table depth, litterfall, and interactions between habitat and these variables, and random effects for block and plot nested within block. Estimating the proportion of variance (R²) explained by the fixed, random, and residual effects was conducted using the rsquared.lme function by Jon Lefcheck (R code available at < http://jonlefcheck.net/2013/03/13/r2-for-linear-mixed-effects-models/ >). The total R² of fixed effects was assigned to factors using the pamer.fnc function from the 'LMERConvenienceFunctions' package. The relative importance of different drivers of soil GHGs was subsequently examined under each habitat separately. The relationship between N₂O flux and rainfall at 24, 48 and 72 hours prior to GHG sampling was tested to assess rainfall lag effects.



Figure 3.2. Examples of plots and set-up at Gisburn Forest Experimental site. (A) Static chamber on a planting ridge in the Scots pine plot in Block 3, (B) Static opaque chamber in a trough of the common alder plot in Block 3, (C) Block 1 grassland with Sitka spruce plot in the background, (D) Water table dipwell in the Sitka spruce plot in Block 2; also shows lack of understory cover and dense litter cover, (E) Freshly placed litter bags in Block 3 common alder plot; also shows understory and litter cover, and (F) Litter bags in Block 2 Scots pine; also indicating grassy understory and pine needle cover. All images taken by Kim Parmar, 2013/2014.

3.4 Results

3.4.1 LUC impacts on soil GHG fluxes across tree species

There was an effect of habitat on net CO₂ flux ($F_{3,30}$ = 19.89, p < 0.001) and cumulative fluxes were lower under all SRF species compared to the grassland. The greatest difference in net CO₂ flux following LUC was observed in the pine soils (p < 0.001), followed by alder soils (p < 0.001) then Sitka soils (p < 0.001). Despite this variation, there was only a significant difference in net CO₂ flux between Sitka and pine (p = 0.015) (Fig. 3.1A).



grassland Scots pine Sitka spruce common alder

Figure 3.1. Cumulative net greenhouse gas fluxes to atmosphere for all habitats, summed from 16 monthly *in situ* gas measurements. Data are presented for individual gases in fluxes of net CO₂-C, CH₄-C and N₂O-N. Significantly different (P < 0.05) mean values are indicated by different letters; error bars represent standard error.

LUC from grassland to SRF resulted in the soil system becoming a small sink for CH₄ with the greatest consumption of CH₄ measured in soils under pine. Alder and Sitka soils had a similar CH₄ sink strength to each other but grassland soil was generally a minor source of CH₄ (Fig. 3.1B).

In contrast to the CH₄ and net CO₂ results, LUC to SRF resulted in the soils becoming significant sources of N₂O ($F_{3,30}$ = 35.06, p < 0.001) with highest cumulative emissions recorded from soils under Sitka spruce. Although N₂O emissions were not as high from the common alder or Scots pine soils they were significantly higher than the grassland but significantly lower than the Sitka spruce N₂O emissions (Fig. 3.1C)

3.4.2 Differences between SRF species through time

There were differences in net CO₂ flux between SRF species ($F_{2,22}$ = 8.15, p = 0.002) and sampling date ($F_{15,360}$ = 67.16, p < 0.001) (Table 3.2; Figure 3.2A). Fig. 3.2A illustrates the apparent seasonal differences in net CO₂ fluxes with emissions peaking in the summer months before declining in the winter under all SRF species. The variation between species in terms of when fluxes increase and decrease across the sampling period, was supported by a significant interaction between species and sampling date ($F_{30,360}$ = 11.33, p < 0.001; Table 3.2).

Although there was no difference between species ($F_{2,22} = 12.20$, p = 0.398; Table 3.2) there was an effect of sampling date on soil CH₄ fluxes ($F_{15,360} = 5.02$, p < 0.001; Table 3.2) illustrated in Fig. 3.2B. Despite the lack of a significant interaction between date and species ($F_{30,360} = 0.79$, p = 0.785; Table 3.2), there did appear to be species-related patterns. In the grassland CH₄ flux is either negative or positive depending on the time of year, with most of the consumption occurring in summer months and production in the autumn, winter and spring. The SRF soils were net sinks for CH₄ but were variable in terms of net consumption with peaks occurring in October 2013, March 2014 and July 2014 and a general decline in consumption in the winter months across all tree species.

| | Tree species (T) | Sampling date (S) | T×S |
|--------------------|------------------|-------------------|-----|
| CO ₂ -C | * | *** | *** |
| $CH_4 - C$ | NS | *** | NS |
| N_2O-N | * | *** | *** |

Table 3.2. Summary statistics for the effects of tree species, sampling date and their interaction

on soil GHG fluxes and net CO₂, NS = not significant, * = $p \le 0.05$, *** = $p \le 0.001$



Figure. 3.2. Soil GHG fluxes for all habitats over 16 months. (A) net CO₂, (B) CH₄, (C) N₂O. Error bars represent standard error; n = 9.

Soil N₂O flux was strongly affected by sampling date ($F_{15,360} = 4.16$, p < 0.001) as well as by species type ($F_{15,360} = 8.05$, p = 0.002), with emissions declining in the late autumn through to early spring (Fig. 3.2C). The interaction between species and sampling date ($F_{30,360} = 11.33$, p < 0.001) highlights the variation between tree species with regard to when emissions increase and decrease. N₂O emissions from common alder soils reached their highest in May 2013, and was similar to the peak in August 2014. Sitka spruce soils, which emitted the greatest amount of N₂O across the sampling period peaked in August 2013 and May 2014.

3.4.3 Litterfall and litter decomposition

Over the 12 month period in which litterfall quantity was measured cumulative values of the mass of dry litter collected from the interception trays decreased in the order of Scots pine (5481.52 g m⁻²) > common alder (4291.64 g m⁻²) > Sitka spruce (3533.88 g m⁻²) > grassland (186.44 g m⁻²). As well as species variation in litter mass input there was also temporal variation apparent (Fig. 3.3). The litterfall for Scots pine increased between June and July 2013 before reaching its maximum in August 2013 (207.84 g m⁻²), from which point litterfall started to decline fairly steadily until November 2013. The opposite occurred in common alder plots where there was minimal litterfall until September 2013 after which point litterfall increased until it peaked in November 2013 (232.24 g m⁻²) before decreasing to near-zero in December 2013. Generally, litterfall in the Sitka spruce plots was very low (2.8–106.02 g m⁻²) but consistent throughout the year, there were small peaks in input in July 2013, October 2013 and December 2013. There was little or no litterfall in the grassland plots regardless of sampling date (0 – 14.12 g m⁻²).



Figure 3.3. Litterfall data for all species. Data represents mean mass of litter collected from the litter interception trays and dried at 30 °C. Error bars represent standard error, n = 9.

There were differences (p < 0.001) between tree species in final litter mass remaining over the 337 day period for which litter bags were in-place in the field, decreasing in the order of common alder (57%) > Scots pine (64%) > Sitka spruce (74%) (Fig. 3.4A). As well as there being differences in the total mass remaining between species, the dynamics of mass loss varied between the tree species over the 11 month period. After 30 days there was no difference in mass remaining between Scots pine and Sitka spruce (p = 0.960) but thereafter there were generally significant differences between all species, with the exception of Scots pine and common alder after 180 days (p = 0.092). Annual decomposition constants (*k*) showed that after 11 months there was no difference between common alder and Scots pine (p = 0.20) with regard to litter decomposition. However, the decomposition constant of Sitka spruce was significantly lower (p < 0.001) than both the Scots pine and common alder litters (Fig. 3.4B).



Figure 3.4. (A) Mass of litter remaining in litterbags extracted from the field for each tree species after 30, 90, 180 and 337 days. (B) Annual decomposition constants (k) for each litter species. Error bars represent standard error (n = 9).

3.4.4 Drivers of soil GHG fluxes under different habitats

Habitat and the interactions between habitat and measured variables were important drivers of GHGs and explained 17% of variation for net CO₂, 14% of variation for CH₄ and 26% of variation for N₂O (Table 3.3). For net CO₂ and N₂O fluxes the most important driving interactions were between habitat and soil temperature and habitat and water table depth. Whereas, habitat and soil moisture, and habitat and litterfall were the greatest driving interactions for CH₄ flux (Table 3.3). The highest unexplained variation (residuals) applied to N₂O flux, this was similar for CH₄ but

there was a lot less unexplained variation in the net CO₂ flux due to a large percentage being explained by soil temperature (Table 3.3).

| | | CO ₂ | D ₂ CH ₄ | | N | N ₂ O | |
|-------------------------|-------|-----------------|--------------------------------|--------|-------|------------------|--|
| | % | Р | % | Р | % | Р | |
| FIXED EFFECTS | | | | | | | |
| Habitat | 6.14 | <0.001 | 5.05 | <0.001 | 8.34 | <0.001 | |
| Soil Temp. | 42.82 | <0.001 | 5.12 | <0.001 | 3.83 | <0.001 | |
| рН | 1.13 | <0.001 | 0.66 | 0.106 | 0.11 | 0.481 | |
| Soil moisture | 0.12 | 0.266 | 3.12 | <0.001 | 1.07 | 0.026 | |
| Water table depth | 0.00 | 0.973 | 2.06 | 0.005 | 0.75 | 0.062 | |
| Litterfall | 0.62 | 0.012 | 0.36 | 0.230 | 0.13 | 0.440 | |
| Habitat × Soil temp. | 6.17 | <0.001 | 1.55 | 0.106 | 3.50 | 0.001 | |
| Habitat × pH | 0.76 | 0.054 | 1.85 | 0.064 | 0.46 | 0.540 | |
| Habitat × Soil moisture | 0.63 | 0.095 | 2.44 | 0.022 | 1.61 | 0.059 | |
| Habitat × Water table | 2.49 | <0.001 | 0.95 | 0.287 | 10.93 | <0.001 | |
| Habitat × Litterfall | 1.17 | 0.008 | 2.64 | 0.016 | 1.41 | 0.088 | |
| RANDOM EFFECTS | | | | | | | |
| Block/Plot | 9.09 | | 20.21 | | 11.41 | | |
| RESIDUALS | 28.83 | | 53.98 | | 56.43 | | |

Table 3.3. The percentage of variation (as determined by linear mixed models) in soil GHG fluxes and net CO₂ flux as explained by habitat, measured variables and their interactions at Gisburn Forest experimental site.
Focusing on habitat-specific drivers of GHGs it is evident that the influence of certain variables on fluxes is species dependent (Fig. 3.5). In the grassland habitat, most of the variation in net CO₂ flux was explained by soil temperature and sampling location (block & plot), soil pH and litterfall also contributed in small proportions (Fig. 3.5A). For CH₄ in grassland, variation was mostly generally explained by sampling location, there was also some influence of soil moisture, water table depth, pH, soil temperature and litterfall (Fig. 3.5B). There was no effect of sampling location on N₂O fluxes in grassland where N₂O was mostly driven by moisture, both as percentage soil moisture and depth to water table, and by soil pH (Fig. 3.5C).

Soil temperature and spatial effects (block & plot) were also the greatest drivers of net CO_2 flux in the Scots pine habitat. Of the other measured variables, only water table depth appeared to have any influence on net CO_2 fluxes in Scots pine (Fig. 3.5A). The spatial effects of block and plot were a key driver of CH_4 in the Scots pine habitat, explaining over half of the total variation in flux, and there were small but equal influences of litterfall, soil temperature, water table depth and soil moisture on Scots pine CH_4 fluxes (Fig. 3.5B). Soil N₂O fluxes were mostly driven by the spatial effects of block and plot and by soil temperature, soil moisture also had a small influence on N₂O flux (Fig. 3.5C).

In the Sitka spruce soils spatial variation and soil temperature affected net CO₂ equally and there was also a small effect of water table depth (Fig. 3.5A). CH₄ fluxes in the Sitka spruce plots were mostly driven by spatial variation but percentage soil moisture also had an effect (Fig. 3.5B). The spatial effects of block and plot and depth to water table were the most important drivers of N₂O flux from Sitka spruce soils, but there were also small effects of soil temperature and soil moisture (Fig. 3.5C).

Soil temperature was the greatest driver of net CO₂ fluxes in common alder soils (Fig. 3.5A) and only small amounts of variation were explained by water table depth and soil moisture. In contrast to the other habitats there was very little variation in soil GHGs explained by the spatial effects of block and plot (Fig. 3.5). Soil temperature and pH were stronger drivers of CH₄ fluxes in common alder soils compared to other

habitats and there was also a small effect of litterfall (Fig. 3.5B). Alder N₂O fluxes were driven by soil temperature, water table depth (Fig. 3.5C).

The variables measured did not explain all of the variation in soil GHG fluxes and for each habitat unexplained variation was captured in the residuals. For net CO₂ flux there was more than double the variation (71%) left unexplained in the Sitka spruce soils compared to the others. Common alder soils had the greatest amount of unexplained variation (75%) for CH₄ fluxes and Scots pine had far less unexplained variation in N₂O fluxes compared to grassland, common alder and Sitka spruce which were all over 60%.



Figure 3.5. Percentage variation (as determined by linear mixed models) in soil GHG fluxes as explained by measured variables in each habitat. (A) net CO₂ flux, (B) CH₄ flux, and (C) N₂O flux. Block & Plot were random factors in the model. Values for residuals have been omitted from these plots.

No effect of rainfall (mm) on N₂O flux was found considering lag times of 24 hr (P = 0.984), 48 hr (P = 0.858) and 72 hr (P = 0.951) prior to GHG sampling. N₂O fluxes from all species showed consistent rates irrespective of rainfall events in the 72 hours preceding measurements. (Appendix A.2.).

3.5 Discussion

3.5.1 How does LUC from grassland to SRF impact GHG emissions?

Land use change is the second largest source of anthropogenic GHG emissions, mainly due its effect on the cycling and storage of soil C and the soil-atmosphere exchange of CO₂, CH₄ and N₂O (Rounsevell & Reay, 2009; Arevalo et al., 2011; Don et al., 2011). Increased bioenergy production, as an alternative energy source to fossil fuels, may result in considerable LUC to SRF (amongst other bioenergy crops). As part of the rationale for growing bioenergy is that they can contribute to mitigating GHG emissions (Osborne & Jones, 2012) there is an urgent need to quantify the effects this could have on the GHG balance.

This study set out to examine the effects of LUC to SRF on soil GHG and net CO₂ fluxes at Gisburn experimental forest site in Lancashire, north-west England. It was expected that LUC to SRF would result in a reduction in CH₄ emissions and an increase soil N₂O emissions. Decreased CH₄ emissions were predicted due to the existence of conditions favourable for CH₄ consuming methanotrophic bacteria (Christiansen & Gundersen, 2011), increased soil diffusion of oxygen and lower water table depths (Ball et al. 2007). Increased N₂O emissions were expected due to higher levels of available N (Liu & Greaver, 2009), increased soil activity (Weslien et al., 2009), conditions favourable for N₂O producing microbial activity (Ambus et al., 2006), increased soil aeration due to lower water table and the presence of thick soil organic layers (Ball et al., 2007). Decreased CH₄ emissions and increased N₂O emissions were found in this study. All three tree species transitions resulted in a significant reduction in CH₄ fluxes compared to the ungrazed rough grassland, and there was a significant increase in soil N₂O emissions with species related differences in magnitude.

Decreased CO₂ emissions may be expected due to tree related increased recalcitrant C inputs above and below ground and slower litter decomposition rates (Morison et al., 2012). In this study, using the method described, a decrease in net CO₂ fluxes was

measured following LUC from ungrazed rough grassland to SRF. It was not possible, however, to separate the components of respiration and a large proportion of the net CO₂ flux measured may be due to dark respiration of grass. Grass was abundant in the alder and Scots pine but not in the Sitka spruce plots, and therefore care must be taken in drawing conclusions from the CO₂ flux results.

3.5.2 Are there differences in GHG fluxes between tree species following LUC and do they change over time?

It was predicted that there would be differences in GHG emissions following LUC between tree species due to known differences between broadleaved and coniferous species and as a result of N-fixation by common alder. While this was found to be true for net CO₂ and N₂O, there were no differences in CH₄ fluxes between tree species. The effect of sampling date on CO₂ and N₂O fluxes is well known as the microbial production of these gases is sensitive to temperature and moisture conditions which tend to be more favourable in the summer months (Davidson et al., 2002; Smith et al., 2003; Trumbore, 2006).

Of all natural systems, temperate forests have the highest CH₄ uptake potential (Skiba et al., 2009; Rowlings et al., 2012) with a mean rate of 3.6 kg CH₄-C ha⁻¹ y⁻¹ (Dalal & Allen, 2008) and a upper limit of 8.9 kg CH₄-C ha⁻¹ y⁻¹ (Bowden et al., 2000). Higher consumption rates are usually recorded in broadleaved compared to coniferous forests (Jang et al., 2006; Skiba et al., 2009). This is likely to be because of a reduction in diffusion capacity under conifers compared to broadleaves due to the presence of a thick surface organic layer, and because of the tree species influence on the abundance and composition of the methanotrophic microbial community (Butterbach-Bahl & Papen, 2002; Borken et al., 2006). In our study, net cumulative CH₄ consumption was found under all tree species, this was in contrast to net production in the grassland soils (0.13 kg CH₄-C ha⁻¹ y⁻¹). However, the mean CH₄ uptake rates at Gisburn Forest were below the global mean for temperate forests. This is not unusual, a recent study by Barrena et al. (2013) measuring soil GHG fluxes from forest soils in the Basque Country also found lower than average annual CH₄ uptake in mature

beech (1.26 kg CH₄-C ha⁻¹ y⁻¹), mature pine (0.59 kg CH₄-C ha⁻¹ y⁻¹) and Douglas fir (0.23 kg CH₄-C ha⁻¹ y⁻¹) soils. The authors attributed this to a lack of available mineral N due to the study sites being in an area of very low N deposition (5-7 kg N ha⁻¹ y⁻¹) which is thought to be a pre-requisite to induce CH₄ consumption (Bodelier & Laambroek, 2004). As well as below average CH₄ consumption rates, we also failed to find higher uptake in the broadleaved alder soils compared to the coniferous pine or Sitka soils, and in fact Sitka and alder had almost the same uptake rates. This is likely due to alder being an N-fixer which can lead to CH₄ uptake in soil being supressed by high levels of available N (Butterbach-Bahl et al., 1998; Reay & Nedwell, 2004). Nitrate levels in the alder soils in this study were 62% higher than in the pine, and 90% higher than in the Sitka soils. In contrast to the Basque Country location of the study by Barrena et al. (2013), the overall low CH₄ uptake rates across all species may be a result of Gisburn Forest being in an area of exceptionally high atmospheric N deposition (44.38 kg N ha⁻¹ yr⁻¹ for deposition years 2010-2012) (APIS, 2015).

The measured mean soil N₂O fluxes in this study were within the range reported by Dalal & Allen (2008) for temperate forests of 7.04 – 7744 g N₂O-N ha⁻¹ y⁻¹. However, the means for all tree species (Sitka spruce, 7356.2, common alder, 2934.9, Scots pine, 2152.7 g N₂O-N ha⁻¹ y⁻¹) were considerably higher than Dalal & Allen's (2008) reported mean of 1513.6 g N₂O-N ha⁻¹ y⁻¹ indicating that the Gisburn Forest site soils are a relatively large source of N₂O compared to other temperate forests but that there are key species related differences effecting the magnitude of emissions. Although variable results exist within the literature with regard to tree species type effects on soil N₂O emissions, many studies have found higher N₂O emissions from broadleaved compared to coniferous soils mainly due to differences in litter quality and soil moisture (Ambus et al., 2006; Pilegaard et al., 2006). Therefore, it was surprising that N₂O emissions from common alder soils were so much lower than from Sitka spruce soils. As well as being broadleaved, common alder is also an N-fixing species, and through its symbiotic relationship with dinitrogen (N₂) fixing bacteria from the *Frankia* group (Rytter et al., 1989) it can have large amounts of

available N in the soil system (Reay et al., 2005). As reported above we found higher levels of nitrate in the common alder soils compared to the others, however ammonium values were lowest in Alder soils (Sitka spruce, 23.24, Scots pine, 20.29, common alder, 17.75 mg NH₄-N kg⁻¹). The availability of N is one of the key regulators of N₂O production as NH₄⁺ and NO₃⁻ are the precursors for nitrification and denitrification, respectively (Pihlatie et al., 2007). It is known that atmospheric N deposition is higher in coniferous stands compared to broadleaved stands (Gunderson et al., 2009) as a result of conifers having a higher leaf area index and longer foliage longevity (De Schrijver et al., 2007). This could have led to greater N₂O emissions from Sitka spruce soils compared to common alder, but does not explain the lower fluxes from Scots pine soils.

Both nitrification and denitrification are moisture sensitive due to the effects moisture has on oxygen availability (Barnard et al., 2005; Gillam et al., 2008), when moisture content is high N₂O production from incomplete denitrification dominates (Bateman & Baggs, 2005) whereas nitrification peaks at intermediate moisture (< 60% water holding capacity) (Case et al., 2012). At Gisburn Forest soil volumetric moisture was higher in the common alder plots (81%), compared to the Sitka spruce plots (57%), with Scots pine intermediate (78%) but the depth to water table was higher in the Sitka spruce plots (24 cm) compared to common alder and Scots pine, which had the same mean depth (31 cm). This suggests that the low rates of N₂O production in the common alder plots at Gisburn are due to conditions generally not being favourable (too wet) for incomplete denitrification despite the higher levels of NO₃ availability. The explanation for the higher N₂O emissions in the Sitka spruce plots might be due to a combination of processes for which favourable conditions exist at different times. For instance, N₂O emissions were highest in the Sitka spruce plots when water table depth was intermediate (20-30 cm) and negligible when the water table was low (below 40 cm), suggesting that incomplete denitrification was occurring. This was in agreement with the findings of Jungkunst et al. (2004) who measured lower N2O emissions at a water table depth of 65-75 cm but higher emissions when the water table was intermediate at 15-35 cm. Soil volumetric moisture conditions in the Sitka spruce habitat (mean 57%) might also be optimum for N₂O production at certain times, a study by Ball et al. (2007) measuring GHG fluxes under Sitka Spruce in Northumberland identified 40-50% vmc as being optimum for N₂O production. It is also possible that N₂O is being produced in the deep soil organic layer (mean 4.35 cm) that exists in the Sitka spruce plots due to the abundance of ectomycorrhizal fungi. All of these processes could be supported by high available N due to increased N deposition as a result of a dense canopy and lack of understory vegetation in the Sitka spruce root tips demonstrated for the first time that ectomycorrhizal fungi can produce N₂O from nitrate reduction in soils receiving high rates of N deposition.

Soil CO₂ fluxes in forests can be very variable, largely due to site variation which is a product of the interactions between climate, soil type, topography, soil microbial community and species type, all of which directly or indirectly affect CO₂ fluxes (Raich & Tufekcioglu, 2000; Saiz et al., 2006; Schaulfler et al., 2010; Vesterdal et al., 2012; Barrena et al., 2013). By carrying out a study at a single site we controlled for variation in CO₂ fluxes driven by soil type and climate, thus allowing us to better focus on species related effects, an approach recommended by Vesterdal et al. (2012). We were, however, unable to account for the contribution that dark respiration of ground vegetation to soil CO₂ fluxes; ground vegetation cover was complete in the grassland (100%) and the common alder plots (100%), and high in the Scots pine (~70%).

While species related differences were observed, we did not find support for the hypothesis that alder would have the greatest net CO₂ emissions. This was anticipated, as alder is an N-fixing species with a higher predicted rate of nutrient turnover and therefore higher subsequent CO₂ flux compared to non N-fixing species (Kim et al., 2012). Alder litter also had the highest decomposition rate in this study, with only 57% remaining after 11 months compared to 64% in pine and 74% in Sitka. It was also unexpected due other research that coniferous forests have lower rates of

CO₂ flux than adjacent broadleaved forests growing on the same soil type (Raich & Tufekcioglu, 2000). However, a meta-analysis by Subke et al. (2006) found no significant difference in soil respiration between temperate coniferous and broadleaved species, a finding that was shared by a recent study by Vesterdal et al. (2013). Similarly to our findings, Barrena et al. (2013) observed higher annual CO2 emissions from pine soils compared to beech and Douglas fir soils, and attributed these differences to the presence of a high percentage of ground cover vegetation in the pine (80 - 90%) compared to the beech (< 20%) and fir (< 20%). This cannot be the case at Gisburn Forest as there is little ground cover vegetation in the Sitka plots, compared with almost complete ground vegetation cover in the alder and pine plots. Instead, the reason for higher CO₂ flux from the Sitka soils might be related to the presence of ectomycorrhizal fungi that are often most abundant in the deep litter layers of acidic forests (Genney et al., 2006). A study by Moyana et al. (2008) looking at soil respiration in relation to photosynthetic activity in Germany found that mycorrhizal mycelium respiration was 8% in a Norway spruce forest compared to 3% in a beech forest. Ectomycorrhizal fungi will also be present in the alder and pine soils, but development is promoted where litter inputs are more recalcitrant, organic layers are deep and where there is a lack of understory growth for mycorrhizal development (Prendergast-Miller et al., 2011).

3.5.3 Which soil and environmental variables are the key drivers of GHG fluxes under different tree species?

Soil greenhouse gas fluxes in forests are controlled by a range of natural and anthropogenic factors and interactions between these factors including soil moisture, water table depth, soil aeration, pH, soil temperature, soil type, land management, species selection and stand age (Morison et al., 2012). In particular, soil temperature and moisture influence soil-atmosphere GHG exchange due to their effects on soil microorganisms and roots (Smith et al., 2003). Rates of these processes responsible for GHG exchange generally increase exponentially with temperature as long as other factors are not limiting (Meixner & Yang, 2006). Our findings were in agreement with this where we found a significant proportion of the variation in each GHG was attributed to soil temperature, and it was in fact the most important driver of net CO₂ fluxes across all habitats. Soil moisture is an important driver of soil GHGs as it is an important substrate for soil microorganisms (Meixner & Yang, 2006), and influences gas diffusivity (Smith et al., 2003). Generally, CO2 emissions increase exponentially with increasing soil moisture, however emissions may be reduced under very wet or very dry conditions (Schaufler et al., 2010). Under anaerobic conditions CH4 is produced and under aerobic conditions CH4 is consumed (McNamara et al., 2008), whereas N₂O can be produced under both aerobic and anaerobic conditions. Despite the large range of soil moisture conditions (10 - 100 % vmc) measured over the 16 month gas sampling period at Gisburn Forest we found no relationship between soil moisture and net CO₂ fluxes. Soil moisture did explain a significant percentage of the variability in soil CH4 and N2O fluxes overall. We also found that habitat was an important driver of all soil GHG fluxes, as were the interactions between habitat and other measured variables suggesting that different species have different GHG drivers even in the same soil type.

Depth to water table and its effects on soil aeration can have a significant impact of soil GHG fluxes, particularly in organic soils. Water table drawdown increases soil aeration in the upper soil layer which can increase microbial soil organic matter decomposition and subsequent N mineralisation leading to a rise in CO₂ and N₂O production (Freeman et al., 1996; Minkkinen et al., 2002; Martikainen et al., 1993). Increased aeration has the opposite effect on CH₄ production which favours anaerobic conditions (McNamara et al., 2008). In this study we found that water table depth had a significant effect on CH₄ fluxes regardless of habitats, with increased CH₄ consumption measured under all tree species where soils were generally drier than in the grassland which was a net CH₄ producer. This matches the results from a study by McNamara et al. (2008) examining the influence of afforestation and tree species on soil CH₄ fluxes at Gisburn Forest, where positive CH₄ fluxes were measured from the grassland soils and negative fluxes from Norway spruce, Sessile oak, common

alder and Scots pine soils and attributed to water table depth and soil moisture content. We also found that the interaction between habitat and water table depth was an important driver of net CO₂ and N₂O fluxes. It was clear to see from the habitat specific analysis that this influence of water table was in the Sitka spruce and common alder soils and might therefore be linked to N availability via N-fixation and N deposition, and the physical and biological conditions favourable for CO₂ and N₂O production as discussed previously. A study by Ball et al. (2007) found higher N₂O emissions in soils from 30 year old Sitka spruce stands compared to 20 year old stands due to better aeration of older soils as a result of deeper water table which facilitated the release of substrate required for N₂O production.

The generally high percentage of variation explained by the random effect for block and plot, particularly for CH₄ and N₂O fluxes under Scots pine and Sitka spruce, suggest that in these habitats sampling location may also be a driver of soil GHG fluxes. These block and plot factors will encompass variation attributable to microtopography created during forest planting. It is thought that land management, in terms of ground preparation prior to planting and subsequent creation of microtopographies (ridges, furrows (troughs), undisturbed flats) can have an effect on both initial and long-term soil GHG emissions and C storage. Before carrying out their work on stand related effects on soil respiration in a Sitka spruce chronosequence, Saiz et al. (2006) did a preliminary study testing the effects of microtopography (furrows, ridges, flats) and chamber position on soil CO₂ flux. They found that there were differences in respiration rates depending on chamber location, with the highest rates measured from furrows. Whether gas sampling chambers were situated on flats, furrows or ridges in Gisburn Forest could be influencing GHG fluxes due to microtopographical differences in depth to water table, organic layer depth, location of roots, litterfall and decomposition, and soil temperature.

3.6 Conclusion

In this single site study LUC from rough ungrazed grassland to SRF resulted in, increased CH₄ uptake, and increased soil N₂O emissions. There were also significant differences between tree species with higher net CO₂ and N₂O emissions measured from Sitka spruce soils compared to common alder and Scots pine. Net CO₂ fluxes were driven largely by soil temperature. Random spatial effects explained a large proportion of the variation in soil CH₄ flux. Whereas, N₂O flux was driven by habitat and the interaction between habitat and water table depth. The interactive effects between tree species and season on N₂O emissions also suggest that SRF species must be considered carefully for potential GHG mitigation. Future work should focus on whether these patterns are consistent across other soil types and geographical zones.

Chapter 4: Effects of tree species, water table and microtopography on soil GHG fluxes

Kim Parmar^{1, 2}, Aidan M. Keith¹, Saran P. Sohi², Niall P. McNamara¹

¹Centre for Ecology and Hydrology, Lancaster Environment Centre, Library Avenue, Bailrigg, LA1 4AP, UK

²School of Geosciences, The University of Edinburgh, Crew Building, The Kings Buildings Edinburgh, EH9 3JN, UK

Declaration of contribution

This laboratory based study was planned and carried out by Kim Parmar. Mesocosm extraction was carried out by Kim Parmar with assistance from Dr Aidan Keith and Andrew Fitton. All sampling, and analyses were conducted by Kim Parmar, with the exception of the NH₄⁺/NO₃⁻ measurements which were made by Benjamin Jackson. Data were analysed with help from Dr Aidan Keith and the chapter was written by Kim Parmar and reviewed and commented on by Dr Aidan Keith, Dr Niall McNamara and Dr Saran Sohi.

4.1 Abstract

LUC from grassland to forest has been shown to change soil C and GHG fluxes but generally with high variability. This variability may be due to differences between tree species and the effects they can have on soil hydrological properties. Management of forests (e.g. site preparation) can also impact the physical structure of the soil and this may modify the impacts of trees on soil C and GHG fluxes.

Soil mesocosms were collected from under different tree species (Scots pine, Sitka spruce and common alder) and grassland at the Gisburn Forest Experiment. The mesocosms were taken from different microtopographies (undisturbed flats, ridges, troughs) under each tree species, which occurred as a result of pre-planting site preparation. These were subjected to high water table (3 cm) and low water table (27 cm) treatments, and GHGs were measured over 134 days. A nitrogen (N) addition experiment was also performed after 169 days to determine whether soils were N limited under different tree species and grassland.

Water table impacted fluxes of N₂O and CH₄ but not CO₂, with higher N₂O at low water table and higher CH₄ at high water table. There was an interactive effect of tree species and water table on N₂O emissions, with high water table decreasing N₂O in common alder and Scots pine soils, but not Sitka spruce. The effect of microtopography on N₂O flux appeared to be influenced by water table, but varied depending on SRF species, though this was not significant. Tree species had an effect on CO₂ emissions, and highest rates were measured from Sitka spruce soils under both water tables. Overall, water table was the only significant driver of soil CH₄ fluxes. Comparing the tree species effects to the grassland reference, CO₂ emissions were lower under common alder and Scots pine but higher from Sitka spruce, net emissions of CH₄ were measured from grassland irrespective of water table and N₂O fluxes were negligible from grasslands.

This study demonstrates that water table depth can modify the pattern of soil-atmosphere GHG exchange but this is also dependent on tree species. Therefore, consideration should be given to the impact that temporal fluctuations in water table will have on the magnitude and direction of soil GHG fluxes. Furthermore, these findings suggest that in forest sites GHGs need to be measured across representative microtopographies, in order for more accurate calculation of GHG budgets.

4.2 Introduction

Short Rotation Forestry (SRF) for bioenergy could deliver greater volumes of biomass from the same land area as alternative bioenergy crops such as Short Rotation Coppice (SRC) (McKay, 2011). Therefore, SRF is being seriously considered as a potential bioenergy crop to meet biomass demand and renewable energy targets (Leslie et al., 2012). As current experience of SRF in the UK is limited there is an urgent need to evaluate its viability as a fossil fuel alternative, and increased knowledge from systematic research is required to ensure that commercial SRF offers multiple environmental benefits, including GHG mitigation and C sequestration.

Forest ecosystems can store carbon (C) in the long term and, because of this, afforestation is viewed as a means to mitigate rising CO₂ concentrations in the atmosphere (Christiansen & Gundersen, 2011; Vesterdal et al., 2012). Afforestation also affects the soil-atmosphere exchange of other important greenhouse gases (GHGs) such as methane (CH₄) and nitrous oxide (N2O), due to tree-related alteration of soil and micro-climatic conditions (Peichl et al., 2014). Since the global warming potential (GWP) of CH4 and N2O is greater than CO2 (34 and 298 times, respectively) on a molar mass basis over 100 years (IPCC, 2013), increases in emissions of these GHGs could offset any C savings made as result of planting SRF (Zenone et al., 2015). Temperate forest soils have the strongest CH₄ sink potential of all natural systems with soil uptake rates up to 8.9 kg CH₄-C ha⁻¹ y⁻¹ and a mean if 3.6 kg CH₄-C ha⁻¹ y⁻¹ (Bowden et al., 2000; Dalal and Allen, 2008). However, temperate forests may also be significant sources of soil N₂O emissions (Kesik et al., 2005; Zhang et al., 2008) with estimated emission rates of 0.01-8.07 kg N2O-N ha⁻¹y⁻¹ (Dalal & Allen, 2008). Therefore, it is also important to consider the soil-atmosphere exchange of these three important GHGs when estimating the mitigation potential of a forest system. This mitigation potential may be further modified by tree species, for example, some studies have found that broadleaved forest soils can emit more N₂O than coniferous forest soils (Butterbach-Bahl et al., 2002; Pilegaard et al., 2006; Strange et al., 2013). A study by Barrena et al. (2013), however, measured higher N₂O emissions from coniferous soils but found there were large differences between species, with 17 times higher emissions from Douglas fir soils compared to radiata pine soils. These variable results highlight the need to evaluate species-specific effects on soil GHG emissions in order to make more informed decisions on SRF species selection in the future.

Tree species differences in root development, litter quantity and quality, soil microbial community composition, canopy shading and rainfall interception can lead to changes in soil physical, biogeochemical and hydrological properties, all of which can affect soil GHG exchange with the atmosphere (Smith et al., 2003; Borken & Beese, 2005; Ball et al., 2007; Christiansen & Gundersen, 2011; Peichl et al., 2014). For example, it is reported that nutrient turnover rates are higher in soils under broadleaved species compared to under coniferous species (Ambus & Zechmeister-Boltenstern, 2007) due to broadleaved litter having more labile C available which is easily decomposed by microbes. Furthermore, species such as alder which is a nitrogen-fixing species can affect soil nutrient status by depositing litter high in N concentration (Wedderburn & Carter, 1999), whilst soils under coniferous species such as pine and spruce generally have higher C:N ratios and lower pH than broadleaved soils (Menyailo et al., 2002). Soil N availability is also greatly influenced by rates of N deposition which vary as result of location, e.g. temperate forests in NW Europe that experience increased N deposition from air pollution (Butterbach-Bahl et al., 2002), and species type, with higher rates of N deposition usually recorded in coniferous soils compared to broadleaved soils (De Schrijver et al., 2007; Gundersen et al., 2009; Rothe et al., 2002).

The direction and magnitude of soil-atmosphere exchange of these GHGs is mainly controlled by the cycling of soil C and N. These biogeochemical cycles are in turn controlled by soil temperature and moisture due to their effects on microbial activity (Davidson et al., 1998; Bardgett, 2005), water table depth due to its effect on the oxic/anoxic boundary and soil aeration (Ball et al., 2007). Tree species type can also influence C and N cycling due to their effects on the quantity and quality of available organic substrate and soil physical and biological properties (Gleixner et al., 2005; Vesterdal et al., 2012; Prescott & Grayston, 2013). In addition, N deposition (Reay et al., 2005; Christiansen & Gundersen, 2011; Barrena et al., 2013), and management practices such as ground preparation pre-planting, and harvesting techniques (Saiz et al., 2006; Mckay, 2011) impact soil C and N, and soil-atmosphere GHG exchange.

Soil water content is important as it aids substrate supply to microorganisms (Schindlbacher et al., 2004) and influences gas diffusivity (Smith et al., 2003). Rates of soil chemical and biological processes generally increase exponentially with temperature, as long as factors such as moisture are not limiting (Meixner & Yang, 2006). Depth to water table and its effect on soil

aeration is linked to soil GHG fluxes (Ball et al., 2007). Water table drawdown increases soil aeration which can lead to increased microbial soil organic matter decomposition and N mineralisation, resulting in a rise in CO₂ and N₂O production (Martikainen et al., 1993; Freeman et al., 1996; Minkkinen et al., 2002). However, increased aeration has the opposite effect on CH₄ production which favours anaerobic conditions (McNamara et al., 2008). Trees are known to use more water than shorter vegetation types (Nisbet, 2005), and although no studies have yet measured water usage in the context of SRF it is predicted that SRF plantations will exceed those of conventional forests due to faster growth rates (McKay, 2011). Coniferous SRF species are likely to have higher water usage than broadleaved species and this could further impact water table dynamics (McKay, 2011). Interactions between tree species and water table could influence the direction and magnitude of soil GHG fluxes and, therefore, it is important to consider water table depth when collecting GHG measurements.

Forest management can significantly impact soil GHG emissions, in part due to soil disturbance during extensive ground preparation. Some ground preparation techniques such as ploughing and overturning soil, to create planting ridges and improve drainage result in local microtopography being created (McNamara et al., 2008). The effect of microtopography and the interaction between microtopography and tree species on GHG exchange is uncertain. Saiz et al. (2006) tested the effects of microtopography (furrows (troughs), ridges, flats) on soil CO₂ flux in a Sitka spruce chronosequence in central Ireland and found the highest respiration rates from furrows, and linked this to the presence of thicker soil organic layers in furrows compared to flats or ridges. In contrast, Ball et al. (2007) measured higher mean CO₂ fluxes from ridges in a Sitka spruce chronosequence in Northumberland and attributed this to water table depths being lower in ridges compared to ditch sides (flats) or ditches (furrows/troughs). Whether or not the interactions between water table depth and microtopography are consistent under different tree species could have an impact on soil GHG fluxes. In order to get a representative sample of field-scale GHG fluxes in SRF, multiple samples should be taken from flats, troughs and ridges.

An earlier field study at the Gisburn Forest Experimental site (Chapter 3) examined the effects of land use change to SRF on soil-atmosphere GHG exchange. This work showed that soil temperature, depth to water table, tree species, spatial variation and interactions between these variables all explained variation in soil fluxes of CO₂, CH₄ and N₂O. It is challenging to determine the relative influence of driving factors and their interactions in the field because soil variables, such as soil temperature and soil moisture, often co-vary through time (Fang & Moncrieff, 2001; Schaufler et al., 2010). Different tree species are also likely to have varying water demands throughout the year depending on the species growth pattern. Other variables such as N deposition, litterfall and soil N availability also vary temporally (Davidson et al., 2000; Pilegaard et al., 2006). For CO₂ fluxes there is the added complication which arises from the contribution of autotrophic respiration in field studies, this can account for up to 50 % of total CO₂ flux (Högberg et al., 2001; Bahn et al., 2006; Byrne & Kiely, 2006). In order to tease apart measures which co-vary temporally and drive GHG fluxes in field studies, controlled core (mesocosm) laboratory experiments are often used (Fang & Moncrieff, 2001; Schaufler et al., 2010; Gabriel & Kellman, 2014).

Spatial variability in soil GHG fluxes is known to be large, even in homogenous stands of tree species (Raich et al., 1990). It may be affected by root distribution (Saiz et al., 2006), the mass of litter accumulation and quality and quantity of soil C pools (Klopatek, 2002; Fang et al., 1998), and organic layer thickness (Saiz et al., 2006). These physical differences may interact with the depth to water table to modify GHG fluxes (Ball et al., 2007). Consequently, microtopography and its interactions with these variables may be particularly important (Ball et al., 2007; Fang et al., 1998; Nungesser, 2003; Saiz et al., 2006).

In order to better understand the driving effects of, and interactions between, water table, microtopography and tree species on soil GHG emissions observed in the field (Chapter 3), a laboratory controlled intact core experiment was carried out. This study examined the effects of interactions between tree species, water table and microtopography on soil GHG emissions from soils under 23 year old stands of *Picea sitchensis* (Sitka spruce) (first rotation), *Pinus sylvestris* (Scots pine) (second rotation), *Alnus glutinosa* (common Alder) (second rotation) and compare these with long-term rough grassland. This study is the first to examine these effects in a SRF bioenergy context and the results could contribute to strategies that maximise GHG mitigation potential of SRF as a fossil fuel alternative.

The hypotheses for the main part of this study were that: (i) GHG emissions will be influenced by depth to water table with higher CO₂ and N₂O emissions expected with a lower water table (intermediate aeration) and higher CH₄ emissions at higher water table (saturated) in all species, (ii) there will be tree species differences in soil GHG fluxes with higher N₂O emissions expected from Sitka spruce and Common alder soils compared to Scots pine (and Grassland) and there will be interactions between tree species and water table depth (iii) microtopography and interactions between microtopography and tree species will modify soil GHG emissions. In order to test whether N limitation was having an impact on N₂O production under particular species a further N addition experiment was carried out using 12 additional mesocosms at the conclusion of the main experiment.

4.3 Materials and methods

4.3.1 Site description and field sampling methods

Soil cores (mesocosms) were collected from Gisburn Forest experimental site in the NW England (54° 1' N; 2°22 W) in May 2014. A full site description and table of soil properties are detailed in chapter 3. As a result of ground preparation prior to forest replanting in 1991 three different microtopographies now exist within the 1.5 m spacing between tree rows; ridges, troughs (furrows) and undisturbed flats. The raised ridges (~50 cm wide) into which trees were planted and adjacent troughs (~25 cm deep × ~50 cm wide) were created by overturning soil on one side the ridge line using a mouldboard plough, and the ~50 cm wide undisturbed flats exist on the other side of the ridge lines. Soil mesocosms were extracted by gently hammering 30 cm deep × 11 cm diameter sections of PVC pipe into the soil, then cutting around the outside with a sharp knife and pulling out with pliers. Two soil mesocosms were extracted from each microtopograpy in Sitka spruce, Scots pine and common alder habitats (the use of the term 'habitat' throughout this chapter refers to the different land covers including Scots pine, Sitka spruce, common alder and grassland) and from each of the three blocks. Mesocosms were also extracted from the grasslands to use as a reference but these were only taken from undisturbed flats as this is the only existing topography. This resulted in a total of 60 mesocosms. A further three soil mesocosms were collected from the flat microtopography, in each habitat for the N addition experiment. Following extraction, all mesocosms were transported back to the laboratory and stored at 4° C for 2 days prior to the experiment set-up.

4.3.2 Experimental design

Each of the 72 mesocosms comprising the soil in the PVC pipe were weighed, numbered and placed in sturdy 13-L plastic containers (315 mm × 275 mm) (Smithers-Oasis Company, Washington, UK). All mesocosms were kept in a controlled temperature room at 11° C (temperature at which GHG in situ emissions peaked, Chapter 3) for the duration of the experiment. To limit the effects of understory plants on soil GHG emissions any visible vegetation (mainly grasses) were carefully removed before starting the experiment. To maintain water tables at one of two set levels ("high" and "low"), 5 mm holes were drilled into the mesocosm at either 3 cm from the surface or 27 cm from the surface. The mesocosms were allowed to equilibrate at 11° C for 1 week prior to water table treatment application to allow time for the soil environment to stabilise and recover following disturbance. Half of the mesocosms from each combination of block and microtopograhy were assigned to either a high or low water table treatment, and water was added to the buckets to a level that aligned with the top of the drilled holes. Mesocosms were then allowed to equilibrate for 18 days before starting measurements, with water table monitored by daily inspection and maintained by manually topping up with deionised water when required. An additional set of 12 test mesocosms were used to monitor volumetric moisture content (VMC) using a ML2x Theta Probe and HH2 Meter (Delta T Devices, Cambridge, UK) to avoid disturbing the mesocosms from which GHG measurements were made.

4.3.3 Laboratory sampling methods

4.3.3.1 GHG measurements – main experiment

Mesocosms were incubated for a period of 134 days, and GHG fluxes were measured at six time points 18, 26, 40, 54, 69 and 134 days. To measure GHG flux rates, headspace gas samples were taken using the unvented static enclosure method (Livingston and Hutchinson, 1995). Plastic opaque chambers made from Lock & Lock containers cut in half (Lock & Lock, Anaheim, CA, USA, W 110 mm, H 180 mm) were attached to each mesocosm (mean headspace volume 669.65 \pm 12.34 cm³) and sealed using wrist sections of rubber gloves and layers of duct tape. A 10 mm hole was drilled into each of the Lock & Lock lids and a rubber septum (Sigma Aldrich, St. Louis, MO, USA) was inserted into the hole and the air tightness of the chambers pre-tested. 10-ml headspace gas samples were collected through the rubber

septum using a 20-ml syringe fitted with a 0.5 mm needle, chambers were flushed three times with headspace gas before filling the syringe and transferring to 3-ml pre-evacuated exetainers (Labco, Lampeter, UK). Sampling was carried out over a 45 minute enclosure period with samples taken immediately after sealing the lid, then at three fifteen minute intervals. Gas samples were analysed for CO₂, CH₄ and N₂O concentrations on a PerkinElmer Autosystem XL Gas Chromatograph (GC) (PerkinElmer, Waltham, MA, USA) with flame ionization detector and electron capture detector equipped with a poropack Q column operated at 60° C with an argon carrier gas. Certified gas standards (Air Products, Crewe, UK) within the range of the samples being analysed (497, 1063, 4110 ppm CO₂, 1.07, 3.03, 10.26 ppm CH₄ and 0.41, 0.99 and 2.04 ppm N₂O) were used to calibrate the GC. Gas fluxes (CO₂, CH₄ and N₂O) were calculated using the approach of Holland et al. (1999) by plotting the linear accumulation of each gas over the 45 minute enclosure period.

4.3.3.2 Destructive sampling

At the end of the main water table manipulation experiment the 60 mesocosms used for this experiment were destructively sampled and the depth of the soil organic layer of each was measured. Subsamples were used to calculate bulk density (BD), gravimetric moisture content (GMC), water filled pore space (WFPS) and for available N analysis (NH4⁺-N and NO3⁻-N). Gravimetric moisture was determined from a quarter mesocosm subsample placed in an oven at 105° C for 24 hours. BD was calculated using these values of moisture loss following methods in the GB Countryside Survey (Emmett et al., 2008; Reynolds et al., 2013). Inorganic N concentration was determined by extraction with 6% KCl extraction. The extracts were analysed for NH4⁺-N and NO3⁻-N colourimetrically using an AQ2 discrete analyser (Seal Analytical, Southampton, UK).

4.3.3.3 Nitrogen addition experiment

A subset of twelve mesocosms were retained at the end of the main experiment and a further N addition experiment conducted to test relative N limitation across habitats. These mesocosms were from low water table treatments and from the flat microtopography. Ammonium nitrate in water solution (58-ml) was added at a concentration equivalent to monthly (winter months) N deposition at Gisburn Forest (4.16 kg N ha⁻¹) (APIS, 2014). Headspace GHG samples were collected over a 45 minute enclosure period, using the same

method as above, on 18 occasions: 1 hour before N addition, 1 hour after, 4 hours after, then after 1, 2, 3, 4, 5, 6, 7, 11 and 14 days. The gas samples were stored in 3-ml pre-evacuated exetainers and analysed by GC (as above). At the end of this additional experiment these twelve mesocosms were also destructively sampled, and analysed as per the sixty original mesocosms for BD, GMC, soil organic layer depth, NH₄⁺-N and NO₃⁻-N.

4.3.4 Data processing and statistical analyses

The effects of time, SRF tree species, water table, microtopography, and their interactions, on GHG fluxes were examined in a fully factorial design using linear mixed-effect models. Core was included as a random effect in these models to account for the repeated measures made on each mesocosm. Grassland mesocosms were not included in these analyses since they were represented by only one microtopography. However, a separate analyses including both SRF and grassland mesocosms but using only the 'flat' microtopography tested whether there was a difference between these land uses. Measures made on mesocosm soils at the conclusion of the main experiment were used to test the effects of species, water table and their interaction on GMC, WFPS, NH4⁺-N and NO3⁻-N, and the effects of species, microtopography and their interaction on BD and the depth of the soil organic layer.

The effects of N addition, and whether soils under different species responded differently to N addition, were assessed by testing a 'before-after' dummy variable for N addition and its interaction with species, respectively. The 'before-after' variable omitted the sampling times 1 h, 4 h and 24 h after N addition, when GHG fluxes were considered to represent the disturbance of water and N addition.

4.4 Results

4.4.1 Water table depth and microtopography effects on GHG fluxes across SRF species

4.4.1.1 CO₂ efflux

Time had a significant effect on CO₂ efflux during incubation (Table 4.1). CO₂ efflux rate decreased over the 134 day incubation time across all tree species and the grassland, microtopographies and water table treatments, from a mean of 30.33 mg CO₂-C m⁻² h⁻¹ (Appendix A.3.), to 21.16 mg CO₂-C m⁻² h⁻¹ (Appendix A.3.). Tree species had a significant effect on soil CO₂ efflux (Table 4.1). Sitka spruce mesocosms showed higher soil efflux rates (34.21 ± 1.55 mg CO₂-C m⁻² h⁻¹) compared to Scots pine (24.09 ± 0.90 mg CO₂-C m⁻² h⁻¹) and common alder (22.45 ± 1.06 mg CO₂-C m⁻² h⁻¹) mesocosms. Only Sitka spruce mesocosms had a higher CO₂ efflux rate than the grassland (27.21 ± 1.73 mg CO₂-C m⁻² h⁻¹).

| | CO ₂ | CH4 | N2O |
|-------------------------------------------|-----------------|-----------|-----------|
| time | P = 0.004 | P = 0.859 | P = 0.613 |
| tree species | P = 0.025 | P = 0.230 | P < 0.001 |
| water table | P = 0.905 | P = 0.026 | P = 0.036 |
| topography | P = 0.810 | P = 0.402 | P = 0.335 |
| time : species | P = 0.123 | P = 0.707 | P = 0.170 |
| time : water table | P = 0.527 | P = 0.286 | P < 0.001 |
| time : topography | P = 0.103 | P = 0.189 | P = 0.475 |
| species : water table | P = 0.665 | P = 0.361 | P = 0.043 |
| species : topography | P = 0.239 | P = 0.815 | P = 0.294 |
| water table : topography | P = 0.158 | P = 0.810 | P = 0.841 |
| time : species : water table | P = 0.403 | P = 0.612 | P = 0.149 |
| time : species : topography | P = 0.215 | P = 0.898 | P = 0.062 |
| time : water table : topography | P = 0.345 | P = 0.328 | P = 0.581 |
| species : water table : topography | P = 0.068 | P = 0.520 | P = 0.949 |
| time : species : water table : topography | P = 0.551 | P = 0.547 | P = 0.545 |

Table 4.1. Summary statistics for the effects of tree species, sampling time, water table depth, microtopography (ridge, trough, flat) and their interactions on soil GHG fluxes. Bold indicates values are significant at P <0.05.

There was no overall or interactive effects of water table depth on CO₂ emissions from SRF mesocosm soils (Table 4.1), despite there being higher CO₂ efflux at low water table depth in the Sitka spruce, similar emissions in Scots pine at both water table depths, and higher emissions at high water table in common alder mesocosms (Fig. 4.1A).



Figure 4.1. Soil GHG fluxes for all habitats. (A) CO_2 , (B) CH_4 , (C) N_2O , at high (3 cm below surface) and low water table (27 cm below surface) depths. Error bars represent standard error. n= 3 for Grassland mesocosms; n = 9 for tree species mesocosms.

Microtopography also had no effect on CO₂ efflux and no significant interactions with other factors (Table 4.1). There were, however, apparent trends in the interaction between water table depth and microtopography (Fig. 4.2A). At high water table CO₂ efflux was higher from ridges ($31.17 \pm 2.36 \text{ mg CO}_2\text{-C m}^2 \text{ h}^-\text{1}$) compared to flats and troughs which had similar mean efflux rate ($24.75 \pm 0.87 \text{ and } 24.15 \pm 1.56 \text{ mg CO}_2\text{-C m}^-\text{2} \text{ h}^-\text{1}$, respectively). Whereas, at low water table CO₂ efflux rates were higher from troughs ($31.18 \pm 2.36 \text{ mg CO}_2\text{-C m}^-\text{2} \text{ h}^-\text{1}$), a trend that appears to be largely driven by Sitka spruce, and effluxes from flats and ridges were the same ($26.01 \pm 1.14 \text{ and } 26.47 \pm 2.05 \text{ mg CO}_2\text{-C m}^-\text{2} \text{ h}^-\text{1}$, respectively) (Fig. 4.2A).



Figure 4.2. Soil GHG fluxes for all habitats. (A) CO₂, (B) CH₄, (C) N₂O, at high and low water table from each microtopography (ridges, flats and troughs). Error bars represent standard error. n= 3.

4.4.1.2 CH₄ fluxes

There was no effect of time on soil CH₄ fluxes (Table 4.1) and over the 134 days of incubation there was mean net CH₄ uptake in the Sitka spruce (-1.80 μ g CH₄-C m⁻² h⁻¹) and common alder soils (-0.69 μ g CH₄-C m⁻² h⁻¹) and Scots pine mesocosms (-4.76 μ g CH₄-C m⁻² h⁻¹). Grassland soils (177.06 μ g CH₄-C m⁻² h⁻¹) were not significantly different from the flats of the tree species mesocosms (Appendix A.4.).

Water table had an effect on CH₄ flux (Table 4.1), and in SRF overall there was net CH₄ production from soils with high water table ($21.76 \pm 19.47 \ \mu g \ CH_4$ -C m⁻² h⁻¹) and net uptake in soils at low water table depth (- $10.52 \pm 3.73 \ \mu g \ CH_4$ -C m⁻² h⁻¹) (Fig. 4.1B). There was no interaction between water table depth and tree species (Table 4.1). In comparison, net CH₄ production was measured in all grassland mesocosms irrespective of water table treatment, but CH₄ production rates were much greater at high water table (Fig. 4.1B). At low water table there was still net CH₄ production from the grassland mesocosms, compared to uptake in the tree species mesocosms with rates declining in the order of Sitka spruce > common alder > Scots pine (Fig. 4.1B).

Overall, microtopography had no significant effect on soil CH₄ fluxes (Table 4.1). There were no interactions between species, water table and microtopography, however interesting trends existed (Fig. 4.2B). In the common alder mesocosms at high water table CH₄ production was greatest from the flat microtopography and lowest from troughs, with ridges intermediate (Fig. 4.2B). Whereas, at low water table, where net CH₄ uptake was measured, uptake declined in the order of troughs > ridges > flats (Fig. 4.2B). CH₄ production was highest from troughs in Scots pine mesocosms at high water table compared to ridges, and even at high water table there was net CH₄ uptake in the undisturbed flats. At low water table depth in Scots pine there was net CH₄ uptake, with rates decreasing in the order of ridges > flats > troughs (Fig. 4.2B). The pattern was again different in Sitka spruce mesocosms where highest rates of CH₄ production at high water table were measured in ridges lowest in troughs

and flats intermediate (Fig. 4.2B). Greatest uptakes rates at low water table were found in ridges followed by troughs, with lowest uptake in flats (Fig. 4.2B). The effect of microtopography in grassland could not be tested as only flats existed.

4.4.1.3 N₂O fluxes

As with CH₄ flux, there was no effect of time on overall N₂O fluxes in mesocosms (Table 4.1) (Appendix A.5.). There was, however, an interactive effect of time and water table on N₂O flux rates (Table 4.1). N₂O flux generally decreased over the duration of the study at high water table (T1: 27.19 ± 6.97, T2: 50.95 ± 13.65, T3: 32.51 ± 6.28, T4: 28.98 ± 9.69, T5: 22.53 ± 6.37 and T6: 21.42 ± 7.74 µg N₂O-N m⁻² h⁻¹), but increased over the duration of the study at low water table treatment ((T1) 23.23 ± 6.00, (T2) 34.89 ± 8.82, (T3) 47.68 ± 7.16, (T4) 50.37 ± 10.61, (T5) 56.81 ± 11.95 and (T6) 82.76 ± 15.94 µg N₂O-N m⁻² h⁻¹) (Appendix A.5.).

Tree species affected N₂O fluxes significantly (Table 4.1) and net N₂O emissions were measured in all species, decreasing in the order of common alder (73.72 ± 5.93 µg N₂O-N m⁻² h⁻¹) > Scots pine (46.77 ± 5.37 µg N₂O-N m⁻² h⁻¹) > Sitka spruce (14.48 ± 3.92 µg N₂O-N m⁻² h⁻¹). All tree species mesocosms had higher mean N₂O flux rates than the grassland over the course of the experiment (10.73 ± 2.78 µg N₂O-N m⁻² h⁻¹). Water table depth had an effect on N₂O fluxes (Table 4.1) and net emissions were measured from both water table treatments, but with higher flux rates from mesocosms with low water table treatment (60.98 ± 16.98 µg N₂O-N m⁻² h⁻¹) compared to high water table treatment (33.07 ± 13.85 µg N₂O-N m⁻² h⁻¹) (Fig. 4.1C). This water table effect on N₂O fluxes was also influenced by species, with common alder and Scots pine having greater fluxes at low water table compared to high water table, whereas Sitka spruce fluxes were greater at high water table than at low water table depth (Fig. 4.1C). N₂O emissions in grassland flat mesocosms were significantly lower than common alder (P < 0.01) but not Sitka spruce or Scots pine (Appendix A.5.).

There was no overall effect of microtopography on N₂O fluxes (Table 4.1). There were also no interactions between microtopography, water table or tree species (Table 4.1).

There were, however, trends between microtopography and tree species. For instance, N₂O fluxes in common alder mesocosms at low water table were highest from flats and lowest from ridges, whereas at high water table N₂O emissions were highest from troughs and lowest from ridges. (Fig. 4.2C). In Sitka spruce mesocosms at both high and low water table treatments, N₂O emissions declined in the order of ridges > flats > troughs. Whereas, in Scots pine mesocosms, at both high and low water table, the highest emissions were from flats and lowest from ridges (Fig. 4.2C).

4.4.1.4 Available N concentrations

At the end of the main experiment there were differences in available N levels between high and low water table treatments (Fig. 4.3). Overall (considering the mean of all habitats) both NH4⁺ and NO3⁻ were higher in the low water table mesocosms compared to the high water table mesocosms (Fig. 4.3), however the effect of water table was only significant for NO³ ($F_{1.50} = 28.84$, p < 0.001). Although there were no significant effects on NH₄⁺ concentrations or interactions with habitat ($F_{3,50} = 1.30$, p = 0.28) or water table depth ($F_{1,50} = 0.51$, p = 0.48) there were differences observed between species at low water table. Highest NH4⁺ was found in the Sitka spruce soils and the Scots pine and common alder soils had similar concentrations (Fig. 4.3A). All tree species mesocosms had higher available NH4⁺ than the grassland (Fig. 4.3A). In contrast, there was a significant effect of habitat ($F_{3,50} = 3.89$, p = 0.01) on concentrations of NO3⁻ which were lowest in Sitka spruce mesocosms at low water table and increased in the order of Sitka spruce < grassland < Scots pine < common alder (Fig. 4.3B). At high water table there was almost no NO₃⁻, likely to be as result of complete denitrification, and only small amounts measured in Scots pine, common alder and Sitka spruce, and none in the grassland mesocosms (Fig. 4.3B). NH4⁺ concentrations were similar across all tree species and only slightly lower in the grassland (Fig. 4.3A).



Figure 4.3. Soil available N at high and low water table depths in mesocosms at the end of the main experiment (141 days). (A) ammonium NH_{4^+} , (B) nitrate NO_{3^-} . Error bars represent standard error. n= 3 for Grassland mesocosms; n = 9 for tree species mesocosms.

4.4.1.5 Factors affected by water table depth

Gravimetric moisture content (GMC) was affected by water table depth ($F_{1,49} = 6.05$, p = 0.02) with higher GMC in mesocosms at high water table compared to low water table. There was no difference in GMC between species ($F_{3,49} = 2.51$, p = 0.07) or any interaction between species and water table depth ($F_{3,49} = 1.23$, p = 0.31). Water filled pore space (WFPS) was also influenced by water table depth ($F_{1,49} = 8.47$, p = 0.01) with 100.20 ± 14.07 (%) WFPS measured in high water table mesocosms, and 66.79 ± 6.81 (%) in low water table mesocosms. There was no effect of species ($F_{3,49} = 1.65$, p = 0.19) on WFPS.

4.4.1.6 Factors affected by microtopography

There were differences in soil bulk density (BD) with microtopography ($F_{2,43} = 3.14$, p = 0.05) declining in the order of flats (0.45 ± 0.03 g cm⁻³) > troughs (0.36 ± 0.03 g cm⁻³) > ridges (0.34 ± 0.03 g cm⁻³). Tree species had no effect on soil BD ($F_{2,43} = 2.12$, p = 0.13) and there was no interactive effect of species and microtopography ($F_{4,43} = 0.38$, p = 0.82). There was no difference in depth of soil organic layer between microtopographies ($F_{2,42} = 0.62$, p = 0.54), however there was a highly significant effect of species ($F_{2,42} = 19.86$, p < 0.001) on depth of the organic layer and there was also an interaction between species and topography ($F_{4,42} = 2.83$, p = 0.04). Overall, soil organic layer was deepest in Sitka spruce mesocosms (3.92 ± 0.32 cm), followed by grassland (3.17 ± 0.70 cm) and Scots pine (3.03 ± 0.33 cm), but more shallow in common alder mesocosms (only 1.61 ± 0.25 cm). In the Scots pine and common alder mesocosms the soil organic layer was deepest on ridges (3.33 ± 0.21 cm, 2.17 ± 0.64 cm) whereas in the Sitka spruce mesocosms it was deepest in troughs (4.83 ± 0.75 cm).

4.4.2 N addition experiment

4.4.2.1 CO₂ fluxes

There was no difference in soil CO₂ efflux between habitats ($F_{3,8} = 1.81$, p = 0.22). Soil CO₂ efflux was higher in the grassland (31.00 ± 0.39 mg CO₂-C m⁻² h⁻¹) and Sitka spruce (30.81 ± 0.29 mg CO₂-C m⁻² h⁻¹) mesocosms than those in Scots pine (14.82 ± 0.05 mg CO₂-C m⁻² h⁻¹) and common alder (12.37 ± 0.14 mg CO₂-C m⁻² h⁻¹) mesocosms (Fig. 4.4A). There was a small decrease in CO₂ efflux following the addition of N (1 hour after addition) in the grassland and Scots pine mesocosms with the rates beginning to increase from the decreased level after 4 hours. There was also no overall effect of N addition on CO₂ efflux ($F_{1,116} = 2.47$, p = 0.12) or any interaction between CO₂ efflux and tree species in SRF ($F_{3,116} = 0.99$, p = 0.41) owing to the small increase in Sitka spruce mesocosms but absence of change in Scots pine, and a small decrease in common alder (Fig. 4.4A).

4.4.2.2 CH₄ fluxes

Similar to CO₂ response there were no differences in CH₄ flux between habitats (F_{3.8} = 3.03, p = 0.09) and there was no effect of N addition (F_{1.116} = 1.51, p = 0.22), or any interaction between tree species and N addition (F_{3.116} = 0.58, p = 0.63). The addition of N to the Scots pine mesocosms did not significantly increase net CH₄ uptake, but the mean net efflux was -2.44 ± 0.99 μ g CH₄-C m⁻² h⁻¹ before compared to -6.32 ± 0.81 μ g CH₄-C m⁻² h⁻¹ after N addition. The Sitka spruce mesocosms remained a net sink for CH₄, though the sink strength decreased from -15.43 ± 1.57 μ g CH₄-C m⁻² h⁻¹ to -7.22 ± 1.45 μ g CH₄-C m⁻² h⁻¹ (Fig. 4.4B). Despite a peak in CH₄ uptake 2 days after N addition, the common alder mesocosms showed similar CH₄ uptake rates before and after N addition (-4.57 ± 0.71 μ g CH₄-C m⁻² h⁻¹ and - 4.52 ± 1.80 μ g CH₄-C m⁻² h⁻¹, respectively) (Fig. 4.4B). In grassland mesocosms there was an initial reduction in CH₄ emissions following N addition followed by, two peaks followed after 2 days and 4 days. After this point CH₄ emissions returned to a steady rate that was approximately double that prior to N addition (12.96 ± 0.14 μ g CH₄-C m⁻² h⁻¹ to 26.98 ± 1.54 μ g CH₄-C m⁻² h⁻¹) (Fig. 4.4B).

4.4.2.3 N₂O fluxes

There was a significant effect of N addition on N₂O emissions (F_{1,116} = 13.96, p = 0.003) with an overall 142% increase in N₂O emissions following N addition from 39.94 ± 7.74 to 96.58 ± 26.34 µg N₂O-N m⁻² h⁻¹. As for CO₂ and CH₄, there was no effect of habitat on soil N₂O fluxes (F_{3,8} = 2.16, p = 0.17), nor any interaction between habitat and N addition (F_{3,116} = 0.26, p = 0.86). Despite the lack of significant interaction between habitat. In all habitats there was a reduction in N₂O emissions following N addition for ~ 24 hours, after which time rates started to increase again. Following N addition the highest emissions of N₂O were measured in the Scots pine mesocosms where rates more than doubled from 113.01 ± 9.00 µg N₂O-N m⁻² h⁻¹ to 247.29 ± 7.22 µg N₂O-N m⁻² h⁻¹, followed by grassland where emissions more than

trebled from 31.59 ± 4.52 to 106.16 ± 3.68 µg N₂O-N m⁻² h⁻¹. However, the greatest proportional response was in the Sitka spruce mesocosms where N₂O emissions increased from 7.53 ± 1.58 to 66.37 ± 2.71 µg N₂O-N m⁻² h⁻¹, despite N₂O emission rates being lower than those from Scots pine and grasslands. N₂O emissions also increased in common alder mesocosms from 35.69 ± 1.19 to 73.47 ± 4.39 µg N₂O-N m⁻² h⁻¹ (Fig. 4.4C).



Figure 4.4 Soil GHG fluxes for all habitats. (A) CO₂, (B) CH₄, (C) N₂O from an additional set of 12 mesocosms (undisturbed flat microtopography only) following the addition of H₂O + NH₄NO₃ equivalent to 4.62 kg N ha⁻¹ on day 169 (arrow indicates timing of N addition). Three GHG measurements were made on day 169, 1 hour before N addition, 1 hour after N addition, and a further measurement 4 hours after N addition. Error bars represent standard error. n= 3.

4.4.2.4 Available N concentrations

Seven days after the end of the N addition experiment (184 days from start of main experiment) NH₄⁺ was highest in the Sitka spruce mesocosms. Similar concentrations of NH₄⁺ were measured in common alder and Scots pine and the lowest in grassland. There was large variation in grassland, common alder and Scots pine results (Fig. 4.5). Concentrations of NO₃⁻ at the end of the experiment were considerably higher in the common alder mesocosms compared to the grassland, Sitka spruce and Scots pine (Fig. 4.5). There was less variability in the NO₃⁻ measurements compared to the NH₄⁺ measurements from the same samples (Fig. 4.5). Comparing NH₄⁺ concentrations after N addition to those measured at the end of the main experiment for mesocosms of flat microtopography at low water table, there was a decrease from beginning to end in all species (Fig. 4.3, Fig. 4.5).



Figure 4.5. Soil available N (Ammonium NH_{4^+} and Nitrate NO_{3^-}) in mesocosms at the end of the N addition experiment (184 days). Error bars represent standard error. n = 3.

4.5 Discussion

GHG fluxes are highly variable in field studies of LUC as a result of differences in physical, environmental and climatic conditions, both spatially and temporally (Gundersen et al., 2012; Kern et al., 2012; Zona et al., 2013). It is also difficult to quantify soil heterotrophic respiration due to the contribution of autotrophic respiration to overall CO₂ efflux, which in forests in particular is difficult to partition. One means of overcoming these field related issues is to extract soil core mesocosms from the field and maintain them intact under controlled conditions in the laboratory (Kirschbaum, 2006; Schaufler et al., 2010). Soils are initially disturbed, but less so than when using sieved homogenous soils and having experimental control allows one to independently manipulate variables to better understand what is driving soil GHG emissions (Jungkunst et al., 2008).

4.5.1 Effects of tree species and water table on soil GHG fluxes

For this study two water table treatments were used to investigate the effects of saturated soils (3 cm below surface) and soils of intermediate water table depth (27 cm below surface) on soil-atmosphere GHG exchange under different tree species. Saturated conditions were chosen due to the known relationship between soil CH₄ emissions and high soil moisture (Smith et al., 2003; Dinsmore et al., 2009). Intermediate water table was chosen as N₂O emissions have been known to peak when water table depths are in the region of 15-35 cm below the surface (Jungkunst et al., 2004), or with soil moisture within the range of 40-50% volume (Ball et al., 2007).

In support of the first hypothesis, water table depth had a significant effect on N₂O and CH₄ fluxes in mesocosms. N₂O emissions from the tree species mesocosms were within the range estimated for temperate forests (0.01-8.07 kg N₂O-N ha⁻¹ y⁻¹; Dalal & Allen, 2008) for both low water table (5.35 ± 1.49 kg N₂O-N ha⁻¹ y⁻¹) and high water table (2.91 ± 1.21 kg N₂O-N ha⁻¹ y⁻¹) treatments. Although considerably higher, Jungkunst et al. (2008) also recorded higher N₂O emissions at lower water table from
laboratory incubated mesocosms collected from a temperate forest in Germany (-40 cm depth = 23.14 ± 1.30 , -5cm depth = 7.27 ± 1.39 kg N₂O-N ha⁻¹ y⁻¹). The higher N₂O emissions measured at intermediate water table depth are also in agreement with the conceptual model of Davidson et al. (2000) which predicts highest N2O production as a result of incomplete denitrification at intermediate WFPS. This is expected because nitrifier activity is greatest at a moderate WFPS (up to 60%), while denitrifier activity increases greatly with soil WFPS > 60% (Bateman & Baggs, 2005) as result of decreased O2 diffusion into the soil (Ruser et al., 2006). When water table depth is 'intermediate' (i.e. 15-35 cm), aeration in the surface layers increases leading to an elevated rate of decomposition releasing more N by mineralisation which acts as a substrate for N₂O production (Freeman et al., 1996). Although there was no correlation between WFPS and soil N₂O fluxes in this study it is worth noting that at high water table WFPS was on average 100%, whilst at intermediate water table the WFPS was $66.79 \pm 6.81\%$. Therefore, in this study it is possible that at both water table depths N₂O production was mostly a product of incomplete denitrification, but rates were higher at intermediate water table as conditions were more favourable for production. There were some mesocosms with low water table where WFPS was lower than 60% and, therefore, nitrification may have been the primary pathway for N₂O production in these cores. These likely pathways are further supported by the concentrations of soil available N found in this study. Across all habitats there were higher concentrations of NH4⁺ than NO₃⁻, suggesting that nitrification in these soils may be limited with NH4⁺ not being used efficiently, or it could also suggest that nitrification is the dominant pathway for N2O production. Johnson (1992) suggests that high concentrations of NH4+ in soils almost always lead to high rates of nitrification. Low concentrations of NO3⁻ are not unusual as it is known to be less strongly absorbed in the soil system and is more susceptible to leaching in most soils (Johnson & Turner, 2014). The higher concentration of NO³⁻ measured in the common alder soils is likely to be as a result of N_2 fixation by the actinomycorrhizal nodules (*Frankia sp.*) of alder root tips and subsequent conversion of NH₃/NH₄⁺ to NO₃⁻ in the surrounding soil (Reay et al., 2005).

The second hypothesis was also partly supported for N2O with different effects of water table on N₂O found in soils under different species. At low water table (intermediate aeration) N₂O emissions were higher in common alder and Scots pine mesocosms compared to high water table mesocosms. Higher N2O emissions at 'intermediate' water table depth were expected as increased aeration facilitates more efficient release of substrate necessary for incomplete denitrification (Ball et al., 2007). In Sitka spruce mesocosms, it was therefore surprising that N2O emissions were greater, although very variable, at high water table (saturated) compared to low water table. However, N2O emissions were very small from Sitka spruce mesocosms at both water table depths (high: 29.36 ± 16.18; low: $6.10 \pm 2.35 \ \mu g \ N_2O-N \ m^{-2} \ h^{-1}$), compared to field measurements (Chapter 3) of 83.92 ± 10.81µg N₂O-N m⁻² h⁻¹. This suggests that N₂O emissions from Sitka spruce soils are driven by factors that were not controlled in the mesocosm experiment, such as N input to the soil via atmospheric deposition. It was hypothesised that there would be higher N₂O emissions from Sitka spruce mesocosms and common alder mesocosms, which were expected as a response to higher concentrations of available N likely to be found under these species. This was found to be true for common alder but not for Sitka spruce. As discussed above, higher concentrations of NO₃⁻ were measured in soils under common alder as a likely result of N fixation and have been recorded in field studies previously (Reay et al., 2005; Lu et al., 2015). As N deposition is known to be higher in dense canopied coniferous plantations (Erisman & Draaijers, 2003; de Vries et al., 2007; Michopoulos et al., 2007) it was expected that there would be more available N in the Sitka spruce soils, this was true for NH₄⁺ but not NO₃⁻. A recent study by Carnol and Bazgir (2013) measured a significantly higher annual return of NO3-N via throughfall under Norway spruce compared to six other species, including common alder, at a site in Belgium with a similar atmospheric N deposition rate, climate, and soil type to Gisburn forest. This research, and the high N2O emission rates measured in the field (Chapter 3), might suggest that NO³ in the Sitka spruce soil as a result of throughfall, is efficiently reduced to N₂O via incomplete denitrification at intermediate moisture. Alternatively, NO³⁻ may be reduced to NO (not measured in this study) in saturated soils as a result of complete nitrification, which could explain the low concentrations found in the mesocosm soils and the lack of N₂O flux overall.

In comparison to the grassland reference mesocosms (low water table, 0.84 ± 0.58 kg N₂O-N ha⁻¹ y⁻¹ and high water table, 0.57 ± 0.46 kg N₂O-N ha⁻¹ y⁻¹) it appears that LUC to SRF has had an adverse effect on net N₂O emissions irrespective of depth to water table. This confirms the findings of the earlier work in the field (Chapter 3) and indicates that afforestation of grassland in this soil type, regardless of species related differences leads to an increase in soil N₂O emissions.

Water table depth was the only significant determinant of CH₄ fluxes, with net emissions measured at high water table and net consumption at low water table, across all tree species. This was as expected as CH4 is produced by methanogens under anaerobic, low oxygen (O2) conditions, and CH4 is consumed by methanotrophs when soils are well aerated. The importance of water table depth on CH4 fluxes has been reported in other field studies (von Arnold et al., 2004; Ball et al., 2007; Jungkunst et al., 2008; Zona et al., 2013; Zenone et al., 2015) and laboratory studies (Dinsmore et al., 2009). The CH₄ emissions rates measured in this study are low compared to some others published for forest soils at high water table (e.g. 50-100 µg CH₄-C m⁻² h⁻¹ at water table 5 cm below surface, Jungkunst et al., 2008) but not as low as the 3.42 µg CH₄-C m⁻² h⁻¹ from a wet Swedish beech and Norway spruce site measured by Gundersen et al. (2012). Net CH4 uptake rates were also low compared to other published rates for European forests (e.g. mean \pm SE: -46 \pm 20 µg CH₄-C m⁻² h^{-1} , Skiba et al., 2009) and compared to the estimate for global temperate forests in general (mean 41.07 μ g CH₄-C m⁻² h⁻¹, Dalal & Allen, 2008). They are, however, similar to rates previously published for this site (mean \pm SE: -5.05 \pm 7.61 µg CH₄-C m⁻² h⁻¹, McNamara et al., 2008). The relatively low CH₄ uptake may be due to the suppression of this process by high levels of N deposition (44.38 kg N ha-1 yr-1 for deposition years 2010-2012) (APIS, 2015) at this site, and as a result of N fixation in the common alder soils (Butterbach-Bahl et al., 1998; Reay & Neadwell, 2004; McNamara et al., 2008). The grassland reference mesocosms were net producers of CH₄ at both water table depths indicating that LUC from grassland to SRF could have a positive sink effect for atmospheric CH₄ when water table is not at the surface. As for N₂O, this finding on CH₄ confirms earlier work (Chapter 3), and it is also in agreement with the findings of McNamara et al. (2008) who also measured net CH₄ emissions from the grasslands at Gisburn Forest (mean \pm SE: 39.0 \pm 36.68 µg CH₄-C m⁻² h⁻¹) compared to net uptake under common alder, Scots pine and Sitka spruce. Since the grassland soil always tend to be wetter in field conditions it may be that the microbial community are adapted to these conditions.

Support for hypotheses one was not found with regard to soil CO₂ efflux which was similar under both water table treatments. However, in agreement with the first part of hypothesis two, there were significant differences in CO₂ flux between species, with higher fluxes measured from Sitka spruce mesocosms, compared to Scots pine or common alder overall. This pattern was similar to the findings from the field measurements of Chapter 3, but respiration rates from the mesocosms were considerably lower compared to field measurements (e.g. Sitka spruce: mesocosms, 34.21 ± 1.55 mg CO₂-C m⁻² h⁻¹, field 97.66 ± 4.41 mg CO₂-C m⁻² h⁻¹). This is likely to be as a result or understorey vegetation removal and subsequent dark respiration, and reduced root inputs and nutrient supply in the mesocosms which may have led to a reduction in soil microbial activity (Fang & Moncrieff, 2001; Schaufler et al., 2010).

4.5.2 Does microtopography modify soil GHG fluxes?

Although we found no significant effects of microtopography or interactions with tree species, there were trends which indicated that microtopography could modify the influence of water table and tree species on GHG fluxes. Similar to the findings of Saiz et al. (2006), this study measured highest CO₂ efflux from Sitka spruce troughs, but only at low water table depth. Saiz et al. (2006) attributed their findings from across multiple stands to the deeper organic layer in the furrows (troughs) (e.g. 3.9 ± 0.3 cm in 31 year old Sitka spruce stand) compared to ridges and flats, which contains a high proportion of total fine root biomass. In this study the soil organic layer in the Sitka spruce troughs (4.8 ± 0.2 cm) was also deeper than in ridges or flats. Spatial

variability of soil CO₂ efflux has been previously related to the soil organic layer thickness. In a Canadian boreal forest study an increase in soil CO₂ efflux was positively related to the thickness of the soil organic layer as a result of microtopographical differences (Rayment & Jarvis, 2000). It is possible, therefore, that the CO₂ efflux measured from Sitka spruce trough mesocosms may have been driven by the decomposition of severed fine roots (as a result of soil coring) in the deep soil organic layer, and increased aeration at 'intermediate' water table depth. However, Ball et al. (2007) measured higher mean CO₂ fluxes from ridges in a Sitka spruce chronosequence in Northumberland, and attributed this to water table depths being lower in ridges compared to ditch sides (flats) or ditches (furrows/troughs). This finding of Ball et al. (2007) is in agreement with this study because at high water table depth higher CO₂ efflux was also measured from Sitka spruce ridges, further suggesting an interaction between microtopographical-related differences in soil properties and water table.

Microtopographical effects, and interactions with tree species were also examined for soil N₂O fluxes. Consistent patterns were limited as results were very variable between species at different water table depths. Only Scots pine soils had a consistent pattern at both water table depths, with higher N₂O emissions from flat microtopography. This consistency suggests that N₂O production pathways in Scots pine soils are partly affected by microtopography, but any effect is further modified by water table depth as a result of its effect on aeration. In Sitka spruce mesocosms, despite the lower fluxes compared to other tree species, there was a trend towards higher N₂O emissions from ridges at high water table. This may be related to the higher CO₂ flux also measured from Sitka spruce ridges at high water table explained above, and to the increased C input from severed decomposing fine roots. An increase in soil C inputs could have an indirect effect on soil N₂O emissions as heterotrophic microorganisms responsible for soil N transformation depend on a supply of available organic C (Hodge et al., 2000). Other than assuming that there is a greater abundance of fine roots in ridges (i.e. closer to the tree) it is difficult to explain why there would be increased C as a result of fine root decomposition in any one particular microtopography. Considering the common alder mesocosms, from which N₂O fluxes were greatest overall, the pattern at low water table was the same as for Scots pine declining in the order of flats > troughs > ridges. This could be attributed to the abundance and distribution of N-fixing actinomycorrhizal nodules in flats and troughs compared to ridges. In a study by Rytter (1989) nodules were found up to 35 cm away from the tree stump, but were most abundant closer to the stump, this study was however conducted on young alder stands (4 years old), and distribution may be different in older stands. These species and water table trends highlight the importance of measuring soil-atmosphere GHG exchange across different microtopographies in order to capture this aspect of spatial variability.

4.4.3 N addition

The low N₂O emissions measured from Sitka spruce mesocosms, as explained previously, was the reason behind undertaking the supplementary N addition experiment. Using a subset of 12 mesocosms (3 from each habitat) from flat microtopography and low water table only, NH4⁺ NO3⁻ was added at a rate equivalent to one month's N deposition for Gisburn Forest. The expectation was that N addition would stimulate the microbial processes responsible for N2O production as a result of increased substrate availability in Sitka spruce soils, and further increase N2O production in Scots pine and common alder soils. This was based on previous published studies and an extensive meta-analysis which found that N addition in this form significantly increased soil N2O emissions (Zhang et al., 2008; Liu & Greaver, 2009; Wang et al., 2014). Nitrogen addition had a significant effect on soil N2O emissions overall, with a mean increase of 142% relative to pre-addition levels, but there was no significant difference in N₂O emissions between species. This overall N_2O response to N addition is similar to that of Wang et al. (2014) who found a 125% increase in soil N2O emissions following N addition to forest plots in China in the wet season (WFPS > 60%). In their wet season, the peak rate of N₂O emissions was 97.4 μ g N2O-N m⁻² h⁻¹ following N addition, which is similar to the mean of this study 96.58 \pm 26.34 µg N₂O-N m⁻² h⁻¹ after N addition. Mesocosm N₂O flux rates after N addition were higher than the *in situ* rates of Chapter 3 (35.92 \pm 3.68 µg N₂O-N m⁻² h⁻¹), further confirming the effect of N addition on soil N₂O emissions.

Although there were no significant differences in habitat response to the N addition, or any interaction between habitat and N addition, there was a varied magnitude of response between species that is worth mention. N2O emissions were highest from the Scots pine mesocosms, both before and after the addition of N, indicating that soil conditions for N₂O production were already favourable and the added N substrate further stimulated production (by 118%). Even though the highest emissions were from Scots pine mesocosms, it was the Sitka spruce mesocosms that showed the greatest relative response with a 780% increase in N₂O emissions after N addition. Despite this high relative response, Sitka spruce soil N₂O emissions were still lower than those measured *in situ* (Chapter 3), 66.37 \pm 2.71 µg N₂O-N m⁻² h⁻¹ versus 83.92 \pm 10.81 μ g N₂O-N m⁻² h⁻¹. An explanation for this shortcoming may be due to a lack of ectomycorrhizal fungi in the mesocosms which were possibly severed during the soil coring process. Certain N-tolerant fungi, such as Paxillus involutus and Tylospora fibrillosa, which can dominate the microbial biomass in acidic temperate forest soils (Smith & Read, 2008), have been found to produce N2O through nitrate reduction under low oxygen conditions (Prendergast-Miller et al., 2011). These species of fungi are known to be highly competitive when inorganic N concentrations are high (Carfrae et al., 2006). As atmospheric N deposition is expected to be higher in the Sitka spruce habitat, it is possible that a proportion of N_2O emitted from these soils comes from ectomycorrhizal fungi.

At the end of the N addition experiment concentrations of inorganic N were measured from the mesocosms. Across all habits there were higher concentrations of NH₄⁺ than NO₃⁻ detected, with the highest concentration found in the Sitka spruce mesocosms. As ammonium is oxidised to nitrate in the three step process of nitrification (Thomson et al., 2012) it is unlikely that this was a primary pathway for N₂O production in the N addition mesocosms. With the exception of the common alder mesocosms, NO₃⁻ concentrations were very low in the mesocosms at the end of the experiment. This might suggest that incomplete denitrification was the primary pathway for N₂O production as this process involves the enzymatic reduction of NO₃. Comparing available soil inorganic N at the end of the N addition experiment to concentrations measured in situ from cores collected in the same sampling month (May 2014), values were similar for all habitats except common alder. For example, Sitka spruce soils contained 21.51 ± 1.23 mg NH₄⁺ kg⁻¹ and 0.15 ± 0.01 mg NO₃⁻ kg⁻¹ in *situ*, compared to 22.12 ± 4.83 mg NH₄⁺ kg⁻¹ and 1.21 ± 0.43 mg NO₃⁻ kg⁻¹ in the mesocosms. This similarity in inorganic N concentrations for Sitka spruce might further suggest that NO₃⁻ is used very efficiently in this habitat and that N₂O emissions are a product of high N deposition and incomplete denitrification.

In this study N addition had no effect on soil CO₂ efflux. Although it was expected that the effect of increased N substrate availability would increase microbial activity and subsequent CO₂ emissions in the short-term as a result if increased C decomposition (Brumme & Beese, 1992; Contosta et al., 2011), this finding is not unusual. Many studies have found that N addition has not had an effect on soil CO₂ efflux (Allison et al., 2008; Ambus & Robertson, 2006; Castro et al., 1994b; Micks et al., 2004; Mo et al., 2007). Even long-term *in situ* N addition experiments in forests have had no effect on soil CO₂ emissions (Koehler et al., 2009; Koehler et al., 2012; Krause et al., 2013). Futhermore, some studies have found that N addition reduces CO₂ efflux (Bowden et al., 2004; Burton et al., 2004; Janssens et al., 2010; Micks et al., 2004). There was also no significant effect of N addition on CH₄ fluxes. It was expected that the addition of N might decrease CH₄ uptake rates due to the known suppressive effect that increased N can have on CH₄ oxidation (Castro et al., 1995; Sitaula et al., 1995; MacDonald et al., 1996). This lack of response might be as result of the low dose of N applied to the mesocosms, and the short duration of the N addition experiment.

4.6 Conclusions

The results of this study demonstrate that water table depth can modify the pattern of soil-atmosphere CH₄ and N₂O exchange but has little impact on CO₂ efflux. Therefore, consideration should be given to the impact that temporal fluctuations in water table will have on the magnitude and direction of soil GHG fluxes. Tree species had a significant effect on soil GHG fluxes overall, with highest CO₂ efflux from Sitka spruce, and highest N₂O emissions from common alder soils. These species differences highlight the need for careful consideration in species selection for SRF, to ensure that tree species will offer the greatest C and GHG savings for a given soil type. Furthermore, these findings suggest that in forest sites N₂O may need to be measured across representative microtopographies, in order for more accurate calculation of GHG balances.

Chapter 5. Discussion and conclusions

A substantial amount of grassland across Europe could be converted to SRF for biomass production in the near future (Zenone et al., 2015). This LUC will be driven by the requirement to achieve renewable energy and GHG emissions targets and to find a sustainable alternative to fossil fuel combustion. As a result of this, it is important to understand the implications of planting trees into grassland, especially for soil-atmosphere GHG exchange and soil C storage, to ensure that maximum mitigation potential is reached. Although conventional forestry has been practiced and studied for many years, little is known about the effects of growing high density plantations of trees on shorter rotations. As tree species have differential effects on the soil environment it is important to carefully select species for SRF that can offer the greatest benefits. This study investigated the effects of LUC from grassland to different SRF species on the soil-atmosphere exchange of the three primary GHGs (CO₂, N₂O and CH₄) and the important mechanisms underlying these effects.

Chapter 2 - Soil GHG potentials were measured under controlled laboratory conditions using sieved soil sub-samples incubated in Wheaton bottles (*sensu* Reay et al., 2001; Reay et al., 2005). These soils were collected from under a variety of coniferous and broadleaved tree species along with soils from adjacent paired grasslands from six different UK sites. Associated soil physico-chemical properties were measured and microbial community composition was assessed by phospholipid fatty acids (PLFA) profiling.

Chapter 3 - The soil-atmosphere exchange of CH₄, N₂O and net CO₂ (which includes dark respiration of the ground vegetation) was monitored *in situ* under rough ungrazed grassland and monocultures of Scots pine, Sitka spruce and common alder, over 16 months at the Gisburn Forest Experimental site. The relative importance of a range of soil physical and chemical variables for GHG fluxes were assessed.

Chapter 4 – The effects of Scots pine, Sitka spruce and common alder SRF on soil GHG fluxes were further investigated in a medium-term (184 days) manipulation

study and an additional N addition experiment using intact mesocosms collected from the Gisburn Forest Experimental site. This experiment focused on how water table depth (3 cm vs 27 cm), microtopography (flats, ridges and troughs), and the interactions between them could modify tree species effects on soil GHG fluxes.

5.1 Land use change to SRF

5.1.1 Soil CH₄ fluxes

Key findings

- Under controlled laboratory conditions there was a small net CH₄ uptake in both grassland and SRF soils but no significant differences between these land uses (Chapter 2).
- There were net CH₄ emissions from grassland soils and net uptake in all tree species soils *in-situ*, but the difference between grassland and SRF was not significant (Chapter 3).

Soil CH₄ fluxes were very small throughout this study but there was a consistent pattern of net CH₄ uptake in SRF soils compared to net emissions in the grassland soils. This finding was anticipated as temperate forest soils are known to act as a significant sink for atmospheric CH₄ (Bowden et al., 2000). Even though this trend was clear, there was no significant difference in soil CH₄ fluxes between grassland and SRF in the GHG potential study of Chapter 2. This may be partly a result of the experiment being optimised for CO₂ production. There was a significant difference in soil CH₄ fluxes between grasslands and SRF *in situ* (Chapter 3) but soil uptake rates across all species were low (mean 0.9 kg CH₄-C ha⁻¹ y⁻¹) compared to the mean for temperate forests (mean 3.6 kg CH₄-C ha⁻¹ y⁻¹, Dalal & Allen, 2008). These low soil CH₄ uptake rates were higher than those measured by McNamara et al. (2008) at Gisburn Forest over a 12 month period in 1999–2000 (mean uptake of 0.4 kg CH₄-C ha⁻¹ y⁻¹). This suggests that the soil CH₄ sink potential increases with plantation age, which is consistent with a range of other studies (Smith et al. 2000). There were differences in

CH₄ uptake rates between tree species types (Chapter 2) with higher uptake in broadleaved soils compared to coniferous. There were also differences between tree species (Chapter 3) with higher uptake in Scots pine and lowest in Sitka spruce soils, but again these differences were not significant. This trend is contrary to the norm, where CH₄ uptake rates are generally higher in broadleaved soils compared to coniferous (Jang et al., 2006; Skiba et al., 2009). The reason for higher uptake in the Scots pine soils might be due to CH₄ uptake in common alder and Sitka spruce soils being supressed as a result of greater N availability (Reay et al., 2005). Overall, the evidence from this thesis suggests that LUC from grassland to SRF would have a positive effect on the soil sink strength for CH₄.

5.1.2 Soil N₂O fluxes

Key findings

- There was a trend towards higher N₂O emissions from SRF and, within SRF, greater N₂O emissions from soils under coniferous species compared to soil under broadleaved species under controlled laboratory conditions. Differences in soil N₂O flux between grassland and SRF soils were, however, not significant (Chapter 2).
- In the field N₂O emissions were significantly higher from SRF soils compared to grassland soils and, within SRF, Sitka spruce soil emitted significantly more N₂O compared to Scots pine and common alder soil (Chapter 3).
- In the laboratory nitrogen addition had a significant positive effect on N₂O emissions with the highest relative response from Sitka spruce mesocosms, but highest absolute rates of N₂O emissions were from Scots pine soils (Chapter 4).

Until recent years N_2O emissions from forest soils were considered negligible compared to those from fertilised agricultural soils which can emit up to ~18 kg N₂O-N ha⁻¹ y⁻¹ (Dobbie et al., 1999). Now it is understood that forest soils could be significant sources of N₂O with emission rates up to 8.07 kg N₂O-N ha⁻¹ y⁻¹ (Dalal & Allen, 2008). In Chapter 2, N₂O fluxes were very small as a result of the experiment being optimised for CO₂ production but there was a trend towards higher net N₂O emissions from coniferous soils compared to broadleaved, and unchanged compared to grasslands. In contrast, N2O emissions from the in-situ study (Chapter 3) were significantly higher from SRF soils (4.1 kg N₂O-N ha⁻¹ y⁻¹) compared to the negligible emissions of the grasslands (0.2 kg N₂O-N ha⁻¹ y⁻¹). Considering that most temperate forests emit less than 0.5 kg N₂O-N ha⁻¹ y⁻¹ (Brumme et al., 1999), the rate of emission at Gisburn Forest is comparably high and likely a result of the soil environment. Further, N₂O emissions were higher from Sitka spruce soils and, with a mean rate of 7.4 kg N₂O-N ha⁻¹ y⁻¹, at the upper end of the range estimated by Dalal & Allen (2008). Other studies have measured higher rates of N2O emission from soils under coniferous species compared to deciduous (Barrena et al., 2013). Zechmeister-Boltenstern et al. (2002) measured N₂O emissions of 4 kg N₂O-N ha⁻¹ y⁻¹ from a mature beech forest in Austria and attributed this high emission rate to high atmospheric N inputs (~ 35 kg N ha⁻¹ y⁻¹). This is also likely to be the reason for high N₂O emissions at Gisburn Forest (Chapter 3) where total atmospheric N deposition is ~44 kg N ha-1 y⁻¹. Based on the outcome of the single site study of Chapter 3, and other published studies, LUC from grassland to SRF can lead to increased soil N2O emissions which vary depending on tree species.

5.1.3 Soil C and CO₂ efflux

Key findings

- 1. Under controlled laboratory conditions CO₂ efflux was significantly reduced in soils from SRF compared to soils from grasslands (Chapter 2).
- In-situ chambers in field revealed net CO₂ efflux (including dark respiration) was significantly higher from grassland soils compared to SRF soils and, within SRF, higher from Sitka spruce soils compared to Scots pine and common alder soils (Chapter 3).

3. In mesocosms where vegetation had been removed, CO₂ efflux was highest from Sitka spruce soils compared to Scots pine and common alder soils, but with no effect of water table depth on CO₂ efflux (Chapter 4).

It has been identified that land uses that are high in SOC stocks, such as grasslands could be particularly susceptible to LUC to bioenergy crops compared to low C soils such as croplands (Poeplau et al., 2011). However, to date, there has been limited research into the transition from grasslands to bioenergy as the focus has been on arable land transitions (Harris et al., 2015). This LUC effect will be greatly influenced by the type of energy crop that is to be planted and in the case of planting SRF, a positive effect would be expected. This is mainly because planting of trees is known to generally promote soil C storage (Vesterdal et al., 2012) and because grasslands are known to be smaller sinks for CO₂ compared to forests (Raich & Tufekcioglu, 2000). While this may be an oversimplification due to the effects of other factors on soil C and soil-atmosphere GHG exchange such as plantation age, species type, land management, understorey abundance and composition and soil conditions, the recent meta-analysis carried out by Harris et al. (2015) concluded that of all bioenergy transitions, the largest uncertainty is in quantifying the impacts of LUC from grasslands to SRF on soil GHG emissions.

In this thesis we provide support for the expectation that LUC to SRF could result in reduced soil CO₂ emissions and increased soil C (Chapter 2). Examining soils from across six different sites we found that the magnitude of change in soil CO₂ efflux was influenced by tree species type (coniferous or broadleaved). However, this magnitude of change was also modified depending on whether CO₂ flux was calculated on a soil mass or a soil C mass basis, especially with regard to coniferous soils. A greater reduction in the broadleaved soils was shown when expressing soil CO₂ efflux on a soil mass basis, whereas a greater reduction in coniferous soils was shown when soil CO₂ efflux was expressed in relation to the amount of C in the soil. This highlights the importance of careful consideration when deciding how to express CO₂ efflux before

drawing conclusions about LUC effects. The greater reduction in CO₂ efflux on a mass of C basis from the coniferous soils (Chapter 2), strengthens the findings of Keith et al. (2015), who measured higher soil C stock in coniferous soils compared to broadleaved soils across multiple sites (including these six sites).

The more focused single site approach of Chapter 3 also suggested a reduction in soil CO₂ emissions following transition from grassland to SRF, though this effect may be overestimated because the measured CO₂ flux may also result from the dark respiration of ground vegetation. However, this overall reduction in soil CO₂ efflux from SRF is in agreement with the findings of Raich & Tufekcioglu (2000) who analysed data from 10 different paired-site studies on the effects of LUC from grassland to forest and found on average a 20% reduction in soil CO2 efflux from forests. Chapter 3 also identified species-specific differences, with a smaller reduction of CO₂ emissions in Sitka spruce soils compared to common alder and Scots pine. Other authors have found tree species differences in soil CO₂ efflux, however, efflux rates have generally been reported as being higher from broadleaved soils compared to coniferous as a result of more labile litter inputs and faster nutrient turnover (Borken & Beese, 2005; Berger et al., 2010; Vesterdal et al., 2012). The rate of CO₂ efflux from the Sitka spruce soils in situ (97.66 \pm 4.41 mg CO₂-C m⁻² h⁻¹, Chapter 3) were similar to those measured by Saiz et al. (2006) from Sitka spruce soils in Ireland (103.69 \pm 10.22 mg CO₂-C m⁻² h⁻¹), and therefore appear to be robust. Higher CO₂ efflux from Sitka spruce soils is likely to be as a result of the higher C concentration and C stock in the soil (Chapter 3, Keith et al. 2015).

Considering the data derived from the in situ study of Chapter 3, LUC from rough grassland to SRF is likely to result in reduced annual soil net CO₂ emissions or no change depending on tree species. As other similar studies on transitions to SRF do not exist it is difficult to make a direct comparison between the outcome of this study and others. However, LUC from grasslands to SRC for bioenergy has been reported to increase in soil CO₂ efflux by 6.7 t ha⁻¹ y⁻¹, whereas transitions from grasslands to perennial grasses for bioenergy have resulted in a decrease in efflux of 0.8 t ha⁻¹ y⁻¹

(Harris et al., 2015). Based on the sites measured in this study, it would appear that LUC from grassland to SRF for bioenergy has a greater impact on soil CO₂ efflux than SRC and a similar impact to perennial grasses. Soil CO₂ efflux in forests has been found to be dependent on plantation age, with a trend towards efflux increasing with stand age (Ball et al., 2007). In this thesis, plantations studies ranged from 16 to 23 years (23 year old site was in its 2nd rotation), and therefore, the magnitude of change in soil CO₂ emissions could be related to plantation age.

5.2 Sources of variation in field GHG fluxes

5.2.1 Water table depth

Key findings

- 1. Water table depth and interactions between tree species and water table were important drivers of GHG fluxes in the field (Chapter 3).
- There were net soil CH₄ emissions at high water table and net uptake at low water table, with no effect of tree species on CH₄ fluxes (Chapter 4).
- 3. Both common alder and Scots pine had higher soil N₂O emissions at low water table compared to at high water table. In contrast, Sitka spruce soils emitted more N₂O at high water table compared to at low water table (Chapter 4).

Water table depth can have a significant effect on soil-atmosphere GHG exchange due to its influence on soil aeration and subsequently water filled pore space, and on the supply of substrate and oxygen to the soil microbial community (Davidson et al., 1998; Ball et al., 2007; Dinsmore et al., 2009). Planting trees can lead to water table draw down, well below the depth of the prevailing vegetation (Smith et al., 2003), due to their high demand for water (McKay, 2011). Water table drawdown has been shown to lead to increased decomposition rates and subsequent CO₂ efflux (Chivers et al., 2009), increased N₂O emissions (Martikainen et al., 1993; Huttunen et al., 2003), and increased CH₄ uptake (Hughes et al., 1999). This high requirement for water is likely to be greater in SRF systems than in conventional forest systems due to the shorter rotation lengths and faster growth rates (McKay, 2011). Previous studies have shown that tree water use is directly related to growth rate and declines with age (Vertessy et al., 1995; Watson et al., 1999; Almeida et al., 2007).

In Chapter 3 of this thesis, water table depth was found to be an important regulator of soil CH₄ fluxes in the field, where net emissions were measured under the permanently saturated grasslands, compared to net uptake under SRF. This relationship was further investigated in the laboratory water table manipulation experiment of Chapter 4, where water table depth had the greatest effect of soil CH₄ fluxes of all measured variables. The outcome showed that at high water table CH₄ was emitted from all soils but at a far greater magnitude from grasslands, and at low water table CH₄ uptake occurred in all tree species soils but not in the grassland. This relationship between water table and CH₄ fluxes in forest systems has been found by others (von Arnold et al., 2005; Ball et al., 2007; Jungkunst et al., 2008; Zenone et al., 2015) and is expected due to the known requirement of CH₄ oxidising methanotrophic bacteria for aerobic conditions (Hanson & Hanson, 1996). This evidence suggests that the high water demand of SRF compared to grassland, and its subsequent influence on water table depth could lead to an increase in the soil sink potential for atmospheric CH₄.

Water table and its interaction with species explained a considerable amount of the variation (11%) in N₂O fluxes *in situ* (Chapter 3). For example, in the Sitka spruce soils, where the highest net N₂O emission rates were measured overall, emissions peaked when water table was at 20–30 cm below the surface, but were negligible when the water table was >40 cm below the surface. This trend suggests that incomplete denitrification is the primary pathway for N₂O production in these soils as emissions are very sensitive to moisture concentrations and peak at intermediate moisture conditions (> 60%), whereas nitrification favours drier soil conditions (< 60%) (Bateman & Baggs, 2005). In the grassland soils *in situ* (Chapter 3) where soils were permanently saturated, N₂O emissions were negligible across the entire 16 month sampling period. In the mesocosm water table manipulation experiment (Chapter 4)

this relationship between intermediate water table depth (27 cm below surface) and N₂O emissions was further tested. In contrast to the outcome of the field study, at intermediate water table depth in this study N2O emissions peaked in common alder and Scots pine soils, whereas N2O emissions were very small for the Sitka spruce soils. Through a further additional N addition experiment it was determined that this observation was as a result of N limitation in the Sitka spruce soils which were usually subjected to high atmospheric N inputs in the field. Once again, N₂O emissions were much lower from grassland soils compared to all SRF species in the mesocosm study (Chapter 4). This influence of 'intermediate' water table depth on N2O emissions in forests has been measured and modelled by others (Davidson et al., 2000; Ball et al., 2007). For example, Jungkunst et al. (2004) measured lower N₂O emissions at a water table depth of 65–75 cm but higher emissions when the water table was intermediate at 15-35 cm. The outcome of the experiments carried out in this thesis together with other published data on forests, suggests that LUC from grasslands to SRF could result in increased N₂O emissions which could be further modified by the direct influence of trees on water table depth.

Soil CO₂ efflux was not greatly influenced by water table depth (Chapters 3 and 4) despite the known relationship between respiration and soil moisture (Davidson et al., 1998). In Chapter 4, CO₂ efflux rates were similar at both high and low water table depth across all species, including the grassland. This is likely to be as a result of CO₂ efflux being more a product of C input quality and differences in decomposition rates between species (Chapter 3). In Chapter 2, LUC from grassland to SRF lead to decreased CO₂ efflux as a result of changes in the soil microbial community composition and reduced soil pH. Therefore, although soil moisture is an important regulator of respiration, LUC from grassland to SRF and its impact on water table depth is likely to be less important for soil CO₂ efflux.

5.2.2 Spatial effect of microtopography

Key findings

- A substantial proportion of variation in soil GHG fluxes in the field was explained by spatial factors, accounting for up to ~20% in the case of CH₄ (Chapter 3).
- While microtopography and its interaction with tree species and water table depth was not significant in laboratory mesocosms, there were trends of specific patterns of N₂O fluxes for each tree species, which were influenced by water table depth (Chapter 4).

The issue of spatial variability as a result of topographical differences in soil environments was a shortcoming identified by Butterbach-Bahl et al. (2013) with regard to field based N₂O measurements in their influential paper on processes and controls of N₂O emissions in soils. In Chapter 3, a large proportion of the variability in soil GHG fluxes in situ was attributed to spatial effects, which encompassed the random effects of block and plot. However, a proportion of this spatial variability could have been partly due to microtopography, and as GHG sampling chambers were installed at random in the field it was difficult to test for the effect of microtopography independent of block and plot. Thus, the effect of microtopography on soil GHG fluxes was tested systematically in the Chapter 4 mesocosm experiment. While no significant effects of microtopography or any interactions with water table and tree species were found, there were trends that indicated that microtopography could modify the influence of water table and tree species on soil GHG fluxes. For example, soil CO₂ efflux was higher from Sitka spruce troughs compared to from ridges or furrows, at low water table. This finding is shared with Saiz et al. (2006) who attributed higher CO₂ efflux from Sitka spruce troughs to the deeper organic layer which contains a greater abundance of fine roots. A study by Rayment and Jarvis (2000) confirmed that soil CO₂ efflux is positively related to organic layer thickness. The soil organic layer in the Sitka spruce troughs was also thicker than under other

microtopographies (Chapter 3) and, therefore, this is also a likely explanation for the higher CO₂ efflux measured. Few consistent patterns were found in mesocosms for N₂O fluxes from different microtopographies (Chapter 4) with fluxes varying greatly with water table depth for each species. Both Scots pine and common alder soils emitted higher rates of N₂O from mesocosms collected from flat microtopography at low water table (i.e. when emission rates were highest). In the case of the common alder, this outcome may be related to the distribution of N-fixing actinomycorrhizal nodules (Rytter, 1989). Whereas, the Sitka spruce soils emitted highest N₂O at high water table from ridges. Ball et al. (2007) measured higher CO2 efflux from Sitka spruce ridges compared to flats or troughs in Harwood Forest, Northumberland, and attributed this to variation in depth to water table between microtopographies. This may also be the case for N₂O, and although water table depth was controlled across all mesocosms (Chapter 4), the soil environment in the mesocosms may have been already conditioned in the field leading to increased N2O production. Microtopography had the least effect on soil CH₄ fluxes despite spatial effects explaining ~ 20% variation in CH₄ fluxes in the field (Chapter 3). These highlighted trends, together with the findings of others, suggest that LUC from grassland (flat topography only) to SRF, using the pre-planting method that creates ridges, troughs and flats, could have further implications for the magnitude of change in CO₂ efflux and N₂O emissions.

5.3 Limitations and future study

This thesis and the work of Keith et al. (2015) has demonstrated that SRF in the UK has the potential to deliver GHG and C savings at the field scale. For example, converting rough grasslands to SRF can lead to soil C savings in the region of 1400 kg C ha⁻¹ y⁻¹ depending on tree species and the soil environment (Keith et al., 2015). The work in Chapters 2 and 3 may be considered to provide support for the expectation that LUC to SRF can result in reduced soil CO2 emissions. However, the in situ field measurements of soil CO₂ efflux also includes dark respiration, which can account for up to 50% of overall CO₂ flux (Epron et al., 2001; Subke et al, 2006). Therefore, it is possible that CO₂ effluxes have been over-estimated making it difficult to determine the LUC effect of converting rough grassland to SRF. The comparison of tree species and the grassland may be influenced by the respiring biomass of ground vegetation and further work in these experimental plots should remove ground vegetation throughout the measurement campaign. In addition, the removal or exclusion of roots from the areas where soil respiration is measured would allow for partitioning of soil respiration into heterotrophic and autotrophic respiration. This would provide a more robust understanding of the effect of LUC to SRF on soil CO₂ fluxes.

Despite our consistent N₂O flux results, it was not possible to determine the ultimate biological responses accounting for differing N₂O production in the field or in the laboratory studies. Soil N₂O emissions increased under SRF compared to the original grassland land use (Chapters 3 and 4), with differences between species. This increase in N₂O emissions was more pronounced in coniferous soils compared to broadleaved, and in particular from Sitka spruce soils. Ectomycorrhizal fungi are often abundant in the organic litter layers of acidic coniferous forest soils. Under laboratory conditions, Prendergast-Miller et al. (2011) showed that ectomycorrhizal fungi extracted from Sitka spruce root tips could produce N₂O. To date, this has not been demonstrated under field conditions, and therefore with regard to soils under Sitka spruce at Gisburn Forest it would be interesting to investigate if N₂O is being produced by ectomycorrhizal fungi in the deep litter layer. This might be done by

using techniques such as litter layer removal or by inserting ectomychorrizal exclusion cores and taking GHG samples in the absence/presence of the litter layer and ectomycorrhizal fungi.

Tree species can directly and indirectly affect water table depth due to their species specific variation in; demand for water, depth and composition of the soil litter layer, canopy densities and subsequent interception of rainfall, and as a result of varied root architecture. This influence on water table depth can affect soil microbial activity, which is known to be sensitive to soil moisture which in-turn influences soil-atmosphere GHG exchange. N₂O production is particularly sensitive to water table depth with N₂O produced as a result of nitrification at lower water table and at intermediate water table as a result of incomplete denitrification. Future work should investigate whether the soil N₂O fluxes found from soils *in-situ* and in laboratory mesocosms from Gisburn Forest are a product of nitrification or incomplete denitrification under different tree species.

Beyond carrying out further experimental work, it is also recognised that the results of the work in this thesis need to be put into the wider context of the overall GHG balance including downstream processes for producing energy (Whitaker et al., 2010; Rowe et al., 2013). In this work studies were carried out on existing plantations and it is likely that additional GHG savings might be achieved through improved methods of cultivation. For example, choosing the most beneficial tree species for a given soil and climate and/or through improved planting methods which deliver reduced disruption of soils and their carbon stocks.

The experiments throughout this thesis focussed on a defined range of tree stand ages (16-23 years) and additional work could further reduce uncertainty in GHG assessments by following transitions from establishment through to the harvesting stage, and through multiple rotations. For example, it has been reported that large amounts of soil N₂O can be emitted during the establishment phase of tree species such as Poplar (Zona et al. 2013; Zenone et al., 2015). Beyond C and soil-atmosphere GHG exchange, the sustainability of SRF needs to be confirmed through a wider

assessment of impacts on other ecosystem services such as water availability and quality. Currently there is a major shortfall in available data to carry out such a study (Milner et al., 2015). However, further field-based studies capturing soil GHG fluxes from establishment to harvesting and into multiple rotations would further strengthen the outcome of this work.

Chapter 6. Reference List

Allison, S.D., Czimczik, C.L., & Treseder, K.K. 2008. Microbial activity and soil respiration under nitrogen addition in Alaskan boreal forest. *Global Change Biology* **14**, 1156-1168.

Almeida, A.C., Soares, J.V., Landsberg, J.J., & Rezende, G.D. 2007. Growth and water balance of *Eucalyptus Grandis* hybrid plantations in Brazil during a short rotation for pulp production. *Forest Ecology and Management* **251**, 10-21.

Amaral, J.A., & Knowles, R. 1998. Inhibition of Methane Consumption in Forest Soils by Monoterpenes. *Journal of Chemical Ecology* **24**, 723-734.

Ambus, P., & Roberston, G. 2006. The effect of increased N deposition on nitrous oxide, methane and carbon dioxide fluxes from unmanaged forest and grassland communities in Michigan. *Biogeochemistry* **79**, 315–337.

Ambus, P., Zechmeister-Boltenstern, S. 2007. Denitrification and N-cycling in forest ecosystems. *In*: Bothe, H., Ferguson, S.J., Newton, W.E. (Eds), Biology of the Nitrogen Cycle. Elsevier Science BV, Amsterdam, pp. 343-358.

Ambus, P., Zechmeister-Boltenstern, S., & Butterbach-Bahl, K. 2006. Sources of nitrous oxide emitted from European forest soils. *Biogeosciences* **3**, 135-145.

Anderson-Texeira, K.J., Davis, S.C., Masters, M.D., DeLucia, E.H. 2009. Changes in soil organic carbon under biofuel crops. *Global Change Biology Bioenergy* **1**, 75-96.

APIS. 2015. W.J. Bealey , L.J. Sheppard, H. Malcolm, J.N. Cape, A. Davison, L. Carvalho, U. Dragosits, K. Harding, J. Hall, D. Fowler, D. Osborn and M.A. Sutton - Development of The UK Air Pollution Information System (APIS). Available on-line: www.apris.ac.uk.

Arevalo, C.B.M., Bhatti, J.S., Chang, S.X., & Sidders, D. 2011. Land use change effects on ecosystem carbon balance: From agricultural to hybrid poplar plantation. *Agriculture, Ecosystems & Environment* **141**, 342-349.

Avery, B.W. 1980. *Soil classification for England and Wales*, Soil Survey Technical Monograph No. 14, Soil Survey of England and Wales. Harpenden.

Aylott, M.J., Casella, E., Farall, K., & Taylor, G. 2010. Estimating the supply of biomass from short-rotation coppice in England given social, economic and environmental constraints to land availability. *Biofuels* **1**, 719-727.

Bååth, E. 2003. The use of neutral lipid fatty acids to indicate physiological conditions of soil fungi. *Microbial Ecology* **45**, 373-383.

Bahn, M., Knapp, M., Garajova, Z., Pfahringer, N., & Cernusca, A. 2006. Root respiration in temperate mountain grasslands differing in land use. *Global Change Biology* **12**, 995-1006.

Ball, T., Smith, K.A., & Moncrieff, J.B. 2007. Effect of stand age on greenhouse gas fluxes from a Sitka spruce [*Picea sitchensis* (Bong.) Carr.] chronosequence on a peaty gley soil. *Global Change Biology* **13**, 2128-2142.

Bardgett, R.D., Freeman, C., & Ostle, N. 2008. Microbial contributions to climate change through carbon cycle feedbacks. *ISME* **2**, 805-814.

Bardgett, R. D., Hobbs, P. J., & Frostegård, Å. 1996. Changes in soil fungal: bacterial biomass ratios following reductions in the intensity of management of an upland grassland. *Biology and Fertility of Soils* **22**, 261-264.

Bardgett, R. D., Whittaker, J.B., Frankland, J.C. 1993. The effect of collembolan grazing on fungal activity in differently managed upland pastures: a microcosm study. *Biology and fertility of soils* **16**, 255-262.

Barnard, R., Leadley, P.W., & Hungate, B.A. 2005. Global change, nitrification, and denitrification: A review. *Global Biogeochemical Cycles* **19**, 1-13.

Barrena, I., Menéndez, S., Duñabeitia, M., Merino, P., Strange, C.F., Spott, O., González-Murua, C., & Estavillo, J.M. 2013. Greenhouse gas fluxes (CO₂, N₂O and CH₄) from forest soils in the Basque Country: Comparison of different tree species and growth stages. *Forest Ecology and Management* **310**, 600-611.

Bartle, J.R., & Abadi, A. 2010. Toward Sustainable Production of Second Generation Bioenergy Feedstocks. *Energy Fuels* **24**, 2-9. Bateman, E.J., & Baggs, E.M. 2005. Contributions of nitrification and denitrification to N₂O emissions from soils at different water-filled pore space. *Biology and Fertility of Soils* **41**, 379–388.

Batjes, N.H. 2005. Total carbon and nitrogen in the soils of the world. *European Journal of Soil Science* **47**, 151-163.

Berger, T.W., Inselsbacher, E., & Zechmeister-Boltenstern, S. 2010. Carbon dioxide emissions of soils under pure and mixed stands of beech and spruce, affected by decomposing foliage litter mixtures. *Soil Biology and Biochemistry* **42**, 986-997.

Beringer, T., Lucht, W., & Schaphoff, S. 2011. Bioenergy production potential of global biomass plantations under environmental and agricultural constraints. *Global Change Biology Bioenergy* **3**, 299-312.

Bodelier, P.L.E., & Laambroek, H.J. 2004. Nitrogen as a regulatory factor of methane oxidation in soils sediments. *FEMS Microbiology Ecology* **47**, 265–277.

Borken, W., & Beese, F. 2006. Methane and nitrous oxide fluxes of soils in pure and mixed stands of European beech and Norway spruce. *European Journal of Soil Science* **57**, 617–625.

Borken, W., & Brumme, R. 1997. Liming practice in temperate forest ecosystems and the effects on CO₂, N₂O and CH₄ fluxes. *Soil Use and Management* **13**, 251–257.

Borken, W., Davidson, E.A., Savage, K., Sundquist, E.T., & Steudler P.A. 2006. Effect of summer throughfall exclusion, summer drought, and winter snow cover on methane fluxes in a temperate forest soil. *Soil Biology Biochemistry* **38**, 1388-1395.

Borken, W., Xu, Y.J., & Beese, F. 2003. Conversion of hardwood forests to spruce and pine plantations strongly reduced soil methane sink in Germany. *Global Change Biology* **9**, 956–966.

Bowden, R.D., Davidson, E., Savage, K., Arabia, C., & Steudler, P. 2004. Chronic nitrogen additions reduce total soil respiration and microbial respiration in temperate forest soils at the Harvard forest. *Forest Ecology and Management* **196**, 43-56.

Bowden, R.D., Rullo, G., Stevens, G., & Steudler, P.A. 2000. Soil fluxes of carbon dioxide, nitrous oxide, and methane at a productive temperate deciduous forest. *Journal of Environmental Quality* **29**, 268-276.

Bradford M.A., Watts B.W., & Davies C.A., 2010. Thermal adaptation of heterotrophic soil respiration in laboratory microcosms. *Global Change Biology* **16**, 1576–1588.

Bray, S.R., Kitajima, K., & Mack, M.C. 2012. Temporal dynamics of microbial communities on decomposing leaf litter of 10 plant species in relation to decomposition rate. *Soil Biology & Biochemistry* **49**, 30-37.

Brüggemann, N., Rosenkranz, P., Papen, H., Pilegaard, K., & Butterbach-Bahl, K. 2005. Pure stands of temperate forest tree species modify soil respiration and N turnover. *Biogeosciences Discussions* **2**, 303-331.

Brumme, R., & Beese, F. 1992. Effects of liming and nitrogen fertilization on emissions of CO₂ and N₂O from a temperate forest. *Journal of Geophysical Research* **97**, 12851-12858.

Brumme, R., Borken, W., & Finke, S. 1999. Hierarchical control on nitrous oxide emission in forest ecosystems. *Global Biogeochemical Cycles* **13**, 1137–1148.

Burton, A.J., Pregitzer, K.S., Crawford, J.N., Zogg, G.P., & Zak, D.R. 2004. Simulated chronic NO₃- deposition reduces soil respiration in northern hardwood forests. *Global Change Biology* **10**, 1080-1091.

Butterbach-Bahl, K., Baggs, E. M., Dannenmann, M., Kiese, R. & Zechmeister Boltenstern, S. 2013. Nitrous oxide emissions from soils: how well do we understand the processes and their controls? *Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society B* **368**, 20130122.

Butterbach-Bahl, K., & Papen, H. 2002. Four years continuous record of CH₄-exchange between the atmosphere and untreated and limed soil of a N-saturated spruce and beech forest ecosystem in Germany. *Plant and Soil* **240**, 77-90.

Byrne, K.A., & Kiely, G. 2006. Partitioning of respiration in an intensively managed grassland. *Plant and Soil* **282**, 281-289.

Carnol, M, & Bazgir, M. 2013. Nutrient return to the forest floor through litter and throughfall under 7 forest species after conversion from Norway spruce. *Forest Ecology and Management* **309**, 66-75.

Carfrae, J.A., Skene, K.R., Sheppard, L.J., Ingleby, K., & Crossley, A. 2006. Effects of nitrogen with and without acidified sulphur on an ectomycorrhizal community in Sitka spruce (*Picea sitchensis* Bong. Carr) forest. *Environmental Pollution* **141**, 131-138.

Case, S.D.C., McNamara, N.P., Reay, D.S., & Whitaker, J. 2012. The effect of biochar addition on N₂O and CO₂ emissions from a sandy loam soil—the role of soil aeration. *Soil Biology and Biochemistry* **51**, 125–134.

Castro, M.S., Melillo, J.M., Steudler, P.A. & Chapman, J.W. 1994a. Soil moisture as a predictor of methane uptake by temperate forest soils. *Canadian Journal of Forest Research* **24**, 1805–1810.

Castro, M.S., Peterjohn, W.T., Melillo, J.M., Steudler, P.A., Gholz, H.L., & Lewis, D. 1994b. Effects of nitrogen fertilization on the fluxes of N₂O, CH₄, and CO₂ from soils in a Florida slash pine plantation. *Canadian Journal of Forest Research* **24**, 9–13.

Castro, M.S., Steudler, P.A., Melillo, J.M., Aber, J.D., & Bowden, R.D. 1995. Factors controlling atmospheric methane consumption by temperate forest soils. *Global Biogeochemical Cycles* **9**, 1-10.

Chan, A.S.K., & Parkin, T.B. 2001. Methane oxidation and production activity in soils from natural and agricultural ecosystems. *Journal of Environmental Quality* **30**, 1896–1903.

Chapuis-Lardy, L., Wrage, N., Metay, A., Chotte, J. L., & Bernoux, M. 2007. Soils, a sink for N₂O? A review. *Global Change Biology* **13**, 1-17.

Chen, D., Mi, J., Chu, P., Cheng, J., Zhang, L., Pan, Q., Xie, Y., & Bai, Y. 2015. Regional-scale patterns of soil microbes and nematodes across grasslands on the Mongolian plateau: relationships with climate, soil, and plants. *Ecography* **38**, 622-631.

Chen, H., Mothapo, N.V., & Shi, W. The significant contribution of fungi to soil N₂O production across diverse ecosystems. *Applied Soil Ecology* **73**, 70-77.

Chivers, M.R., Turetsky, M.R., Waddington, J.M., Harden, J.W., & McGuire, A.D. 2009. Effects of Experimental Water Table and Temperature Manipulations on Ecosystem CO₂ Fluxes in an Alaskan Rich Fen. *Ecosystems* **12**, 1329-1342.

Christiansen, J.R., & Gundersen, P. 2011. Stand age and tree species affect N₂O and CH₄ exchange from afforested soils. *Biogeosciences* **8**, 2535-2546.

Chum, H., Faaij, A., & Moreira, J. 2012. Bioenergy. p. 209–331. *In* Mitigation Edenhofer, O., Pichs-Madruga, R., Sokana, Y., Seyboth, K., Matschoss, P., Kadner, S., Zwickel, T., Eickemeier, P., Hansen, G., Schlömer, S., von Stechow, C. (eds.), IPCC Special Report on Renewable Energy Sources and Climate Change. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge.

Conrad, R. 1996. Soil microorganisms as controllers of atmospheric trace gases (H₂, CO, CH₄, OCS, N₂O, and NO). *Microbiological reviews* **60**, 609-640.

Contosta, A.R., Frey, S.D., & Cooper, A.B. 2011. Seasonal dynamics of soil respiration and N mineralization in chronically warmed and fertilized soils. *Ecosphere* **2**, art 36.

Cowie, A., Smith, P., & Johnson, D. 2006. Does soil carbon loss in biomass production systems negate the greenhouse benefits of bioenergy? *Mitigation and Adaptation Strategies for Global Change* **11**, 979–1002.

Crill, P.M., Martikainen, P.J., Nykanen, H. & Silvola, J. 1994. Temperature and N fertilization effects on methane oxidation in a drained peatland soil. *Soil Biology and Biochemistry* **26**, 1331–1339.

Dalal, R.C., & Allen, D.E. 2008. TURNER REVIEW No. 18. Greenhouse gas fluxes from natural ecosystems. *Australian Journal of Botany* **56**, 369–407.

Davidson, E.A. 1991. Fluxes of nitrous oxide and nitric oxide from terrestrial ecosytems. pp, 219-235. *In* J.E. Rogers & W.B. Whitman (eds.), Microbial Production and Consumption of Greenhouse Gases: Methane, Nitrogen Oxides, and Halomethanes. American Society for Microbiology, Washington, DC.

Davidson, E.A., Belk, E. & Boone, R.D. 1998. Soil water content and temperature as independent or confounded factors controlling soil respiration in a temperate mixed hardwood forest. *Global Change Biology* **4**, 217–227.

Davidson, E.A., Keller, M., Erickson, H.E., Verchot, L.V., & Veldkamp, E. 2000. Testing a conceptual model of soil emissions of nitrous and nitric oxides. *Bioscience* **50**, 667-680.

Davidson EA, Savage K, Bolstad P, Clark DA, Curtis PS, Ellsworth DS, Hanson PJ, Law BE, Luo Y, Pregitzer KS, Randolph JC and Zak D. 2002. Belowground carbon allocation in forests estimated from litterfall and IRGA-based soil respiration measurements. *Agricultural and Forest Meteorology* **113**, 39-51.

Dawson, J.J.C., & Smith, P. 2007. Carbon losses from soil and its consequences for land-use management. *Science of the Total Environment* **382**, 165-190.

De Boer, W., & Kowalchuk, G. 2001. Nitrification in acid soils: micro-organisms and mechanisms. *Soil Biology and Biochemistry* **33**, 853–866.

De Schrijver, A., Geudens, G., Augusto, L., Staelens, J., Mertens, J., Wuyts, K., Gielis, L., & Verheyen, K. 2007. The effect of forest type on throughfall deposition and seepage flux: a review. *Ecosystem Ecology* **153**, 663-674.

Degelmann, D.M., Borken, W., & Kolb, S. 2009. Methane oxidation kinetics differ in European beech and Norway spruce soils. *European Journal of Soil Science* **60**, 499-506.

DECC, 2011. UK renewable energy roadmap. Department of Energy & Climate Change, London.

DECC, 2012. UK Bioenergy Strategy. Department of Energy & Climate Change, London.

de Vries, W., van der Salm, C., Reinds, G.J., Erisman, J.W. 2007. Element fluxes through European forest ecosystems and their relationships with stand and site characteristics. *Environmental Pollution* **148**, 501-513.

Dinsmore, K.J., Skiba, U.M., Billet, M.F., & Rees, R.M. 2009. Effect of water table on greenhouse gas emissions from peatland mesocosms. *Plant Soil* **318**, 229-242.

Djomo S.N., & Ceulemans, R. 2012. A comparative analysis of the carbon intensity of biofuels caused by land use changes. *Global Change Biology Bioenergy* **4**, 392-407.

Dobbie, K.E., McTaggart, I.P., & Smith, K.A. 1999. Nitrous oxide emissions from intensive agricultural systems: variations between crops and seasons; key driving variables; and mean emission factors. *Journal of Geophysical Research* **104**, 26891-26899.

Don, A., Osborne, B., Hastings, A., Skiba, U., Carter, M.S., Drewer, J., Flessa, H., Freibauer, A., Hyvönen, N., Jones, M.B., Lanigan, G.J., Mander, Ü., Monti, A., Djomo, S.N., Valentine, J., Walter, K., Zegada-Lizarazu, W., & Zenone, T. 2012. Land-use change to bioenergy production in Europe: implications for the greenhouse gas balance and soil carbon. *GCB Bioenergy* **4**, 372– 391.

Dong, Y., Scharffe, D., Lobert, J.M., Crutzen, P.J. & Sanhueza, E. 1998. Fluxes of CO₂, CH₄ and N₂O from a temperate forest soil: the effects of leaves and humus layers. *Tellus* **50**, 243–252.

Dondini, M., Jones, E. O., Richards, M., Pogson, M., Rowe, R. L., Keith, A. M. & Smith, P. 2014. Evaluation of the ECOSSE model for simulating soil carbon under short rotation forestry energy crops in Britain. *GCB Bioenergy* **7**, 527-540.

Drenovsky, R.E., Steenworth, K.L., Jackson, L.E., & Scow, K.M. 2010. Land use and climatic factors structure regional patterns in soil microbial communities. *Global Ecology and Biogeography* **19**, 27-39.

Dutaur, L., & Verchot, L.V. 2007. A global inventory of the soil CH₄ sink. *Global Biogeochemical Cycles* **21**, 1-9.

Epron, D., LeDantec, V, Dufrene, E., & Granier, A. 2001. Seasonal dynamics of soil carbon dioxide efflux and simulated rhizosphere respiration in a beech forest. *Tree Physiology* **21**, 145-152.

Erisman, J.W. & Draaijers, G. 2003. Deposition to forests in Europe: most important factors influencing dry deposition and models used for generalisation. *Environmental Pollution* **124**, 379-388.

European Commission. 2009. Directive 2009/28/EC of the European Parliament and of the Commission L 140. *Official Journal of the European Union* **52**, 16-47.

Fang, C., & Moncrieff, J.B. 2001. The dependence of soil CO₂ efflux on temperature. *Soil Biology and Biochemistry* **33**, 155-165.

Fargione, J., Hill, J., Tilman, D., Polasky, S., & Hawthorne, P. 2008. Land Clearing and the Biofuel Carbon Debt. *Science* **29**, 1235-1238.

Field, C.B., Campbell, J.E., & Lobell, D.B. 2008. Biomass energy: the scale of the potential resource. *Trends in Ecology & Evolution* **23**, 65–72.

Fierer, N., Schimel, J.P., & Holden, P.A. 2003. Variations in microbial community composition through two soil depth profiles. *Soil Biology and Biochemistry* **35**, 167-176

Freeman, C., Liska, G., Ostle, N.J., Lock, M.A., Reynolds, B., & Hudson, J. 1996. Microbial activity and enzymic decomposition processes following peatland water table drawdown. *Plant and Soil* **180**, 121-127.

Frenzel, P., & Karofeld, E., 2000. CH₄ emission from a hollow-ridge complex in a raised bog: The role of CH₄ production and oxidation. *Biogeochemistry* **51**, 91-112.

Frolking, S., Talbot. J, Jones. M, Treat, C. C., Kauffman, J.B., Tuittila, E.S., & Roulet, N.T. 2011. Peatlands in the Earth's 21st century climate system, *Environmental Reviews* **19**,371–396.

Frostegård, A. & Bååth, E. 1996. The use of phospholipids fatty acid analysis to estimate bacterial and fungal biomass in soil. *Biology and Fertility of Soils* **22**, 59-65.

Gabriel, C., & Kellman, L. 2014. Investigating the role of moisture as an environmental constraint in the decomposition of shallow and deep mineral soil organic matter of a temperate coniferous soil. *Soil Biology and Biochemistry* **68**, 373-384.

Gallo, M., Amonette, R., Lauber, C., Sinsabaugh, R.L., & Zak, D.R. 2004. Microbial community structure and oxidative enzyme activity in nitrogen-amended north temperate forest soils. *Microbial Ecology* **48**, 218-229.

Genney, D.R., Anderson, I.C., & Alexander, I.J. 2006. Fine-scale distribution of pine ectomycorrhizas and their extrametrical mycelium. *New Phytologist* **170**, 83-92.

Germida, J., & Siciliano, S. 2001. Taxonomic diversity of bacteria associated with the roots of modern, recent and ancient wheat cultivars. *Biology and fertility of soils* **33**, 410-415.

Gillam, K.M., Zebarth, B.J., & Burton, D.L. 2008. Nitrous oxide emissions from denitrification and the partitioning of gaseous losses as affected by nitrate and carbon addition and soil aeration. *Canadian Journal of Soil Science* **88**, 133–143.

Gleixner, G., Kramer, C., Hahn, V., & Sachse, D. 2005. The effect of biodiversity on carbon storage in soils. p, 165-183. *In* Scherer-Lorenzen, M., Körner, C., Schulze, E.D. (eds), Forest Diversity and Function – Temperate and Boreal Systems. Springer, Berlin, Heidelberg.

Gomez-Casanovas, N., Matamala, R., Cook, D.R., & Gonzalez-Meler, M.A. 2012. Net ecosystem exchange modifies the relationship between the autotrophic and heterotrophic components of soil respiration with abiotic factors in prairie grasslands. *Global Change Biology* **18**, 2532–2545.

Gomez, L.D., Steele-King, C.G., & McQueen-Mason, S.J. 2008. Sustainable liquid biofuels from biomass: the writing's on the walls. *New Phytologist* **178**, 473-485.

González-García, S., Berg, S., Moreira, M.T., & Gumersindo, F. 2009. Evaluation of forest operations in Spanish eucalypt plantations under a life cycle assessment perspective. *Scandinavian Journal of Forest Research* **24**, 160-172.

Grigal, D., & Berguson, W.E. 1998. Soil carbon changes associated with short-rotation systems. *Biomass and Bioenergy* **14**, 371-377.

Gundersen, P., Christiansen, J.R., Alberti, G., Brüggemann, N., Castaldi, S., Gasche, R., Kitzler, B., Klemedtsson, L., Lobo-do-Vale, R., Moldan, F., Rütting, T., Schleppi, P., Weslien, P., & Zechmeister-Boltenstern, S. 2012. The response of methane and nitrous oxide fluxes to forest change in Europe. *Biogeosciences* **9**, 3999–4012.

Guo, L. B., & Gifford, R. M. 2002. Soil carbon stocks and land use change: a meta-analysis. *Global Change Biology* **8**, 345-360.

Haberl, H., Kastner, T., Schaffartzik, A., Ludwiczek, N., & Erb, K.H. 2012. Global effects of national biomass production and consumption: Austria's embodied HANPP related to agricultural biomass in the year 2000. *Ecological Economics* **84**, 66-73.

Hackl, E., Pfeffer, M., Donal, C., Bachmann, G., & Zechmeister-Boltenstern, S. 2005. Composition of the microbial communities in the mineral soil under different types of natural forest. *Soil Biology and Biochemistry* **37**, 661-666.

Hanson, R.S., & Hanson, T.E. 1996. Methanotrophic bacteria. *Microbiological Reviews* **60**, 439-471.

Hansson, K., Olsson, B.A., Olsson, M., Johansson, & U.B. Kleja. 2011. Differences in soil properties in adjacent stands of Scots pine, Norway spruce and silver birch in SW Sweden. *Forest Ecology and Management* **262**, 522-530.

Hardcastle, P.D., Calder, I., Dingwall, I., Garrett, W., McChesney, I., Mathews, J., & Saville, P. 2006. A review of the impacts of short rotation forestry. Final Report on SRF by LTS International.

Harris, Z.M., Spake, R., & Taylor, G. 2015. Land use change to bioenergy: A meta-analysis of soil carbon and GHG emissions. *Biomass and Bioenergy* Early view online doi:10.1016/j.biombioe.2015.05.008

Hartley I.P., & Ineson, P. 2008. Substrate quality and the temperature sensitivity of soil organic matter decomposition. *Soil Biology and Biochemistry* **40**, 1567–1574.

Hastings, A., Clifton-Brown, J., Wattenbach, M., Mitchell, C.P., & Smith, P. 2009. The development of MISCANFOR, a new Miscanthus crop growth model: towards more robust yield predictions under different climatic and soil conditions. *Global Change Biology Bioenergy* **1**, 154-170.

Heaton, E.A., Dohleman, F.G., & Long, S.P. 2008. Meeting US biofuel goals with less land: the potential of Miscanthus. *Global Change Biology* **14**, 2000-2014.

Hill, J. 2007. Environmental costs and benefits of transportation biofuel production from foodand lignocellulose-based energy crops. A review. *Agronomy for Sustainable Development* **27**, 1-12.

Hillier, J., Whittaker, C., Dailey, G. 2009. Greenhouse gas emissions from four bioenergy crops in England and Wales: Integrating spatial estimates of yield and soil carbon balance in life cycle analyses. *Global Change Biology Bioenergy* **1**, 267-281.

Hobbie, S.E., Reich, P.B., Oleksyn, J., Ogdahl, M., Zytkowiak, R., Hale, H., & Karolewski, P. 2006. Tree species effects on decomposition and forest floor dynamics in a common garden. *Ecology* **87**, 2288-2297.

Hodge, A., Robinson, D., & Fitter, A. 2000. Are microorganisms more effective than plants at competing for nitrogen? *Trends in Plant Science* **5**, 304-308.

Hoffmann, D., & Weih, M. 2005. Limitations and improvement of the potential utilisation of woody biomass for energy derived from short rotation woody crops in Sweden and Germany. *Biomass and Bioenergy* **28**, 267–279.

Högberg, P., Nordgren, A., Buchmann, N., Taylor, A.F.S, Ekblad, A., Högberg, M.N., Nyberg, G., Ottosson-Löfvenius, M., & Read, D.J. 2001. Large-scale forest girdling shows that current photosynthesis drives soil respiration. *Nature* **411**, 789-792.

Hofstra, N., & Bouwman, A. 2005. Denitrification in agricultural soils: summarizing published data and estimating global annual rates. *Nutrient Cycling in Agroecosystems* **72**, 267–278.

Holland, E.A., Robertson, G.P., Greenberg, J., Groffman, P.M., Boone, R.D., & Gosz, J.R. 1999. Soil CO2, N2O and CH4 exchange. p. 185 – 201. *In* Robertson, G.P., Coleman, D.C., Bledsoe, C.S., Sollins, P. (eds.), Standard Soil Methods for Long-Term Ecological Research. Oxford University Press, New York.

Hossain, M., Okubo, A., & Sugiyama, S.I. 2010. Effects of Grassland Species on Decomposition of Litter and Soil Microbial Communities. *Ecological Research* 255-261.

Hothorn, T., Bretz, F., & Westfall, P. 2008. Simultaneous Inference in General Parametric Models. *Biometrical Journal* **50**, 346-363.

Houghton, R.A. 2003. Revised estimates of the annual net flux of carbon to the atmosphere from changes in land use and land management 1850-2000. *Tellus B* **55**, 378-390.

Hudgens, D.E., & Yavitt, J.B. 1997. Land-use effects on soil methane and carbon dioxide fluxes in forests near Ithaca, New York. *Ecoscience* **4**, 214-222.

Hughes, S., Dowrick, D.J., Freeman, C., Hudson, J.A., & Reynolds, B. 1999. Methane emissions from a gully mire in mid-Wales, UK under consecutive summer water table drawdown. *Environmental Science & Technology* **33**, 362-365.

Hütsch, B.W. 2001. Methane oxidation in non-flooded soils as affected by crop production — invited paper. *European Journal of Agronomy* **14**, 237-260.

Huttunen, J.T., Nykaänen, H., Martikainen, P.J., & Nieminen, M. 2003. Fluxes of nitrous oxide and methane from drained peatlands following forest clear-felling in Southern Finland. *Plant and Soil* **255**, 457–462.

IEA. 2009. Bioenergy: A sustainable and reliable energy source. Main Report. International Energy Agency, Paris, France.

IEA. 2011, Renewables Information 2011. OECD/ IEA, Paris, France.

IPCC. 2007. Technical Summary. In: *Climate Change* 2007: *The Physical Science Basis. Contribution of Working Group I to the Fourth Assessment Report of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change* [Solomon, S., D. Qin, M. Manning, Z. Chen, M. Marquis, K.B. Averyt, M. Tignor and H.L. Miller (eds.)]. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, United Kingdom and New York, NY, USA.

IPCC. 2013. Summary for Policymakers. In: *Climate Change 2013: The Physical Science Basis. Contribution of Working Group I to the Fifth Assessment Report of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change* [Stocker, T.F., D. Qin, G.-K. Plattner, M. Tignor, S.K. Allen, J. Boschung, A. Nauels, Y. Xia, V. Bex and P.M. Midgley (eds.)]. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, United Kingdom and New York, NY, USA.
IPCC, 2014. Summary for Policymakers. In: *Climate Change 2014: Impacts, Adaptation, and Vulnerability. Part A: Global and Sectoral Aspects. Contribution of Working Group II to the Fifth Assessment Report of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change* [Field, C.B., V.R. Barros, D.J. Dokken, K.J. Mach, M.D. Mastrandrea, T.E. Bilir, M. Chatterjee, K.L. Ebi, Y.O. Estrada, R.C. Genova, B. Girma, E.S. Kissel, A.N. Levy, S. MacCracken, P.R. Mastrandrea, and L.L. White (eds.)]. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, United Kingdom and New York, NY, USA, pp. 1-32.

Jackson, L.E., Calderon, F.J., Steenworth, K.L., Scow, K.M., & Rolston, D.E. 2003. Responses of soil microbial processes and community structure to tillage events and implications for soil quality. *Geoderma* **114**, 305-317.

Jang, I., Lee, S., Hong, J.H., & Kang, H., 2006. Methane oxidation rates in forest soils and their controlling variables: a review and a case study in Korea. *Ecology Research* **21**, 849–854.

Jangid, K., Williams, M.A., Franzluebbers, A.J., Schmidt, T.M., Coleman, D.C., & Whitman, W.B. 2011. Land-use history has a stronger impact on soil microbial community composition than aboveground vegetation and soil properties. *Soil Biology & Biochemistry* **43**, 2184-2193.

Janssens, I.A., Dieleman, W., Luyssaert, S., Subke, J.A., Reichstein, R., Ceulmans, P., Ciais, P., Dolman, A.J., Grace, J.,m Matteucci, G., Papale, D., Piao, S.L., Schulze, E.D., Tang, J., & Law, B.E. 2010. Reduction of forest respiration in response to nitrogen deposition. *Nature Geoscience* **3**, 315-322.

Jobbagy, E.G., & Jackson, R.B. 2000. The vertical distribution of soil organic carbon and its relation to climate and vegetation. *Ecological Applications* **10**, 423-436.

Johnson, D.W. 1991. Nitrogen Retention in Forest Soils. *Journal of Environmental Quality* **21**, 1-12.

Johnson, D.W., & Turner, J. 2014. Nitrogen budgets of forest ecosystems: A review. *Forest Ecology and Management* **318**, 370-379.

Jungkunst, H.F., Fiedler, S., & Stahr, K. 2004. N₂O emissions of a mature Norway spruce (*Picea abies*) stand in the Black Forest (southwest Germany) as differentiated by the soil pattern. *Journal of Geophysical Research*: Atmospheres 109, 1984-2012.

Jungkunst, H.F., Flessa, H., Scherber, C., & Fiedler, S. Groundwater level controls CO₂, N₂O and CH₄ fluxes of three different hydromorphic soil types of a temperate forest ecosystem. *Soil Biology and Biochemistry* **40**, 2047-2054.

Khalil, K., Mary, B., & Renault, P. 2004. Nitrous oxide production by nitrification and denitrification in soil aggregates as affected by O2 concentration. *Soil Biology and Biochemistry* **36**, 687–699.

Kampichler, C., Kandeler, E., Bardgett, R.D., Jones, T.H., & Thomson, L.J. 1998. Impact of elevated CO₂ concentration on soil microbial biomass and activity in a complex, weedy, field model ecosystem. *Global Change Biology* **4**, 335–346.

Kant, R., Ghosh, C., Singh, L., & Tripathi, N. 2011. Effect of Bacterial and Fungal Abundance in Soil on the Emission of Carbon Dioxide from Soil in Semi-arid Climate in India. *In* Survival and Sustainability (pp. 151-161). Springer Berlin Heidelberg.

Keeney, D.R., Fillery, I.R. & Marx, G.P. 1979. Effect of temperature on the gaseous nitrogen products of denitrification in a silt loam soil. *Soil Science Society of America Journal* **43**, 1124-1128.

Keith, A.M., Rowe, R.L., Parmar, K., Perks, M.P., Mackie, E., Dondini, M., & McNamara, N.P. 2015. Implications of land-use change to Short-rotation Forestry in Great Britain for soil and biomass carbon. *Global Change Biology Bioenergy* **7**, 541-552.

Kern, J., Hellebrand, H.J., Gommel, M., Ammon, C., & Berg, W. 2012. Effects of climatic factors and soil management on the methane flux in soils from annual and perennial energy crops. *Biology and Fertility of Soils* **48**, 1-8. Kesik, M., Ambus, P., Baritz, R., Brüggemann, N., Butterbach-Bahl, K., Damm, M., Duryzer, J., Horváth, L., Kiese, R., Kitzler, B., Leip, A., Li, C., Pihlatie, M., Pilegaard, K., Seufert, G., Simpson, D., Skiba, U., Smiatek, G., Vesala, T., & Zechmeister-Boltenstern, S. 2005. Inventories of N₂O and NO emissions from European forest soils. *Biogeoscience* **2**, 353–375.

Kim, Y.S., Yi, M.J., Lee, Y.Y., Son, Y., & Koike, T. 2012. Characteristics of Soil CO₂ Efflux in Even-aged Alder Compared to Korean Pine Plantations in Central Korea. *Journal of Forest Science* **28**, 232-241.

Kirschbaum, M.U.F. 2006. The temperature dependence of organic-matter decomposition still a topic of debate. *Soil Biology and Biochemistry* **38**, 2510-2518.

Klopatek, J.M. 2002. Belowground carbon pools and processes in different age stands of Douglas-fir. *Tree Physiology* **22**, 197-204.

Koehler, B., Corre, M.D., Steger, K., Well, Reinhard, W., Zehe, E., Sueta, J.P., & Veldkamp, E. 2012. An in-depth look into a tropical lowland forest soil: nitrogen-addition effects on the contents of N₂O, CO₂ and CH₄ and N₂O isotopic signatures down to 2-m depth. *Biogeochemistry* **111**, 695-713.

Koehler, B., Corre, M.D., Veldkamp, E., Sueta, J.P. 2009. Chronic nitrogen addition causes a reduction in soil carbon dioxide efflux during the high stem-growth period in a tropical montane forest but no response from a tropical lowland forest on a decadal time scale. *Biogeosciences* **6**,2973–2983.

Kowalchuk, G.A., Buma, D.S., de Boer, W., Klinkhamer, P.G.L., & van Veen, J.A. 2002. Effects of above-ground plant species composition and diversity on the diversity of soil-borne microorganisms. *Antonie van Leeuwenhoek* **81**, 509–520.

Krause, K., Cherubini, P., Bugmann, H., & Schleppi, P. 2012. Growth enhancement of *Picea abies* trees under long-term low-dose N addition is due to morphological more than physiological changes. *Tree Physiology* **32**, 1471-1481.

Kuzyakov, Y. 2006. Sources of CO₂ efflux from soil and review of partitioning methods. *Soil Biology and Biochemistry* **38**, 425-448.

Ladegaard-Pedersen, P., Elberling, B., & Vesterdal, L. 2005. Soil carbon stocks, mineralization rates, and CO₂ effluxes under 10 tree species on contrasting soil types. *Canadian Journal of Forest Research* **35**, 1277-1284.

Laganière, J.L.J., Paré, D.P.D., & Bradley, R.L.B.R. 2010. How does a tree species influence litter decomposition? Separating the relative contribution of litter quality, litter mixing, and forest floor conditions. *Canadian Journal of Forest Research* **40**, 465-475.

Lal, R. 2004. Soil carbon sequestration to mitigate climate change. Geoderma 123, 122.

Leslie, A.D., Mencuccini, M. & Perks, M. 2012. The potential for *Eucalyptus* as a wood fuel in the UK. *Applied Energy* **89**, 176–182.

Li, J., Ziegler, S., Lane, C.S., & Billings, S.A. 2012. Warming-enhanced preferential microbial mineralization of humified boreal forest soil organic matter: Interpretation of soil profiles along a climate transect using laboratory incubations. *Journal of Geophysical Research* **117**,

Liu, L.L., & Greaver, T.L. 2009. A review of nitrogen enrichment effects on three biogenic GHGs: the CO₂ sink may be largely offset by stimulated N₂O and CH₄ emissions. *Ecology Letters* **12**, 1103-1117.

Livingston, G.P., & Hutchinson, G.L. 1995. Enclosure-based measurement of trace gas exchange: Applications and sources of error. p. 14–51. *In* Matson, P.A., Harriss, R.C. (eds.), Biogenic trace gases: measuring emissions from soil and water. Methods in Ecology. Blackwell Science, Oxford, UK.

Lovett, A., Sünnenberg, G., & Dockerty, T. 2014. The availability of land for perennial energy crops in Great Britain. *Global Change Biology Bioenergy* **6**, 99-107.

Luo, Y., & Zhou, X. 2006. Soil respiration and the environment. Elsevier, Oxford, UK.

MacDonald, J.A., Skiba, U., Sheppard, L.J., Hargreaves, K.J., Smith, K.A., & Fowler, D. 1996. Soil environmental variables affecting the flux of methane from a range of forest, moorland and agricultural soils. *Biochemistry* **34**, 113-132. Maeda, K., Spor, A., Edel-Hermann, V., Heraud, C., Breuil, M.C., Bizouard, F., Toyada, S., Yoshida, N., Steinberg, C., & Philippot, L. 2015. N₂O production, a widespread trait in fungi. *Scientific Reports* **5**, Art: 9697.

Marland, G., Boden, T.A., & Andres, R.J. 2008. Global, Regional, and National Fossil Fuel CO₂ Emissions. In Trends: A Compendium of Data on Global Change. C Dioxide Information Analysis Center, Oak Ridge National Laboratory, U.S. Department of Energy, Oak Ridge, Tenn., U.S.A.

Martikainen, P.J., Nykänen, H., Crill, P., & Silvola, J. 1993. Effect of a lowered water table on nitrous oxide fluxes from northern peatlands. *Nature* **366**, 51–53.

Mason, W.L., & Connolly, T. 2014. Mixtures with spruce species can be more productive than monocultures: evidence from the Gisburn experiment in Britain. *Forestry* **87**, 209-217.

McKay H. (ed.) (2011) Short Rotation Forestry: review of growth and environmental impacts. *Forest Research Monograph*, **2**, Forest Research, Surrey, 212.

McNamara, N. P., Black, H. I. J., Piearce, T. G., Reay, D. S., & Ineson, P. 2008. The influence of afforestation and tree species on soil methane fluxes from shallow organic soils at the UK Gisburn Forest Experiment. *Soil Use and Management* **24**, 1-7.

Meixner, F.X., & Yang, W.X. 2006. Biogenic emissions of nitric oxide and nitrous oxide from arid and semi-arid land. *In*: Dryland Ecohydrology (eds P. D'Odorico & A. Porporato), pp. 233-255. Springer, Dordrecht.

Menyailo, O.V., Hungate, B.A., & Zech, W. 2002. The effect of single tree species on soil microbial activities related to C and N cycling in the Siberian artificial afforestation experiment. *Plant and Soil* **242**, 183-196.

Michopoulos, P., Baloutsos, G., Economou, A., Samara, C., Thoaidis, N.S., Grigoratos T. 2007. Nutrient cycling and foliar status in an urban pine forest in Athens, Greece. *Plant Soil* **294**, 31-39. Micks, P., Aber, J.D., Boone, R.D., & Davidson, E.A. 2004. Short-term soil respiration and nitrogen immobilization response to nitrogen applications in control and nitrogen-enriched temperate forests. *Forest Ecology and Management* **196**, 57-70.

Milner, S., Holland, R.A., Lovett, A., Sunnenberg, G., Hastings, A., Smith, P., Wang, S., & Taylor, G. 2015. Potential impacts on ecosystem services of land use transitions to secondgeneration bioenergy crops in GB. *Global Change Biology Bioenergy* Early view on-line doi: 10.1111/gcbb.12263

Minkkinen, K., Korhonen, R., Savolainen, I., & Laine, J. 2002. Carbon balance and radiative forcing of Finnish peatlands 1900–2100 – the impact of forestry drainage. *Global Change Biology* **8**, 785-799.

Mo, J., Zhang, W., Zhu, W., Fang, Y., Li, D., & Zhao, P. 2007. Response of soil respiration to simulated N deposition in a disturbed and a rehabilitated tropical forest in southern China. *Plant Soil* **296**, 125-135.

Moffat, A.J., & Boswell, R.C. 1990. Effect of tree species and species mixtures on soil properties at Gisburn Forest, Yorkshire. *Soil Use and Management* **6**, 46–52.

Mojeremane, W., Rees, R.M., Menuccini, M. 2010. Effects of site preparation for afforestation on methane fluxes at Harwood Forest, NE England. *Biogeochemistry* **97**, 89-107.

Mokany, K., Raison, R.J. & Prokushkin, A.S. 2006. Critical analysis of root: shoot ratios in terrestrial biomes. *Global Change Biology* **12**, 84–96.

Moore, T.R. & Dalva, M. 1993. The influence of temperature and water table position on carbon dioxide and methane emissions from laboratory columns of peatland soils. *Journal of Soil Science* **44**, 651–664.

Morison, J., Matthews, R., Miller, G., Perks, M., Randle, T., Vanguelova, E., White, M. & Yamulki, S. 2012. Understanding the carbon and greenhouse gas balance of forests in Britain. *Forestry Commission Research Report*. Forestry Commission, Edinburgh.

Mosier, A., Kroeze, C., Nevison, C., Oenema, O., Seitzinger, S., & van Cleemput, O. 1998. Closing the global N₂O budget: nitrous oxide emissions through the agricultural nitrogen cycle *Nutrient Cycling in Agroecosystems* **52**, 225–248.

Moyano, F.E., Kutsch, W.L., & Rebmann, C. 2008. Soil respiration fluxes in relation to photosynthetic activity in broad-leaf and needle-leaf forest stands. *Agricultural and Forest Meteorology* **148**, 135-143.

Murty, D., Kirschbaum, M.U.F., Mcmurtie, R.E., & Mcgilvray, H. 2002. Does conversion of forest to agricultural land change soil carbon and nitrogen? a review of the literature. *Global Change Biology* **8**, 105-123.

Neue, H.U., & Sass, R.L. Trace gas emissions from rice fields. *In* Global Atmospheric– Biospheric Chemistry; Prinn, R.G., Ed.; Plenum Press: New York, 1994; 119–147.

Neumann-Cosel, L., Zimmerman, B., Hall, J.S., van Breugal, M., & Elsenbeer, H. 2011. Soil carbon dynamics under young tropical secondary forests on former pastures—A case study from Panama. *Forest Ecology and Management* **261**, 1625-1633.

Nisbet, T. 2005. Water use by trees. Forestry Commission Information Note 65, Forestry Commission, Edinburgh, UK.

Nungesser, M.K. 2003. Modelling microtopography in boreal peatlands: hummocks and hollows. *Ecological Modelling* **165**, 175-207.

Ohlinger, R. 1995. Methods in soil physics: maximum water holding capacity. p. 385–386. *In* Schinner, F., Ohlinger, R., Kandeler, E., Margesin, R. (eds.), Methods in soil biology. Springer, Berlin, Germany.

Osborne, B. & Jones, M.B. 2012. Impact of land use change for bioenergy production on greenhouse gas emissions. *Global Change Biology Bioenergy* **4**, 371.

Parmar, K., Keith, A.M., Rowe, R.L., Sohi, S.P., Moeckel, C., Pereira, M.G., & McNamara, N.P. 2015. Bioenergy driven land use change impacts on soil greenhouse gas regulation under Short Rotation Forestry. *Biomass and Bioenergy* **Early view online** doi:10.1016/j.biombioe.2015.05.028 Paterson, E., Gebbing, T., Abel, C., Sim, A. & Telfer, G. 2007. Rhizodeposition shapes rhizosphere microbial community structure in organic soil. *New Phytologist* **173**, 600–610.

Paterson, E., Midwood, A. J., & Millard, P. 2009. Through the eye of the needle: a review of isotope approaches to quantify microbial processes mediating soil carbon balance. *New Phytologist* **184**, 19-33.

Paul, K.L., Polglase, P.J., Nyakuengama, J.G., & Khana, P.K. 2002. Change in soil carbon following afforestation. *Forest Ecology and Management* **168**, 241-257.

Paustian, K., Schnürer, J. 1987. Fungal growth response to carbon and nitrogen limitation: a theoretical model. *Soil Biology and Biochemistry* **19**, 613-620.

Peichl, M., Arain, A.M., Moore, T.R., Brodeur, J.J., Khomik, M., Ullah, S., Restrepo-Coupé, McLaren, J., & Pejam, M.R. 2014. Carbon and greenhouse gas balances in an age sequence of temperate pine plantations. *Biogeosciences* **11**, 5399-5410.

Peterken, G.F. 2001. Ecological effects of introduced tree species in Britain. *Forest Ecology and Management* **141**, 31-42.

Pihlatie, M., Pumpanen, J., Rinne, J., Ilvesniemi, H., Simojoki, A., Hari, P., & Vesala, T. 2007. Gas concentration driven fluxes of nitrous oxide and carbon dioxide in boreal forest soil. *Tellus* **59**, 458-469.

Pilegaard, K., Skiba, U., Ambus, P., Beier, C., Brüggemann, N., Butterbach-Bahl, K., & Zechmeister-Boltenstern, S. 2006. Factors controlling regional differences in forest soil emission of nitrogen oxides. *Biogeosciences* **3**, 651-661.

Pinheiro, J., Bates, D., DebRoy, S., Sarkar, D., R Development Core Team 2013. nlme: Linear and Nonlinear Mixed Effects Models. R package version 3.1-113.

Poeplau, C., Don, A., Vesterdal, L., Leifeld, J., Van Wesemael, B., Schumacher, J., & Gensior, A. 2011. Temporal dynamics of soil organic carbon after land-use change in the temperate zone – carbon response functions as a model approach. *Global Change Biology* **17**, 2415–2427.

POST. 2012. Bioenergy 2012. Parliamentary Office of Science & Technology, HM Government, London, UK.

Post, W.M., & Kwon, K.C. 2000. Soil carbon sequestration and land-use change: processes and potential. *Global Change Biology* **6**, 317-328.

Potthoff, M., Steenwerth, K.L., Jackson, L.E., Drenovsky, R.E., Scow, K.M., & Joergensen, R.G. 2006. Soil microbial community composition as affected by restoration practices in California grassland. *Soil Biology and Biochemistry* **38**, 1851-1860.

Prescott, C.E. & Grayston, S.J. 2013. Tree species influence on microbial communities in litter and soil: Current knowledge and research needs. *Forest Ecology and Management* **309**, 19-27.

Prendergast-Miller, M.T., Baggs, E.M., & Johnson, D. 2011. Nitrous oxide production by the ectomycorrhizal fungi *Paxillus involutus* and *Tylospora fibrillose*. *FEMS Microbiology Letters* **316**, 31-35.

Priemé, A., Christensen, S., Dobbie, K.E., & Smith, K.A. 1997. Slow increase in rate of methane oxidation in soils with time following land use change from arable agriculture to woodland. *Soil Biology and Biochemistry* **29**, 1269-1273.

Priha, O., Grayston, S.J., Hiukka, R., Pennanen, T., & Smolander, A. 2001. Microbial community structure and characteristics of the organic matter in soils under *Pinus sylvestris*, *Picea abies* and *Betula pendula* at two forest sites. *Biology and Fertility of Soils* **33**, 17-24.

Proe, M.F., Griffiths, J.H., & Craig, J. 2002. Effects of spacing, species and coppicing on leaf area, light interception and photosynthesis in short rotation forestry. *Biomass and Bioenergy* **23**, 315-326.

R Development Core Team. 2011. R: A language and environment for statistical computing. R Foundation for Statistical Computing, Vienna, Austria. ISBN 3-900051-07-0, URL http://www.R-project.org/.

Raich, J. W., & Tufekciogul, A. 2000. Vegetation and soil respiration: correlations and controls. *Biogeochemistry* **48**, 71-90.

Raich, J.W., Potter, C.S. & Bhagawati, D. 2002. Interannual variability in global soil respiration. *Global Change Biology* **8**, 800-812.

Raich, J.W., & Potter, C.S. 1995. Global patterns of C dioxide emissions from soils. *Global Biogeochemical Cycles* **9**, 23–36.

Raich, J.W., & Schlesinger, W.H. 1992. The global carbon dioxide flux in soil respiration and its relationship to vegetation and climate. *Tellus* **44**, 81-99.

Rayment, M.B., & Jarvis, P.G. 2000. Temporal and spatial variation of soil CO₂ efflux in a Canadian boreal forest. *Soil Biology and Biochemistry* **32**, 35-45.

Reay, D.S., & Nedwell, D.B. 2004. Methane oxidation in temperate soils: effects of inorganic N. *Soil Biology and Biochemistry* **36**, 2059–2065.

Reay, D. S., Nedwell, D. B., McNamara, N., & Ineson, P. 2005. Effect of tree species on methane and ammonium oxidation capacity in forest soils. *Soil Biology and Biochemistry* **37**, 719-730.

Reay, D. S., Radajewski, S., Murrell, J.C., McNamara, N., & Nedwell, D.B. 2001. Effects of landuse on the activity and diversity of methane oxidizing bacteria in forest soils. *Soil Biology and Biochemistry* **33**, 1613–1623.

Reich, P.B., Oleksyn, J., Modrzynski, J., Mrozinski, P., Hobbie, S.E., Eissenstat, D.M., Chorover, J., Chadwick, O.A., Hale, C.M., & Tjoelker, M.G. 2005. Linking litter calcium, earthworms and soil properties: a common garden test with 14 tree species. *Ecology Letters* **8**, 811-818.

Reichstein, M., Subke, J., Angeli, A.C., & Tenhunen, J.D. 2005. Does the temperature sensitivity of decomposition of soil organic matter depend upon water content, soil horizon, or incubation time? *Global Change Biology* **11**, 1754-1767.

Rothe, A., Huber, C., Kreutzer, K., Weis, W. 2002. Deposition and soil leaching in stands of Norway spruce and European Beech: Results from the Höglwald research in comparison with other European case studies. *Plant and Soil* **240**, 33-45.

Rounsevell, M.D.A., & Reay, D.S. 2009. Land use and climate change in the UK. *Land Use Policy* **26**, 160-169.

Rousk, J., & Bååth, E. 2011. Growth of saprotrophic fungi and bacteria in soil. *Fems Microbiology Ecology* **78**, 17-30.

Rowe, R.L., Goulson, D., Doncaster, C.P., Clarke, D.J., Taylor, G., & Hanley, M.E. 2013. Evaluating ecosystem processes in willow short rotation coppice bioenergy plantation. *Global Change Biology Bioenergy* **5**, 257-266.

Rowe, R.L., Street, N.R., & Taylor, G. 2009. Identifying potential environmental impacts of large-scale deployment of dedicated bioenergy crops in the UK. *Renewable & Sustainable Energy Reviews* **13**, 260-279.

Rowlings, D.W., Grace, P.R., Kiese, R., & Weier, K.L. 2011. Environmental factors controlling temporal and spatial variability in the soil-atmosphere exchange of CO₂, CH₄ and N₂O from an Australian subtropical rainforest. *Global Change Biology* **18**, 726-738.

Ruser, R., Flessa, H., Russow, R., Schmidt, G., Buegger, F., & Munch, J.C. 2006. Emission of N₂O, N₂ and CO₂ from soil fertilized with nitrate: Effect of compaction, soil moisture and rewetting. *Soil Biology Biochemistry* **38**, 263–274.

Ryan, M.G., Lavigne, M.B., & Gower A.T. 1997. Annual C cost of autotrophic respiration in boreal forest ecosystems in relation to species and climate. *Journal of Geophysical Research* **102**, 28871-28883

Ryden, J.C., & Lund, L.J. 1980. Nitrous oxide evolution from irrigated land. *Journal of Environmental Quality* 28, 1637-1643.

Rytter, L. 1989. Distribution of roots and root nodules and biomass allocation in young intensively managed grey alder stands on a peat bog. *Plant and Soil* **119**, 71-79.

Saiz, G., Green, C., Butterbach-Bahl, K., Kiese, R., Avitabile, V., & Farrell, E.P. 2006. Seasonal and spatial variability of soil respiration in four Sitka spruce stands. *Plant and Soil* **287**, 161-176.

Schaufler, G., Kitzler, B., Schindlbacher, A., Skiba, U., Sutton, M. A., & Zechmeister-Boltenstern, S. 2010. Greenhouse gas emissions from European soils under different land use: effects of soil moisture and temperature. *European Journal of Soil Science* **61**, 683-696. Schimel, D.S. 2006. Terrestrial ecosystems and the carbon cycle. Global Change Biology 1, 77-91.

Schindlbacher, A., Zechmeister-Boltenstern, S., & Butterbach-Bahl, K. 2004. Effects of soil moisture and temperature on NO, NO₂, and N₂O emissions from European forest soils. *Journal of Geophysical Research Atmospheres* **109**, 1-12.

Schlesinger, W.H. 1990. Evidence from chronosequence studies for a low carbon storage potential of soils. *Nature* **348**, 232-234.

Schlesinger, W.H. 2013. An estimate of the global sink for nitrous oxide in soils. *Global Change Biology* **19**, 2929–2931.

Schulze, E.D., Ciais, P., Luyssaert, S., Schrumpf, M., Janssens, I.A., Thiruchittampalam, B., Theloke, J., Saurat, M., Bringezu, S., Lilieveld, J., Lohila, A., Rebmann, C., Jung, M., Bastviken, D., Abril, G., Grassi, G., Leip, A., Freibauer, A., Kutsch, W., Don, A., Nieschulze, J., Borner, A., Gash, J.H., & Dolman, A.J. 2010. The European carbon balance. Part 4: integration of carbon and other trace-gas fluxes. *Global Change Biology* **16**, 1451-1469.

Schulze, E.D., Luyssaert, S., Ciais, P., Freibauer, A., Janssens, I.A., et al. 2009. Importance of methane and nitrous oxide for Europe's terrestrial greenhouse-gas balance. *Nature Geoscience* **2**, 842-850.

Searchinger, T.D., Heimlich, R., Houghton, R.A., Dong, F., Elobeid, A., Fabiosa, J., Tokgoz, S., Hayes, D., & Yu, T. 2008. Use of U.S. Croplands for Biofuels Increases Greenhouse Gases through Emissions from Land-Use Change. *Science* **319**, 1238-1240.

Searchinger, T.D., Hamburg, S.P., & Melillo, J. 2009. Fixing a critical climate accounting error. *Science* **326**, 527-528.

Sitaula, B.K., Bakken, L.R., & Abrahamsen, G. 1995. CH₄ uptake by temperate forest soil – effect of N input and soil acidification. *Soil Biology and Biochemistry* **27**, 871-880.

Skiba, U., Drewer, J., Tang, Y.S., van Dijk, N., Helfter, C., Nemitz, E., Famulari, D., Cape, J.N., Jones, S.K., Twigg, M., Pihlatie, M., Vesala, T., Larsen, K.S., Carter, M.S., Ambus, P., Ibrom, A., Beier, C., Hensen, A., Frumau, A., Erisman, J.W., Brüggemann, N., Gasche, R., Butterbach-Bahl, K., Neftel, ,A., Spirig, C., Horvath, L., Freibauer, A., Cellier, P., Laville, P., Loubet, B., Magliulo, E., Bertolini,, T., Seufert, G., Andersson, M., Manca, G., Laurila, T., Aurela, M., Lohila, A., Zechmeister-Boltenstern, S., Kitzler, B., Schaufler, G., Siemens, J., Kindler, R., Flechard, C., & Sutton, M.A. 2009. Biosphere–atmosphere exchange of reactive nitrogen and greenhouse gases at the NitroEurope core flux measurement sites: Measurement strategy and first data sets. *Agriculture, Ecosystems and Environnment* **133**, 139–149.

Skiba, U., Hargreaves, K. J., Beverland, I. J., Oneill, D. H., Fowler, D., & Moncrieff, J. B. 1996. Measurement of field scale N₂O emission fluxes from a wheat crop using micrometeorological techniques. *Plant and Soil* **181**, 139-144.

Skiba, U., & Smith, K.A. 2000. The control of nitrous oxide emissions from agricultural and natural soils. *Chemosphere – Global Change Science* **2**, 379-386.

Smith, K.A., Ball, Y., Conen, F., Dobbie, K.E., Massheder, J., & Rey, A. 2003. Exchange of greenhouse gases between soil and atmosphere: interactions of soil physical factors and biological processes. *European Journal of Soil Science* **54**, 779-791.

Smith, K.A., & Conen, F. 2006. Impacts of land management on fluxes of trace greenhouse gases. *Soil Use and Management* **20**, 255-263.

Smith, K.A., Dobbie, K.E., Ball, B.C., Bakken, L.R., Sitaula, B.K., Hansen, S., Brumme, R., Borken, W., Christensen, S., Prieme', A., Fowler, D., MacDonald, J.A., Skiba, U., Klemedtsson, L., Kasimir-Klemedtsson, A., Degorska, A. & Orlanski, P. 2000. Oxidation of atmospheric methane in northern European soils, comparison with other ecosystems, and uncertainties in the global terrestrial sink. *Global Change Biology* **6**, 791–803.

Smith, P., Gregory, P.J., van Vuuren, D., Obersteiner, M., Havlik, P., Rounsevell, M., Woods, J., Stehfest, E., & Bellarby, J. 2010. Review: Competition for land. *Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society B* **365**, 2941-2957.

Smith, P., Haberl, H., Popp, A., Erb, K.-h., Lauk, C., Harper, R., Tubiello, F. N., de Siqueira Pinto, A., Jafari, M., Sohi, S., Masera, O., Böttcher, H., Berndes, G., Bustamante, M., Ahammad, H., Clark, H., Dong, H., Elsiddig, E. A., Mbow, C., Ravindranath, N. H., Rice, C. W., Robledo Abad, C., Romanovskaya, A., Sperling, F., Herrero, M., House, J. I., & Rose, S. 2013. How much land-based greenhouse gas mitigation can be achieved without compromising food security and environmental goals? *Global Change Biology* **19**, 2285–2302.

Spurgeon, D.J., Keith, A.M., Schmidt, O., Lammertsma, D.R., & Faber, J.H. 2013. Land-use and land-management change: relationships with earthworm and fungi communities and soil structural properties. *BMC Ecology* **13**, 46.

Steudler, P.A., Bowden, R.D., Melillo, J.M., & Aber, J.D. 1989. Influence of nitrogen fertilization on methane uptake in temperate forest soils. *Nature* **341**, 314-316.

Strange, C.F., Spott, O., Arriaga, H., Menéndez, S., Estavillo, J.M., & Merino, P. 2013. Use of the inverse approach to identify the sources of NO and N2O release from Spanish forest soils under oxic and hypoxic conditions. *Soil Biology & Biochemistry* **57**, 451-458.

Strickland, M.S., Callaham, M.A., Davies, C.A., Lauber, C.L., Ramirez, K., Richter, D.D., Fierer, N., & Bradford M.A. 2010. Rates of in situ C mineralization in relation to land-use, microbial community and edaphic characteristics. *Soil Biology and Biochemistry* **42**, 260–269.

Subke, J. A., Inglima, I., & Francesca Cotrufo, M. 2006. Trends and methodological impacts in soil CO₂ efflux partitioning: a metaanalytical review. *Global Change Biology* **12**, 921-943.

Syakila, A., & Kroeze, C. 2011. The global nitrogen budget revisited. *Greenhouse Gas Measurement and Management* **1**, 17 – 26.

Tang, J., Baldocchi, D.D., & Xu, L. 2005. Tree photosynthesis modulates soil respiration on a diurnal time scale. *Global Change Biology* **11**, 1298–1304.

Ter-Mikaelian, M.T., Colombo, S.J., & Jiaxin, C. 2015. The burning question: Does forest bioenergy reduce carbon emissions? A review of common misconceptions about forest carbon accounting. *Journal of Forestry* **113**, 57-68.

Thomson, A.J., Giannopoulos, G., Pretty, J., Baggs, E.M., & Richardson, D.J. 2012. Biological sources and sinks of nitrous oxide and strategies to mitigate emissions. *Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society B* **367**, 1157-1168.

Thomson, B.C., Ostle, N.J., McNamara, N.P., Whiteley, A.S., & Griffiths, R.I. 2010. Effects of sieving, drying and rewetting upon soil bacterial community structure and respiration rates. *Journal of Microbiological Methods* **83**, 69-73.

Thornley, P., Gilbert, P., Shackley, S., & Hammond, J. 2015. Maximising the greenhouse gas reductions from biomass: The role of life cycle assessment. *Biomass and Bioenergy* **81**, 35-43.

Timilsina, G.R., Shrestha, A. 2011. How much hope should we have for biofuels? *Energy* **36**, 2055-2069.

Timmons, D. S., Buchholz, T., & Veeneman, C. H. 2015. Forest biomass energy: assessing atmospheric carbon impacts by discounting future carbon flows. *Global Change Biology Bioenergy* Early view on-line doi: 10.1111/gcbb.12276

Trum, F., Titeux, H., Ranger, J., & Delvaux, B. Influence of tree species on carbon and nitrogen transformation patterns in forest floor profiles. *Annals of Forest Science* **68**, 837-847.

Trumbore, S. 2006. Carbon respired by terrestrial ecosystems – recent progress and challenges. *Global Change Biology* **12**, 141-153.

Ullah, S., Frasier, R., King, L., Picotte-Anderson, N., & Moore, T.R. 2008. Potential fluxes of N₂O and CH₄ from soils of three forest types in Eastern Canada. *Soil Biology and Biochemistry* **40**, 986-994.

Vanhala, P., Fritze, H., Hämäläinen, K., Vanhala, P., Jungner, H., Oinonen, M., & Liski, J. 2011. Temperature sensitivity of soil carbon fractions in boreal forest soil. *Ecology* **91**, 370-376.

Vertessy, R.A., Benyon, R.G., O'Sullivan, S.K., & Gribben, P.R. 1995. Relationships between stem diameter, sapwood area, leaf area and transpiration in a young mountain ash forest. *Tree Physiology* **15**, 559-567.

Vesterdal, L., Elberling, B., Christiansen, J. R., Callesen, I., & Schmidt, I. K. 2012. Soil respiration and rates of soil carbon turnover differ among six common European tree species. *Forest Ecology and Management* **264**, 185-196.

Vesterdal, L., Schmidt, I.K., Calleson, I., Nilsson, L.K.O., & Gundersen, P. 2008. Carbon and nitrogen in forest floor and mineral soil under six common European tree species. *Forest Ecology and Management* **255**, 35-48.

Von Arnold, K., Nilsson, M., Hånell, Weslien, P., & Klemedtsson, L. 2005. Fluxes of CO₂, CH₄ and N₂O from drained organic soils in deciduous forests. *Soil Biology and Biochemistry* **37**, 1059-1071.

Waldrop, M.P., & Firestone, M.K., 2004. Microbial community utilization of recalcitrant and simple carbon compounds: impact of oak-woodland plant communities. *Oecologia* **138**, 275-284

Waldrop, M.P., & Firestone, M.K., 2006. Response of Microbial Community Composition and Function to Soil Climate Change. *Microbial Ecology* **52**, 716-724.

Wang, S., Hastings, A., Wang, S., Sunnenberg, G., Tallis, M. J., Casella, E., & Smith, P. 2014a. The potential for bioenergy crops to contribute to meeting GB heat and electricity demands. *Global Change Biology Bioenergy* **6**, 136-141.

Wang, F., Li, J., Wang, X., Zhang, W., Zou, B., Neher, D.A., & Li, Z. 2014b. Nitrogen and phosphorus addition impact soil N2O emission in a secondary tropical forest of South China. *Scientific Reports* **4**, 5615.

Wardle, D.A., Bardgett, R.D., Klironomos, J.N., Setälä H., van der Putten, W.H., & Wall, D.H. 2004. Ecological linkages between aboveground and belowground biota. *Science* **304**, 1629-1633.

Watson, R. T., Noble, I. R., Bolin, B., Ravindranath, N. H., Verardo, D. J., & Dokken, D. J. 2000. Land use, land-use change and forestry: a special report of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change. Cambridge University Press. Watson, F.G.R., Vertessy, R.A., & Grayson, R.B. 1999. Large-scale modelling of forest hydrological processes and their long-term effect on water yield. *Hydrological Processes* **13**, 689-700.

Wedderburn, M.E., & Carter, J. 1999. Litter decomposition by four functional tree types for use in silvopastoral systems. *Soil Biology and Biochemistry* **31**, 455–461.

Weslien, P., Klemedtsson, A.K., Borjesson, G., & Klemedtsson, L. 2009. Strong pH influence on N₂O and CH₄ fluxes from forested organic soils. *European Journal of Soil Science* **60**, 311-320.

Whitaker, J., Ludley, K.E., Rowe, R., Taylor, G., & Howard, D.C. 2010. Sources of variability in greenhouse gas and energy balances for biofuel production: a systematic review. *Global Change Biology Bioenergy* **2**, 99-112.

Whitaker, J., Ostle, N., Nottingham, A.T., Ccahuana, A., Salinas, N., Bardgett, R.D., Meir, P., & McNamara, N.P. 2014. Microbial community composition explains soil respiration responses to changing carbon inputs along an Andes-to-Amazon elevation gradient. *Journal of Ecology* **102**, 1058-1071.

White, D.C., Davis, W.M., Nickels, J.S., King, J.D., & Bobbie, R.J. 1979. Determination of the sedimentary microbial biomass by extractable lipid phosphate. *Oecologia* **40**, 51-62.

Wrage, N., Groenigen, J.W. van, Oenema, O., & Baggs, E.M. 2005. A novel dual-isotope labelling method for distinguishing between soil sources of N2O. *Rapid Communications in Mass Spectrometry* **19**, 3298–3306.

Wunderlich, S., Schulz, C., Grimmeisen, W., & Borken, W. 2012. Carbon fluxes in coniferous and deciduous forest soils. *Plant and soil* **357**, 355-368.

Yamulki, S., Anderson, R., Peace, A., & Morison, J.I.L. 2013. Soil CO₂ CH₄ and N₂O fluxes from afforested lowland raised peatbog in Scotland: implications for drainage and restoration. *Biogeosciences* **10**, 1051-1065.

Yavitt, J.B., & Williams, C.J. 2015. Linking tree species identity to anaerobic microbial activity in a forested wetland soil via leaf litter decomposition and leaf carbon fractions. *Plant and Soil* **390**, 293-305. Zak, D.R., Holmes, W.E., White, D.C., Peacock, A.D., & Tilman, D. 2003. Plant diversity, soil microbial communities, and ecostsytem function: are there any links? *Ecology* **84**, 2042-2050.

Zechmeister-Boltenstern, S., Hahn, M., Meger, S., & Jandl, R. 2002. Nitrous oxide emissions and nitrate leaching in relation to microbial biomass dynamics in a beech forest soil. *Soil Biology and Biochemistry* **34**, 823-832.

Zelles, L., Bai, Q.Y., Rackwitz, R., Chadwick, D. & Beese, F. 1995. Determination of phospholipid-and lipopolysaccharide-derived fatty acids as an estimate of microbial biomass and community structures in soils. *Biology and Fertility Soils* **19**, 115–123.

Zelles, L. 1997. Phospholipid fatty acid profiles in the selected members of soil microbial communities. *Chemosphere* **35**, 275-294.

Zelles, L. 1999. Fatty acid patterns of phospholipids and lipopolysaccharides in the characterisation of microbial communities in soil: a review. *Biology and Fertility of Soils* **29**,111-129.

Zenone, T., Zona, D, Gelfand, I., Gielen, B., Camino-Serrano, M., & Ceulemans, R. 2015. CO₂ uptake is offset by CH₄ and N₂O emissions in a poplar short-rotation coppice. *Global Change Biology Bioenergy* **Early view on-line** DOI: 10.1111/gcbb.12269

Zhang, W., Mo, J., Yu, G., Fang, Y., Li, D., Lu, X., & Wang, H. 2008. Emissions of nitrous oxide from three tropical forests in Southern China in response to simulated nitrogen deposition. *Plant and Soil* **306**, 221-236.

Zona, D., Janssens, I. A., Aubinet, M., Gioli, B., Vicca, S., Fichot, R., & Ceulemans, R. 2013. Fluxes of the greenhouse gases (CO₂, CH₄ and N₂O) above a short-rotation poplar plantation after conversion from agricultural land. *Agricultural and Forest Meteorology* **169**, 100-110.

Chapter 7. Appendix

A.1. Phospholipid Fatty Acid (PLFA) Extraction and Analysis

PLFAs were extracted as part of the total lipid extract of freeze-dried soils (ca. 2 g dry weight) using a modified Bligh-Dyer extraction (White et al., 1979). In brief, soils were placed in glass culture tubes and extracted with dichloromethane (DCM)/MeOH/citrate buffer (5:10:4 v/v/v; citrate buffer 0.15M adjusted to pH 4 using NaOH pellets). Soil/solvent solutions were placed in an ultrasonic bath (20 min), and then centrifuged (5 min, 1900 rpm). The supernatant was transferred to a second glass tube, and the soil extracted with fresh solvent (x 2). The organic and aqueous phases of the combined solvent extracts were broken with the addition of 2 ml citrate buffer and 2-ml DCM, the organic layer removed, and the aqueous layer washed with 3 x 2 ml DCM. Combined DCM extracts were blown down under N₂ (heating block, 40° C).

PLFAs were separated from other lipids using an aminopropyl solid phase extraction cartridge (Phenonenex). The column was conditioned with DCM/IP (2:1, 6-ml), and the total lipid extract added to the column dissolved in a small amount of the same solvent. Neutral lipids were eluted with 8-ml 2:1 DCM/Iso-propyl alcohol (IPA), followed by elution of the acidic lipids with 6-ml 2% glacial acetic acid in diethyl ether. Polar lipids, including PLFAs, were eluted using 8-ml MeOH. The polar lipid fraction was blown down under N₂ (heating block, 40° C).

Prior to saponification of the polar lipids, nonadecane in known concentration was added to all samples, to enable quantification of PLFAs. Samples were saponified with the addition of 2-ml 0.5M NaOH in MeOH, heated at 70° C for 90 min. Samples were acidified to pH 2 using 0.5M HCl, and lipids extracted with 3 x 2 ml DCM. Samples were reduced to dryness using N₂.

Fatty acids were methylated using boron trifluoride-methanol complex (14% w/v, 30 μ l, 70° C, 10 min) and the reaction quenched with water. The resultant fatty acid methyl esters (FAMEs) were extracted into hexane (3 x 0.5-ml) and the solvent

concentration adjusted as appropriate for analysis by gas chromatography (GC), gas chromatography-mass spectrometry (GC-MS) and gas chromatography-combustionisotope ratio mass spectrometry (GC-C-IRMS).

GC analysis was carried out on an Agilent 6890 GC fitted with a CP-Sil 5CB fused silica capillary column (60 m x 0.32 mm ID; 0.25 µm film thickness). Carrier gas was hydrogen, and the flow was set to a constant velocity of 40 cm sec⁻¹. The temperature was raised, following an isothermal hold at 50° C for 2 min, to 150° C at 20° C min⁻¹, then to 220° C at 3° C min⁻¹, followed by an increase to 340° C at 25° C min⁻¹ and a hold time of 5 min. Fatty acids were identified on an Agilent 6890 GC, fitted with an identical GC column, connected to an Agilent 5973 Mass Selective Detector. Representative fatty acid samples were also derivatised to produce fatty acid picolinyl esters following the method of Christie (1998); GC-MS analysis of these derivatives allows the determination of the positions of double bonds in the fatty acid chain.

GC-C-IRMS analysis of FAMEs was carried out on a Micromass Isoprime isotope ratio mass spectrometer connected to an Aglient 6890 GC via a combustion interface (630 mm x 0.3 mm i.d. containing a copper oxide/platinum catalyst, 850° C). Reference gas CO₂ of known δ 13C value was introduced at the start and end of each analytical run, and the performance of the IRMS checked with FAME standards of known δ 13C values

A.2. Cumulative rainfall lags and soil N_2O fluxes



Figure 7.1 Relationships between cumulative rainfall lags (1 day, 2 days and 3 days before sampling) and soil N₂O flux.

A.3. Soil CO₂ efflux data for habitat, microtopography and water table over time



Figure 7.2 Soil CO₂ fluxes for all habitats, microtopographies and water table treatments over 134 incubation period. Microtopographies; (F) Flat, (R) Ridge and (T) Trough (Furrow). (LO) Low water table treatment 27 cm below surface and (Hi) High water table treatment 3 cm below surface. Habitats; (AL) Common alder, (GR) Grassland control (note only topography in grassland is (F) Flat), (SP) Scots pine and (SS) Sitka spruce. Error bars represent standard error. n = 3.

A.4. Soil CH₄ fluxes data for habitat, microtopography and water table over time



Figure 7.3 Soil CH₄ fluxes for all habitats, microtopographies and water table treatments over the 134 day incubation period. Microtopographies; (F) Flat, (R) Ridge and (T) Trough (Furrow). (Lo) Low water table treatment 27 cm below surface and (Hi) High water table treatment 3 cm below surface. Habitats; (AL) Common alder, (GR) Grassland control (note only topography in grassland is (F) Flat), (SP) Scots pine and (SS) Sitka spruce. Error bars represent standard error. n = 3.

A.5. Soil N₂O fluxes data for habitat, microtopography and water table over time



Figure 7.5 Soil N₂O fluxes for all habitats, microtopographies and water table treatments over 134 incubation period. Microtopographies; (F) Flat, (R) Ridge and (T) Trough (Furrow). (LO) Low water table treatment 27 cm below surface and (Hi) High water table treatment 3 cm below surface. Habitats; (AL) Common alder, (GR) Grassland control (note only topography in grassland is (F) Flat), (SP) Scots pine and (SS) Sitka spruce. Error bars represent standard error. n = 3.